

# INSTITUTO POLITÉCNICO NACIONAL

CENTRO DE BIOTECNOLOGÍA GENÓMICA



# "EXPRESSION, PURIFICATION, PULL-DOWN ANALYSIS AND INSECT BIOASSAY OF IMMUNOSUPPRESSANT PROTEIN, CRV1 OF *COTESIA RUBECULA* (CRPDV) POLYDNAVIRUS"

# THESIS

TO OBTAIN THE DEGREE OF

**DOCTOR IN BIOTECHNOLOGY** 

BY

LIHUA WEI

SUPERVISOR OF THESIS DR. MARIO ALBERTO RODRÍGUEZ PÉREZ DR. LUIS GABRIEL BRIEBA DE CASTRO

REYNOSA, TAMAULIPAS, MÉXICO



# INSTITUTO POLITÉCNICO NACIONAL SECRETARÍA DE INVESTIGACIÓN Y POSGRADO

#### CARTA CESIÓN DE DERECHOS

En la Ciudad de <u>Reynosa, Tamps</u>, el día <u>9</u> del mes <u>Julio</u> del año <u>2015</u>, la que suscribe Lihua Wei alumna del Programa de Doctorado en Ciencias en Biotecnología con número de registro A110678 adscrita a Centro de Biotecnología Genómica manifiesta que es autor intelectual del presente trabajo de Tesis bajo la dirección de los Dr. Mario Alberto Rodríguez Pérez, Dr. Luis Gabriel Brieba de Castro y cede los derechos del trabajo titulado "Expression, purification, pull-down analysis and insect bioassay of immunosuppressant protein, CrV1 of Cotesia rubecula polydnavirus (CrPDV)." al Instituto Politécnico Nacional para su difusión, con fines académicos y de investigación.

Los usuarios de la información no deben reproducir el contenido textual, gráficas o datos del trabajo sin el permiso expreso de la autora y/o directores del trabajo. Este puede ser obtenido escribiendo a la siguiente dirección Blvd. del Maestro esq. con Elías Piña S/N Col. Narciso Mendoza, C.P. 88710 Cd. Reynosa, Tamaulipas, México Tels. 01-899 9243627, 9251656 . Si el permiso se otorga, el usuario deberá dar el agradecimiento correspondiente y citar la fuente del mismo.

Lihua Wei

1



# INSTITUTO POLITÉCNICO NACIONAL SECRETARÍA DE INVESTIGACIÓN Y POSGRADO

ACTA DE REVISIÓN DE TESIS

En la Ciudad de Reynosa, Tam	os. siendo las 1	1:00 ho	ras del dí	a	29	del r	nes de	a
Junio del 2015 se reunier	on los miembros de l	a Comisión	Revisora	de la T	esis,	desig	gnada	1
por el Colegio de Profesores de Estu	dios de Posgrado e l	nvestigación	de			CBC	3	
para examinar la tesis titulada:								
Expression, purification, pull-down an	alysis and insect bio	assay of imn	nunosupp	ressar	nt pro	tein,	CrV1	of
Cotesia rubecula polydnavirus (CrPD	V)							
Presentada por el alumno:								
Wei				Lih	nua			
Apellido paterno	Apellido mater	rno		Non	nbre(s	5)		
	С	on registro:	A 1	1	0	6	7	8
aspirante de:								
Doctorado en Ciencias en Biotecnolo	gía							
Después de intercambiar opiniones l virtud de que satisface los requisitos	os miembros de la C señalados por las dis	omisión ma posiciones i	nifestaror reglament	APR	<b>OBA</b> vigent	R LA	TESI	S, en
n oned we are the only which we consider the set of the	LA COMISIÓN RE	VISORA	-					
	Directores de t	esis			X			
	2		2	/	/			
		$ \subset $	5).	)		2.		
Dr. Mario Alberto Rodríguez	Pérez	Dr. Luis	Gabriel B	rieba	de Ca	astro		
			<	5	7			
Acollez	$\times$		1	taga	~			
Dr. Juan Manuel González F	rieto		Dr. Xianv	vu Gu	0			
PAR								
Dr. Raymundo Rosas Quij	ano /	DE EDU	CAC					
PRESIDE	NTE DEL COLEGIO Dr. Miguel Ángel Rej		SORES					
	1	NACIO CENTRO DE BIO GENOR	NAL TECNOLOGI AICA	5				

i

SIP-14-BIS

# Contents

List of Tables
List of FiguresIl
Acknowledgements
AbbreviationsVII
Abstract XIII
ResumenXV
1 Introduction 1
1.1 Polydnaviruses 1
1.1.1 The life cycle of polydnavirus 4
1.1.2 Polydnavirus genes that ineract with the host immune system
1.1.3 Cotesia rubecula polydnavirus gene 1 (CrV1)11
1.1.4 Polydnavirus evolution
1.2 Baculovirus biology 14
1.2.1 Theory of the baculovirus expression system
1.2.2 Production of recombinant baculoviruses
1.2.3 Baculovirus transfer vectors
1.2.4 Protein glycosylation in the baculovirus expression system

1.3 Insect cell culture	28
1.4 Protein purification	31
1.4.1 Protein affinity tags	31
1.4.2 His-tag	32
1.4.3 GST tag	34
1.4.4 MBP tag	35
1.4.5 Other tags	36
1.5 Protein-protein interactions	37
1.5.1 Yeast two-hybrid system	38
1.5.2 GST pull-down assay	41
1.5.3 Co-immunoprecipitation	43
1.5.4 Mass spectroscopy	44
1.5.5 Tandem affinity purification tag method	45
1.5.6 Far western blotting	48
1.6 Insect bioassay	48
2 Justification	52
3 Objectives	53
3.1 General objective	53
3.2 Specific objectives	53
4 Materials and methods	54

4.1 Construction of recombinant transfer vector with CrV1 gene	54
4.1.1 Competent cells preparation	54
4.1.2 Primers design	55
4.1.3 Amplification of CrV1 gene by polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	59
4.1.4 Agarose gel electrophoresis	59
4.1.5 DNA purification from agarose gel	60
4.1.6 Isolation of transfer plasmid	60
4.1.7 Digestion of CrV1 fragments and two transfer plasmids with restriction endonuc	leases
	60
4.1.8 Ligation reaction	61
4.1.9 Transformation	61
4.1.10 Colony PCR for quick screen for recombinant constructs	61
4.1.11 Confirmation of recombinant constructs by restriction endonucleases	62
4.1.12 Sequencing analysis	62
4.2 Generation and amplification of recombinant AcMNPV baculoviruses	63
4.2.1 Initiation of cell culture	63
4.2.2 Subculture of Sf9 cells	63
4.2.3 The storage of Sf9 cells	64
4.2.4 Co-transfection	64
4.2.5 Virus amplification	65

4.2.6 Determination of virus titer by End-point Dilution Assay (EPDA)	66
4.3 Transcription of CrV1 in the infected Sf9 cells	67
4.3.1 Infection of Sf9 cells with recombinant baculoviruses	67
4.3.2 RNA isolation from virus infected Sf9 cells	68
4.3.3 RNA extraction from infected Spodoptera exigua larvae	69
4.3.4 Elimination DNA from RNA sample	69
4.3.5 Reverse transcription for infected Sf9 cells	69
4.3.6 Reverse transcription for infected <i>Spodoptera exigua</i> larvae	70
4.3.7 PCR amplification	70
4.3.8 DNA extraction from pAcUW21-CrV1 polyhedra	70
4.4 Expression of CrV1 protein in the infected Sf9 cells	71
4.4.1 Infection of Sf9 cells with different MOI	71
4.4.2 SDS-PAGE	72
4.4.3 Staining SDS-PAGE gel by blue silver	73
4.5 Purification of CrV1 protein	73
4.5.1 Infection of Sf9 cells with pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 recombinant baculovirus	73
4.5.2 Lysis of infected Sf9 cells	74
4.5.3 Purification of recombinant GST-fusion CrV1 protein	74
4.5.4 Ammonium sulfate precipitation	75
4.6 GST pull-down assay	76

4.6.1 Preparation of insect lysates	76
4.6.2 GST pull-down	76
4.6.3 Western blot	77
4.7 Bioassy	
4.7.1 Insects rearing	78
4.7.2 Virus harvesting	79
4.7.3 Bioassays	79
4.7.4 Data analysis	79
5 Results	81
5.1 Construction of recombinant transfer vectors containing CrV1 gene	
5.1.1 Construction of recombinant transfer vector-pAcGHLT-B with gene CrV1	
(pAcGHLT-B-CrV1)	81
5.1.2 Construction of recombinant transfer vector-pAcUW21 with gene CrV1 (pAc	UW21-
CrV1)	
5.2 Generation of recombinant baculoviruses by co-transfection	85
5.3 Amplification of recombinant baculoviruses	87
5.4 Transcription of CrV1 in infected Sf9 cells	89
5.5 Transcription of CrV1 in infected Spodoptera exigua larvae	91
5.6 Expression of CrV1 protein in infected Sf9 cells	
5.7 Purification of recombinant GST-CrV1	

5.7.1 Optimization of purification conditions
5.8 GST pull-down assay
5.9 Bioassay 105
6 Discussion 109
6.1 The baculovirus expression system109
6.2 Purification of CrV1 protein111
6.3 GST-CrV1 pull-down assay114
6.4 Bioassay
7 Conclusion 122
Glossary
References
Appendix A171
Appendix B

## List of Tables

Table 1. The history of polydnavirus research
Table 2. Summary of polydnavirus genes that interact with the host immune system
Table 3. Other affinity tags for protein expression and purification
Table 4. Probit analysis results from dose-mortality assays of wild (AcMNPV) and recombinant
(pAcUW21-CrV1) baculovirus against Pieris rapae and Spodoptera exigua

# List of Figures

Figure 1. The life cycle of parasitoid wasp and PDVs	5
Figure 2. The genome organization of polydnavirus	6
Figure 3. Evolutionary relationships between bracoviruses, nudiviruses and baculoviruses 1	14
Figure 4. Baculovirus biology and theory of the expression system 1	8
Figure 5. Four methods to obtain recombinant baculoviruses	22
Figure 6. Recombinant protein glycosylation pathways in mammalian and insect cells	27
Figure 7. Yeast two-hybrid system	11
Figure 8. GST pull down assay 4	13
Figure 9. Schematic representation of TAP tag method	17
Figure 10. Maps of two transfer vectors-pAcGHLT-B and pAcUW21	56
Figure 11. Clone diagram of recombinant transfer vector pAcGHLT-B-CrV1	57
Figure 12. Clone diagram of recombinant transfer vector pAcUW21-CrV1	58
Figure 13. Illustration of virus amplification	55

Figure 14. CrV1 PCR products amplified from pBluescript SK vector
Figure 15. Recombinant transfer vector pAcGHLT-B-CrV1
Figure 16. Sequencing analysis of recombinant transfer vector pAcGHLT-B-CrV1
Figure 17. Recombinant transfer vector pAcUW21-CrV1
Figure 18. Sequencing analysis of recombinant transfer vector pAcUW21-CrV1
Figure 19. Co-transfection results
Figure 20. Amplification of recombinant baculoviruses
Figure 21. One example of virus titer determination
Figure 22. Extraction of RNA from infected Sf9 cells
Figure 23. RT-PCR results of pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 baculovirus
Figure 24. RT-PCR results of pAcUW21-CrV1 baculovirus
Figure 25. Extraction of RNA from infected <i>Spodoptera exigua</i> larvae
Figure 26. RT-PCR analysis for confirming the transcription of CrV1 gene of infected
Spodoptera exigua larvae
Figure 27. Whole cellular protein of a range of MOI infected Sf9 cells

Figure 28. Soluble cellular protein of a range of MOI infected Sf9 cells
Figure 29. Purification of the recombinant GST-CrV1 protein
Figure 30. Ammonium sulfate precipitation
Figure 31. Purification results after optimizing conditions
Figure 32. Western blot results of GST and GST-CrV1 protein with GST antibody
Figure 33. GST pull-down assay from <i>Pieris rapae</i> larvae lysate
Figure 34. Determination of the fusion protein disappearance phase 100
Figure 35. Pull-down assay of a serial of incubation time with <i>Pieris rapae</i> larvae lysate 101
Figure 36. Western blot results of pull-down assay of different incubation time 102
Figure 37. Pull-down assay with RNase A in insect lysis buffer 103
Figure 38. Pull-down assay of a serial of incubation time with <i>Spodoptera exigua</i> larvae lysate.
Figure 39. Western blot results of pull-down assay of different incubation time with Spodoptera
exigua larvae lysate
Figure 40. The relationship between recombinant or wild-type baculoviruses dose with <i>Pieris</i>
<i>rapae</i> and <i>Spodoptera exigua</i> mortality

#### Acknowledgements

First I would like to say thanks to my supervisor, Dr. Mario Alberto Rodríguez Pérez, who supported me throughout my thesis and allowed me to work in my own way.

Besides my supervisor, I would like to say thank you to the professors of my PhD committee: Dr Xianwu Guo; Dr Luis Gabriel Brieba de Castro; Dr Juan Manuel Gonzalez Prieto and Dr Raymundo Rosas Quijano. Thanks for the advice.

I would like to thanks to CONACYT and BEIFI/IPN for supporting me the scholarship.

During the daily work in the lab, I would like to say thank you to Dr Erick De Luna-Santillana, Isabel Cristina Rodriguez Luna and Alejandro Sánchez Varela, who help me in ordering the reagents and handling the instruments.

I also wish to say thanks to Dr Ninfa María Rosas García and Jesús Manuel Villegas Mendoza. Thanks for their help in support of insect culture lab and *Spodoptera exigua* larvae.

Next I would like to say thanks to my friends: Miguel, Edgar, Maria, Cristina, Yajuan Fu, Estefany, Alfonso and Wendy.

Finally, I would like to thanks to my parents for their support and encouragement during my studies.

## Abbreviations

AcMNPV	Autographa californica multinucleopolyhedrosis virus
AD	Activation domain
AgMNPV	Anticarsia gemmatalis nucleopolyhedrovirus
Anks	Ankyrins
BAC	Bacterial artificial chromosome
BD	Binding domain
BmNPV	Bombyx mori nuclear polyhedrosis virus
BV	Bracovirus
BVs	Budded virions
CBD	Cellulose-binding domain
CcBV	Cotesia congregata bracovirus
CcV1	Cotesia congregate virus protein 1
CDNB	1-chloro-2, 4 dinitrobenzene
CkBV	Cotesia kariyai bracovirus
Co-IP	Co-immunorecipitation
CpBV	Cotesia plutellae bracovirus
CrBV	Cotesia rubecula bracovirus
CrV1	Cotesia rubecula virus protein 1
CrV2	Cotesia rubecula virus protein 2
CrV3	Cotesia rubecula virus protein 3
CsIV	Campoletis sonorensis ichnovirus
Cys-motif	Cysteine motif containing genes

DAB	3,3'-diaminobenzidine
DEPC	Diethylpyrocarbonate
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNase I	Deoxyribonuclease I
DTT	Dithiothreitol
E.coli	Escherichia.coli
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
Egf-like	Epidermal growth factor-like
EP1	Early-expressed protein1
EPDA	End-point Dilution Assay
ESI	Electrospray Ionization
Far WB	Far western blotting
FBS	Fatal bovine serum
FRET	Fluorescence resonance energy transfer system
G	Gram
GbNV	Gryllus bimaculatus nudivirus
GfBV	Glyptapanteles flavicoxis bracovirus
GfIV	Glypta fumiferanae ichnovirus
GiBV	Glyptapanteles indiensis bracovirus
Glc	Glycosylated central domain proteins
GlcNac	N-Acetylglucosamine
GlmS	Glucosamine-6-phosphate activated ribozyme
GST	Glutathione S-transferase

GVs	Granuloviruses
Н	Hours
H4	Histone-4
НА	Hemagglutinin
HaMNPV	Helicoverpa armigera nucleopolyhedrovirus
HfIV	Hyposoter fugitivus ichnovirus
His	Hexahistidine
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
HzNV	Heliothis zea nudivirus
IMAC	Immobilized metal affinity chromatography
Inex	Innexin genes
IPs	Infectious particles
ITAM	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif
IV	Ichnovirus
L	Liter
LB	Luria Bertani
LC <sub>50</sub>	Median lethal concentration
LT <sub>50</sub>	Median lethal time
М	Molar per liter
MALDI	Matrix Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization
MBP	Maltose binding protein
MdBV	Microplitis demolitor bracovirus
Min	Minutes

mL	Milliliter
mM	Millimolar per liter
MNPV	Multiple nucleocapsids
MOI	Multiplicity of infection
MS	Mass spectroscopy
MS/MS	Tandem MS
Mya	Million years ago
Ng	Nanogram
Ni-NTA	Ni (II)-nitrilotriacetic acid
NPVs	Nucleopolyhedrovirus
NusA	N-Utilization substance
OBs	Occlusion bodies
ODVs	Occlusion derived virus
ORF	Open reading frame
OrNV	Oryctes rhinoceros nudivirus
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PD	Proportional distance
PDV	Polydnaviruses
PFUs	Plaque-forming units
PMF	Peptide mass fingerprinting
PmNV	Penaeus monodon nudivirus
PO	Phenoloxidase

РР	Phosphoprotein		
РТР	Protein tyrosine phosphatase		
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride		
RNA	Ribonucleic acid		
RPM	Revolutions per minute		
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction		
S	Seconds		
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate-poly acrylamide gel electrophoresis		
SeMNPV	Spodoptera exigua nucleopolyhedrovirus		
Sf21	Spodoptera frugiperda 21		
Sf9	Spodoptera frugiperda 9		
SfMNPV	Spodoptera frugiperda nucleopolyhedrovirus		
SNPV	Single nucleocapsid		
SUMO	Small ubiquitin modifier		
ТАР	Tandem Affinity Purification		
TBS	Tris-buffered saline		
TCID <sub>50</sub>	Tissue culture infective dose		
TEMED	Tetramethylethylenediamine		
TEV	Tobacco Etch Virus		
TOF	Time-of-flight		
TrIV	Tranosema rostrale ichnovirus		
Trx	Thioredoxin		
μL	Microliter		

μΜ	Micromolar per liter	
μm	Micrometre	

#### Abstract

Polydnaviruses (PDVs) are symbionts of parasitoid wasps as a natural strategy to overcome the immune defense of the lepidopteran host. PDVs are double-stranded, circular DNA viruses found in some Ichneumonoidea families, being classified as bracovirus (BV) or ichnovirus (IV) according to the host parasitoid and viral morphology. One gene product of the BV of the parasitic wasp Cotesia rubecula, CrV1, inhibits the immune system responses of its endoparasitized lepidopteran host through interference with the haematocyte cytoskeletal structure. The mechanism of inactivation is still not clear. In this study, CrV1 was constructed into two transfer vectors, pAcGHLT-B and pAcUW21 and co-transfected to generate two baculoviruses, pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 and pAcUW21-CrV1. GST-CrV1 fusion protein was successfully expressed and purified from pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 baculovirus infected Sf9 cells. GST pull-down assay was carried out to study the interacted proteins of CrV1 in *Pieris rapae* larvae lysate. However, degradation of GST-CrV1 protein was present. This degradation may due to the some kinds of materials existed in the lysate. Another insect larvae lysate, Spodoptera exigua, was also used for pull-down assay and the degradation was also detected. The contents of the materials are still unknown and another experiment showed that protease consisting of RNA may involve in the degradation.

Recombinant baculoviruses may be used as biological insecticides by the introduction and expression of exogenous genes such as those coding for proteins interfering with metabolism, metamorphosis (toxins, hormones, and enzymes), and immune system. The CrV1 secreted protein of *Cotesia rubecula* polydnavirus (PDV) is responsible for the actin depolymerization in hemocytes and the abolishment of immune functions such as phagocytosis and cell spreading, thus allowing the successful embryonic development of the parasitoid wasp. In this study,

pAcUW21-CrV1 baculovirus was tested against the insect pests *Spodoptera exigua* and *Pieris rapae*. The recombinant virus expressing CrV1 protein showed significantly lower  $LC_{50}$  and  $LT_{50}$  as compared with wild-type virus, which indicated that the recombinant baculoviruses expressing only CrV1 gene can improve their virulence.

**Key words**: Polydnavirus, CrV1 protein, baculoviruses, *Spodoptera exigua*, *Pieris rapae*, pulldown, expression, purification

#### Resumen

Los polidnavirus (PDVs) son simbiontes de avispas parasitoides como una estrategia natural para evadir la defensa inmune de los lepidopteros hospederos. Los PDVs son virus de ADN circular de hebra, son encontrados en algunas familias de Ichneumonoidea, son clasificados como bracovirus (BV) o ichnovirus (IV) dependiendo el parasitoide hospedero y la morfología viral. Un producto génico de los BV de la avispa parasitoide *Cotesia rubecula* es la proteína CrV1, la cual inhibe la respuesta del sistema imnune del lepidóptero hospedero endoparasitado, a través de la interferencia con la estructura del citoesqueleto del hemocito. El mecanismo de inactivación permanece no claro. En este estudio, el gen CrV1 fue insertado en 2 vectores de transferencia, pAcGHLT-B y pAcUW21 y cotransfectado para generar dos baculovirus recombinantes pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 y pAcUW21-CrV1. La proteína de fusión GST-CrV1 fue expresada exitosamente y purificada de las células Sf9 infectadas con el baculovirus pAcGHLT-B-CrV1. El ensayo "GST pull-down" fue llevado a a cabo para estudiar la interacción de la proteína CrV1 en lisado de larvas de Pieris rapae. Sin embargo se observó la degradación de la proteína GST-CrV1, probablemente debida a alguna sustancia presente en el lisado. Un lisado de larvas de Spodoptera exigua fue también usado para ensayos "GST pull-down" y la degradación también fue detectada en este caso. El contenido de sustancias en el lisado aun es desconocido, algunos experimentos previos han demostrado que algunas proteasas que consisten en ARN pueden estar involucradas en la degradación.

Los baculovirus recombinantes pueden ser usados como insecticidas biológicos por medio de la introducción y expresión de genes exógenos tales como los que codifican para proteínas que interfieren con el metabolismo, metamorfosis (toxinas, hormonas y enzimas) y con el sistema inmune. La proteína CrV1 secretada por el polidnavirus de *Cotesia rubecula* es responsable de la

depolimerizacion de la actina en los hemocitos y abolición de las funciones del sistema inmune tales como la fagocitosis y la difucion celular, lo cual permite el exitoso desarrollo embrionario de la avispa parasitoide. En este estudio el baculovirus pAcUW21-CrV1 fue probado contra los insectos plaga *Spodoptera exigua* y *Pieris rapae*. El virus recombinante que expresa CrV1 mostró una  $LC_{50}$  y una  $LT_{50}$  significativamente más bajas comparado con el virus tipo silvestre, lo cual indica que solo la expresión de CrV1 en los baculovirus recombinantes puede mejorar la virulencia.

Palabras Clave: polidnavirus, CrV1, proteína, baculovirus, *Spodoptera exigua*, *Pieris rapae*, "pull-down", expresión, purificación.

## **1** Introduction

### **1.1 Polydnaviruses**

Polydnaviruses ("Poly" referring to the poly-dispersed DNA segments) (PDVs) which occur as proviruses integrated in wasps genomes are the best studied mutualistic viruses (Webb, Strand et al. 2006, Beck, Inman et al. 2007, Roossinck 2011). The study of PDVs started in the late 1960s (Salt 1965). The polydnaviridae was formally recognized as a family of viruses in 1991 (Francki, Fauquet et al. 1991). The selected milestones in the history of polydnavirus research are listed in Table 1.

Observation	References	
The layer on the surface of parasitoid eggs which can protect	(Salt 1965)	
them from encapsulation is located in the ovarian calyx.		
Viruslike DNA-containing particles are generated in the calyx	(Vinson and Scott 1975)	
region, which compose the calyx fluid		
The ultrastructural investigation of nuclear secretory particles and	(Hess, Benham et al. 1975,	
microorganisms in the calyx cells are reported	Norton, Vinson et al. 1975)	
The infection process of virus-like particles is reported	(Stoltz and Vinson 1977,	
	Stoltz and Vinson 1979)	
Braconid and ichneumonid particle DNA is double stranded,	(Krell and Stoltz 1979, Krell	
circular, supercoiled and polydisperse	and Stoltz 1980)	
Virus in a parasitoid wasp acts to suppress the host's cellular	(Edson, Vinson et al. 1981)	
immune response to let the parasitoid egg survive		
The mRNA transcripts of virus are detected in the infected host	(Fleming, Blissard et al.	

	1983)
A new insect virus family, Polydnaviridae, is proposed	(Stoltz, Krell et al. 1984)
The replication of virus DNA does not occur in the host and may	(Theilmann and Summers
be restricted in the wasps.	1986)
The DNA splicing in the Polydnaviridae is described	(Blissard, Smith et al. 1987)
Evidence for chromosomal transmission and integration of	(Stoltz 1990, Fleming and
polydnavirus DNA is provided	Summers 1991)
Polydnaviridae is accepted by the ICTV as the polydnaviruses	(Francki Fauquet et al.
family name and two genera, bracoviruses and ichnovirus, are	
established	1991)
Evidence for polydnavirus genome segment is provided	(Xu and Stoltz 1993)
A model for the virus DNA integration and excision is proposed	(Gruber, Stettler et al. 1996)
Ultrastructural analysis of the braconid wasp polydnavirus show	(Albrecht, Wyler et al.
that only one circular DNA in each nucleocapsid	1994)
The virus DNA amplification is prior to individual circle excision	(Pasquier-Barre, Dupuy et
The virus Drvr unprincution is prior to individual chere excision	al. 2002)
The polydnavirus-wasp relationship is approximately from a date	(Whitfield 2002)
of origin of 73.7±10 million years ago	(whited 2002)
A polydravirus DNA segment is integrated in host cells in vitro	(Gundersen-Rindal and
A poryunavirus DIVA segment is integrated in nost cens in vitro	Lynn 2003)
RNA interference is used in characterizing the function of PDV	(Beck and Strand 2003)
genes	
The first complete nucleotide sequence of the bracovirus CcBV is	(Espagne, Dupuy et al.

published	2004)
CsIV and MdBV share a few genes expressed in the hosts and	(Webb, Strand et al. 2006,
ichneumonid and braconid wasp may evolve in different	Tanaka, Lapointe et al.
strategies	2007)
Genome analysis indicates that Baculoviridae derive from	(Bézier, Annaheim et al.
ancestral nudivirus	2009)
Genome and proteomics analysis shows that ichnoviruses and	(Volkoff, Jouan et al. 2010,
Genome and proteomies analysis shows that termoviruses and	Heraty, Ronquist et al.
bracoviruses particles originated from different viral entities	2011)
Sequence data analysis estimates that nudiviruses diverge from	(Heraty, Ronquist et al.
baculoviruses 310Mya	2011)
The first experimental evidence that BV segments integrate into	(Beck Zhang et al. 2011)
the genomes of host insects is described	(Beek, Zhang et al. 2011)
The first experimental insights for the function of some BV genes	(Burke Thomas et al. 2013)
in virion formation is documented	(Burke, Thomas et al. 2013)
The first comprehensive proteins analysis that wasp introduces	(Burke and Strand 2014)
into its host	

**Table 1. The history of polydnavirus research** (Beckage and Drezen 2011, Strand andBurke 2013, Strand and Burke 2015)

Approximately 40000 PDV-carrying wasps belong to families, Braconidae and Ichneumonidae, and the PDVs are subdivided into two genera, Ichnovirus (IV) and Bracovirus (BV) (King, Adams et al. 2012). PDVs are associated with insects named parasitoid wasps. Many parasitoid wasps lay eggs into the lepidopteran insect host and use PDVs to overcome the immune defense of the lepidopteran host, which facilitate the development of their progeny (Fleming 1992, Turnbull and Webb 2002, Bézier, Annaheim et al. 2009).

#### 1.1.1 The life cycle of polydnavirus

During evolution, PDVs, the parasitoid wasps and insect hosts have formed a complex association. The life cycle of polydnavirus is displayed in Figure 1. PDV persists as an integrated provirus in the germ line and somatic cells of associated parasitoid Hymenopteran wasps and replication specifically occurs in calyx cells of pupal and adult stage female wasp ovaries (Gundersen-Rindal, Dupuy et al. 2013), following excision of the proviral DNA from wasp chromosomes and encapsidated virions accumulate to high concentration in the lumen of the later oviducts (Fleming and Summers 1991, Xu and Stoltz 1991, Gruber, Stettler et al. 1996, Belle, Beckage et al. 2002). The assembled virions contain multiple circular dsDNAs with large aggregate sizes, from 190 to 730 kb. At oviposition, the wasp injects one or more eggs into the lepidopteran host with a quantity of virions and secretions from the venom gland (Schmidt, Theopold et al. 2001). PDV virions rapidly infect the host, express virulence genes and integrate their DNA segments into the genome of infected host cells (Strand and Burke 2014). These gene products have two main functions. First, suppress the host's immune system, which prevents the eggs from encapsulation. Second, regulate the host physiology, which facilitates the wasp offspring development, leads to parasitism success and results in the death of the host (Chevignon, Thézé et al. 2014, Chevignon, Cambier et al. 2015).



**Figure 1. The life cycle of parasitoid wasp and PDVs** (Strand and Burke 2013). PDV persists in the germline and all somatic cell of the wasp's body as a provirus. PDV replication only occurs in calyx cells of ovaries of pupal and adult stage female wasps. PDV virions are stored in the lumen of the reproductive tract with wasp eggs. Wasps parasitize the hosts and inject the egg with PDV virions into the hosts. The virions express virulence genes to disable the host's immune system, which allows the wasp larvae to develop and then emerge from the host to pupate.

Unlike viruses in any other family, PDVs cannot replicate in the wasp's host because the genes which are required to produce virus particles are not assembled into virions. Therefore, the PDVs are only can be vertically transmitted as proviruses between the germline of wasps (Strand and Burke 2013). During evolution, the PDV proviral genomes have divided into two functional units (Figure 2). One is the genes (such as structural genes) with replication function, which are expressed, and form virions in calyx cells, but are not encapsidated into virion and another is multiple DNA domains including virulence genes, which are amplified and assembled into virions (Strand and Burke 2014).



**Figure 2. The genome organization of polydnavirus** (Strand and Burke 2014). Two parts of the proviral genome are replicated in calyx cells. Viral replication genes are expressed and produce virus structural components. Proviral segments containing virulence genes are amplified, excised, circulated and packaged into virions.

#### 1.1.2 Polydnavirus genes that ineract with the host immune system

The main function of most polydnaviruse genes is preventing the wasp eggs from encapsulation by the host immune system. The host insect's immune system includes cellular and humoral components. The cellular immunity system refers to response to the action of haemocytes, such as nodule formation, encapsulation and phagocytosis (Strand 2008). Haemocytes are composed of plasmatocytes, granulocytes, spherule cells and oenocytoids, which are classified by morphological, functional and molecular markers (Strand 2008, Nakahara, Shimura et al. 2009). Granulocytes take the response of non-self-recognition and phagocytosis, and the plasmatocytes form a capsule around the foreign objects to perform encapsulation response. Oenocytoids can express phenoloxidase and other components of the PO cascade to start melanization, while the function of spherule cells is not clear (Beckage and Drezen 2011). Humoral defenses involve in molecules produced by hemocytes or tissues with ability of killing foreign objects (Kanost, Gorman et al. 2008). Three classes of innate humoral response have been defined, including defensive melanization, sentinel molecule binding and induction of antimicrobial peptides (Gillespie and, Kanost et al. 1997).

The most important immune response of lepidopteran insects toward the eggs of parasitoids is encapsulation (Strand 2008). This response, involved with the action of hemocytes, is mediated by two kinds of recognition receptors. The first kind is cell surface receptors which are expressed on the surface of hemocytes, such as scavenger receptors, integrins and the nimrod superfamily (Kocks, Cho et al. 2005, Moita, Wang-Sattler et al. 2005, Wertheim, Kraaijeveld et al. 2005, Somogyi, Sipos et al. 2008). The second kind is humoral pattern recognition receptors, such as lipopolysaccharide-binding protein, hemolin, soluble peptidoglycan recognition proteins, immunolectins, complement-like thioester-containing proteins and gram-negative bacteria recognition proteins (Levashina, Moita et al. 2001, Irving, Ubeda et al. 2005, Moita, Wang-Sattler et al. 2005, Dong, Taylor et al. 2006, Ling and Yu 2006, Terenius, Bettencourt et al. 2007). Encapsulation usually starts from 2-6 h after parasitism and is accomplished until 48 h (Strand 2008).

PDV mediated suppression of host immune system is first reported in 1981, which showed that CsIV gene expression is essential for preventing *C.sonorensis* eggs from encapsulated (Edson, Vinson et al. 1981). Subsequently, numerous PDVs genes which interact with immune system of parasitoid have been investigated (Table 2). PDVs infect the hemocytes after being injected into the hemocoel of the host, resulting in morphological alteration (Tanaka 1988), altering spreading behavior apoptosis, inhibiting coagulation and changing actin-cytoskeleton structure in host hemocytes (Strand and Noda 1991, Strand 1994, Lavine and Beckage 1995, Strand and Pech 1995, Asgari, Schmidt et al. 1997, Cui, Soldevila et al. 1997). Viral genes which relate to immune suppression are diverse. It includes proteins with conserved cysteine patterns, cysteineknot motif-containing proteins, and coiled-coil containing proteins (Cui and Webb 1996, Asgari and Schmidt 2002, Beck and Strand 2003, Dahlman, Rana et al. 2003, Le, Asgari et al. 2003). Many genes have been cloned from infected hemocytes. PDVs genes usually express as early as 2-4 h post-parasitism and may continue throughout the course of parasitization (Blissard, Fleming et al. 1986, Strand, McKenzie et al. 1992). Glatz, et al isolated Cotesia rubecula bracovirus gene which expressed in the Lepidopteran Pieris rapae and found that only four gene products are detected in larval host tissues. Their expression occurred from 4 to 12 h postparasitization (Glatz, Schmidt et al. 2004).

Genes	PDV species	Function	References
Glc family (2 genes) glc1.8		Prevent haemocyte from adhering to foreign surfaces, reducing phagocytosis and disrupting adhesion and phagocytic activity of cells	(Beck and Strand2003, Beck andStrand 2005,Pruijssers and Strand2007, Johnson, Bitraet al. 2010)
PTP family (13 genes) ptp-H2	MdBV	Disable hemocyte-medicated defenses and stimulate apoptosis. PTP-H2 is a tyrosine phosphatase	<ul> <li>(Pruijssers and Strand</li> <li>2007, Suderman,</li> <li>Pruijssers et al. 2008,</li> <li>Eum, Bottjen et al.</li> <li>2010)</li> </ul>
Anks family (12 genes) AnkH4, AnkN4		Inhibit melanization	(Beck and Strand 2007)
Egf family (3 genes) egf1.0, egf1.5		Disrupt Toll and Imd signaling, and AMP expression	(Lu, Beck et al. 2008, Lu, Beck et al. 2010)
CrV1, CrV3	CrBV	Transient alter hemocyte cytoskeletal	(Asgari, Schmidt et al. 1997, Glatz, Schmidt et al. 2004)
CrV2		Alter hemocyte function by changing signaling pathways	(Cooper, Bailey-Hill et al. 2011)
CcV1	CcBV	Disable binding of the pattern	(Labropoulou, Douris

		Recognition protein hemolin to	et al. 2008)
		hemocytes	
		Encode tyrosine phosphatases	
		as inhibitors of cathepsin-like	(Provost, Varricchio
PTP gene family		cysteine proteases and may	et al. 2004, Serbielle,
		interact with host immune	Moreau et al. 2009)
		defenses	
Lectin			(Gad and Kim 2008,
Histone (H4)			Kwon and Kim 2008,
EP1-like gene		Disrupt adhesion, spreading	Lee, Nalini et al.
	CpBV	and proliferating of the host	2008, Nalini and Kim
CpDV15		hemocytes	2009, Kim and Kim
Срвут5			2010, Prasad, Hepat et
			al. 2014)
Cus motif protoins			(Li and Webb 1994,
VIII-1 and VII-1 4		Reduce the encapsulation	Cui, Soldevila et al.
VHVI.I and VHVI.4			1997)
IV-encoded ank genes	CsIV	May act as NF-kappaB	(Fath-Goodin,
		inhibitors and inhibit apoptosis	Kroemer et al. 2009)
Inex genes		Form functional gap junctions	(Turnbull, Volkoff et
		in cell-cell communication	al. 2005)
ρηνρτρ	GiBV	May disrupt harmooute activity	(Chen, Taylor et al.
			2003)

			(Yamanaka,
2.0 kb CkBV cDNA	CkBV	May disrupt haemocyte activity	Hayakawa et al. 1996)

# Table 2. Summary of polydnavirus genes that interact with the host immune system (Glatz, Asgari et al. 2004, Beckage and Drezen 2011)

#### 1.1.3 Cotesia rubecula polydnavirus gene 1 (CrV1)

The CrV1 gene from *Cotesia rubecula* is the best gene characterized so far among the four genes products detected in *Pieris rapae* tissues. This gene was cloned and sequenced by Dr Asgari (Asgari, Hellers et al. 1996). CrV1 gene product is a secreted glycoprotein and expressed in the haemocytes and fat body cells of *Pieris rapae*. That has been implicated in depolymerization of the actin cytoskeleton of host haemocytes and disruption of the capacity of hemocytes to spread onto foreign surfaces (Asgari, Schmidt et al. 1997). In *Cotesia rubecula*, CrV1 is the only gene that expressed in the host hemocyte. The mechanism of inactivation is still not clear. It has been shown that CrV1 is endocytosed or phagocytized by the host haemocytes. Asgari and Schmidt found that a coiled-coil domain containing a putative zipper is required for CrV1 function and this domain affects the binding and uptakes of the CrV1 protein by hemocytes (Asgari and Schmidt 2002). It is known that CrV1 binds to lipophorin forming a complex with the lipid carrier (Asgari and Schmidt 2002, Glatz, Schmidt et al. 2004). It indicates that CrV1 forms a complex with lipophorin to interact with hemocytes, which is then taken up by lipophorin or scavenger receptors as part of a clearance reaction (Schmidt, Glatz et al. 2005).
#### **1.1.4 Polydnavirus evolution**

During the study of unique biology of PDVs, one important question is that where did they come from. Early morphological research showed that BV and IV virion were similar to the viruses from the family Baculoviridae and Ascoviridae respectively (Stoltz, Vinson et al. 1976, Federici and Bigot 2003, Bigot, Samain et al. 2008). However, further research noted that the PDVs neither share any significant homologous genes with baculovirus or ascovirus nor share homology with other viral genes which have predicted function in DNA replication, transcription or virion formation (Burke and Strand 2012). Therefore, two models have been suggested for this question. One is that PDVs evolved from a wasp ancestor, during the long evolution, they obtained the ability to produce and package circular DNA which contains wasp genes encoding proteins that withstand the immune responses of the insect host (Whitfield and Asgari 2003, Espagne, Dupuy et al. 2004, Schmidt, Glatz et al. 2005). Another model proposes that PDVs evolved from insect DNA viruses associated with the ancestor of campopleginae and microgastroid wasp and developed a beneficial association. The PDVs integrated into the wasp genome and lost viral replication and structural genes and acquired the virulence genes from the wasp. PDVs are not viruses, but wasp organelles that evolved from virus (Federici and Bigot 2003, Webb and Strand 2005).

Genome analysis is one critical way to answer this question. Currently, nine PDV genomes have been sequenced: *Cotesia congregate* BV (CcBV), *Microplitis demolitor* BV (MdBV), *Cotesia plutellae* BV (CpBV), *Glyptapanteles flavicoxis* BV (GfBV), *Glyptaanteles indiensis* BV (GiBV), *Campoletis sonorensis* IV (CsIV), *Tranosema rostrale* IV (TrIV), *Hyposoter fugitivus* IV (HfIV), and *Glypta fumiferanae* IV (GfIV) (Espagne, Dupuy et al. 2004, Webb, Strand et al. 2006, Lapointe, Tanaka et al. 2007, Tanaka, Lapointe et al. 2007, Desjardins, Gundersen-Rindal et al. 2008, Chen, Gao et al. 2011). All genome data of PDV viruses share common features, such as large genomes (from 189 to 606 kb), low coding densities (17%-33%), many genes organized into gene families and numerous genes that share homologous genes with genes of wasps or other eukaryotes. BVs and IVs rarely share genes with each other, which indicates that their evolution is independently.

The first breakthrough is the study of transcriptome in ovary DNA libraries of two braconid wasps (*Cotesia congregate* and *Chelonus inanitus*) (Bézier, Annaheim et al. 2009). Complementary genomic and proteomic analysis showed that several genes which expressed in ovaries during replication share homologous genes with nudiviruses (Wang and Jehle 2009). Nudiviruses is a sister taxon to the Baculoviridae, which is an extensively studied insect family, such as *Autographa californica* multinucleopolyhedrosis virus (AcMNPV) (Rohrmann 2014). The divergence of nudiviruses and baculoviruses dated back to 300 Mya, while nudiviruses and bracoviruses diverged approximately 100 Mya (Thézé, Bézier et al. 2011, Burke and Strand 2012). The evolutionary relationships between bracoviruses, nudiviruses and baculoviruses are showed in Figure 3.

The similar approach was performed with three IV-carrying wasps. However, none of nudivirus or baculovirus-like genes was identified (Volkoff, Jouan et al. 2010). Some domains of the genomes which contain the genes coding for structural proteins in IV virions were found. These genes have the features of virus-like and form clusters in the genome of wasp, which indicate that IVs evolved from a virus, whereas these regions share no homologous genes with other virus families. Therefore whether IVs evolve from an undiscovered taxon or a now-extinct virus taxon is unknown.



**Figure 3. Evolutionary relationships between bracoviruses, nudiviruses and baculoviruses** (Burke and Strand 2012). Bracoviruses evolved from within the nudivirus branch. Nudiviruses and baculoviruses are sister taxon of viruses.

# **1.2 Baculovirus biology**

Baculovirus is a large family of inset pathogenic viruses (Baculoviridae) which have enveloped, rod-shaped, double-stranded DNA genomes ranging from 80 to 170 kb in size, depending on the species (Miele, Garavaglia et al. 2011). Baculoviruses as insect pathogens were initially performed as bioinsecticide to regulate insect populations in nature (Szewczyk, Hoyos-Carvajal et al. 2006, Moscardi, de Souza et al. 2011). Heretofore, no less than 56 baculoviruses species and isolates have been published in GenBank. From the genome analyses, we know that about 895 open reading frames encode for structural and nonstructural proteins for crucial functions such as DNA replication and transcription, gene expression, the virion structure and packaging,

the cell cycle arrest, and the proteins involved in primary infection of insect host midgut cells (Miele, Garavaglia et al. 2011, van Oers 2011). Thirty one core genes are conserved in all the sequenced baculovirus genomes (Yang and Zhang 2012).

Baculoviruses have two different virion phenotypes: budded virions (BVs) and occlusion derived virus (ODVs) (Jehle, Blissard et al. 2006) (Figure 4B). BVs bud from the cell membrane and spread the in the infection within the infected host whereas ODVs is assembled in large occlusion bodies (OBs) and spread from insect to insect (Hunter-Fujita, Entwistle et al. 1998). The BVs are taken shape from the infected cell plasma membrane. They consist of a single nucleocapsid which is enveloped with a structure derived from modified host plasma membrane (Hunter-Fujita, Entwistle et al. 1998). Oppositely, the ODVs consist of one or multiple nucleocapsids assembled in an envelope which is different from the BVs envelope (Hunter-Fujita, Entwistle et al. 1998).

On the basis of the phylogenetic and other characteristics evidence, baculoviruses are divided into four genera: Alphabaculovirus (lepidopteran-specific NPV), Betabaculovirus (lepidopteranspecific Granuloviruses). Gammabaculovirus (hymenopteran-specific NPV) and Deltabaculovirus (dipteran-specific NPV) (Jehle, Blissard et al. 2006). Based on the morphologies of the virions, baculoviruses are divided into nucleopolyhedrovirus (NPVs) and granuloviruses (GVs) (Jehle, Blissard et al. 2006, Carstens and Ball 2009, Guarino 2011). Both of them are specific to their larvae hosts (van Oers 2011). The NPV occlusion body contains multiple virions. Depending on the genus, some of the NPVs have a single nucleocapsid (SNPV) in each virion, while others have multiple nucleocapsids (MNPV) (van Oers 2011) (Figure 4A). The diameter of NPV occlusion bodies ranges from 0.15 to 15  $\mu$ m (Hunter-Fujita, Entwistle et al. 1998). The alphabaculoviruses form two clades, the group I and group II NPVs (Herniou and Jehle 2007). The main difference between these two groups is the glycoprotein which is necessary for virus to bud from the insect cell and to get the entry into the host cell cytoplasm (Monsma, Oomens et al. 1996). In group I, the GP64 is the protein to operate these processes, while in group II the F protein functions as GP64 (IJkel, Westenberg et al. 2000, Pearson, Groten et al. 2000). The F protein is also detected in Betabaculovirus, Deltabaculovirus and some vertebrate viruses (Pearson, Groten et al. 2000).

The occlusion bodies diameter of GVs is between 0.15 and 0.3  $\mu$ m and often contain only one enveloped nucleocapsid (Hunter-Fujita, Entwistle et al. 1998). In GVs, the OBs only contain a single enveloped virus particle. Granulin which is similar to polyhedrin is the main GVs matrix protein.

Unlike most other DNA viruses, baculovirus gene expression happens in four phases: immediate-early phase, delayed-early phase, late phase and very late phase (Passarelli and Guarino 2007). In the immediate-early phase, the immediate-early genes which can activate the genes of other phases and involve in infection establishment are transcribed by host encoded RNA polymerase II. In the delayed-early phase, genes which implicate in DNA replication, late gene expression and inhibitors for preventing host defense system are transcribed (Ahrens and Rohrmann 1995, Kool, Ahrens et al. 1995, Todd, Passarelli et al. 1995, Guarino, Xu et al. 1998, Clem 2007). The late phase is associated with virion assembly and virus budding. In the very late phase, the virions become occluded and polyhedrin and P10 proteins are expressed in very large amounts (Rohrmann 1986, Van Oers and Vlak 1997). Polyhedrin forms the matrix of OBs. The P10 is related to the release of OBs from the nucleus of infected host cells at the end of infection (van Oers, Flipsen et al. 1993, Carpentier, Griffiths et al. 2008, Carpentier and King 2009). Viral

16

proteases lyse the host cells and the occluded virions are dispersed into environment for horizontal transmission.

#### 1.2.1 Theory of the baculovirus expression system

Polyhedrin and P10 proteins expression occur in the very late phase of the virus infection cycle (Figure 4C). However, they are not essential for the production of BVs, the type of virus that is responsible to spread the virus from insect cell to cell. In cell culture, only BV phenotype is needed to continue the replication cycle. Therefore it is possible to express recombinant proteins via deleting the polyhedrin or P10 gene (Smith, Summers et al. 1983, Pennock, Shoemaker et al. 1984) (Figure 4D). This forms the principle of the baculovirus insect cell expression system. As these promoters have a canonical TAAG transcription initiation site, one or more promoters constructed with foreign genes can be added into the baculovirus genome, which hastens protein expression in insect cells. AcMNPV, species of the genus alphabaculovirus, and BmNPV, another alphabculovirus which infects the silk worm, are commonly used for foreign genes expression.

The proteins expressed in the system often have biological activation and immunogenicity. Many viral and parasitic proteins, which have been expressed in this system, have available immunogenicity (Van Oers 2006, Metz and Pijlman 2011). This expression system also makes it possible to research the virion assembling of the virus lack of infectivity and this can be used to develop candidate vaccine on the basis of virion with regular recombinant antigens (Conner, Zarley et al. 1996, Hu, Bentley et al. 1999, Hu, Hsu et al. 2003, Mortola and Roy 2004). Before subunit vaccines, vaccines are made from these parts of a pathogen which is necessary to lead a protective immune response against the disease. In practice, these are usually surface

components, such as the E2 protein from classical swine fever virus and the L1 viral capsid protein of human papillomavirus (Bouma, De Smit et al. 1999, Harper, Franco et al. 2006). The baculovirus expression system also can be used to produce viral vectors for gene therapy (Urabe, Ding et al. 2002).



**Figure 4. Baculovirus biology and theory of the expression system** (van Oers 2011). A: Nucleopolyhedroviruses exist in the surroundings in the form of viral occlusion bodies (OBs). The OBs consist of a polyhedron matrix and the enveloped occlusion derived virions (ODVs) which are embedded in the polyhedron matrix. The ODVs contain a single (SNPV) or multiple (MNPV) nucleocapsids. B: The ODVs spread the infection between insects whereas the OBs spread the infection between cells within the insect body. C: In the very late phase of infection, polyhedrin and P10 proteins are expressed in a large amount. D: Polyhedrin and P10 proteins are

not required to produce BVs, so that their promoters can be used for foreign genes expression. The left panel shows the life cycle of insect cell infected with wild-type BVs. The middle panel shows the life cycle of insect cells infected with a recombinant virus (a foreign gene under polyhedrin promoter). The right panel shows a diagram of a protein gel of wild-type virus-infected (I), polyhedrin (II) and P10 (III) promoters based recombinant baculovirus-infected insect cells.

# 1.2.2 Production of recombinant baculoviruses

Baculoviruses have large genomes which render direct cloning of foreign genes. The original method for constructing recombinant baculoviruses is by homologous recombination between the circular viral genome and a transfer vector that contains the foreign gene under polyhedrin promoter and is flanked by the sequences of polyhedrin gene region (Smith, Summers et al. 1983, Pennock, Shoemaker et al. 1984) (Figure 5A). This method is inefficient because of the selection and the low success ratio. The selection of recombinant viruses from parental stock is based on the detection of occlusion body negative plaques in the cell culture. These plaques often occur at low ratio. The identification is not easy to perform, which requires skill and conversancy with this system and further screening to confirm the recombinant viruses.

As the identification and purification of the recombinant virus is really a time-consuming procedure, this system was improved by a series of innovations that were propitious to the selection of recombinant viruses and increased the success percentage. One of the methods is using linearized baculovirus genomes at the desired insertion site (Kitts, Ayres et al. 1990, Martens, van Oers et al. 1995) (Figure 5B). This DNA with transfer vector after recombination results in approximately 30% recombinant viruses (Kitts, Ayres et al. 1990). This method was

19

improved by triple-digested baculovirus genomes (Kitts and Possee 1993). One *Escherichia coli* lacZ coding region was introduced in the polyhedrin gene locus and Bsu36I restriction enzyme sites were added in the upstream of ORF 603 and downstream of ORF 1629 (Kitts and Possee 1993). The protein expressed by ORF 603 is not essential for virus replication, whereas the ORF 1629 is an essential gene which encodes the phosphoprotein PP78/83. PP78/83 is a Wiscott-Aldrich syndrome protein which associates with nuclear actin filament formation during virus infection (Machesky and Insall 2001, Goley, Ohkawa et al. 2006, Wang, Liang et al. 2007, Ohkawa, Volkman et al. 2010). Therefore when the virus DNA is digested, even though it infect into the cells, the infectious virus production cannot be originated. The digested viral DNA with a transfer vector contained a foreign gene co-transfect into the insect cells resulting in over 90% recombinant viruses. Hence the recombinant viruses have to be purified several rounds by plaque assay. This method uses the BacPak6 vector or commercially Baculogold (BD Biosciences) BacN blue vectors (Invitrogen) (Kitts and Possee 1993).

In recent years, another method named bacmid system has been widely applied (Figure 5C). Bacmid is one constructed bacterial artificial chromosome which contains the baculovirus AcMNPV genome. With this bacmid, all the gene operational works to get the recombinant expression vector can be performed in *E.coli* (Luckow, Lee et al. 1993). This system includes three components: a transfer plasmid which contains Tn7 integration signal sequence, a helper plasmid which encodes Tn7 transposase, a bacmid which contains the specific Tn7 target sequence. Foreign genes are inserted into the bacmid by site-specific transposition. And then the recombinant bacmid is isolated and transfected into insect cells. After inside the cells, the early gene of the bacmid is transcribed and then the foreign genes are expressed. The BVs can be collected from the culture supernatant and used to infect more cells. In this system, a novel

transposon Tn7 is exploited. Unlike many other transposons which insert randomly or into a small target sequence in many locations, Tn7 specifically inserts near a highly conserved 36nt sequence at high frequency. Tn7 contains 5 genes and flanking sequences (150 bp Tn7L and 90 bp Tn7R) which are involved in transposition. This system includes a target or attachment site (attTn7) which is 12 C-terminal codons of the bacterial protein glmS that associates with the production of N-acetyl-glucosamine (Gay, Tybulewicz et al. 1986, Mitra, McKenzie et al. 2010). The orientation of insertion is in the same orientation as glmS.

The commercial transfer vectors for the bacmid system are available to express one or two proteins such as pFastBac1 and pFastBacDual from Invitrogen. Tags and signal peptides are also added to facilitate for proteins expression and purification.

Another novel method for producing recombinant baculoviruses is the flashBAC system (Figure 5D). This system combines the vantages of homologous recombination and bacmid technology. Virus DNA has deletions in the C-terminal region of ORF 1629 which encodes a protein associates with associates with nuclear actin assembly during virus infection. The deletions prevent its replication in the insect cells. Meanwhile, a bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) is added in the polyhedrin locus. Therefore the modified virus DNA can replicate in a circular form in *E.coli* cells. When the modified virus DNA with one transfer vector contained a foreign gene co-transfect into insect cells, homologous recombination which recovers the function of the ORF 1629 and removes the BAC sequence occurs between the transfer vector and modified virus DNA (Possee, Hitchman et al. 2008). In the latest vectors, the chitinase gene, cathepsin gene, p10 are deleted for reducing the proteolysis of recombinant proteins and enhancing the expression of recombinant protein (Hitchman, Possee et al. 2010).



**Figure 5.** Four methods to obtain recombinant baculoviruses (van Oers 2011). A: the original method for generating the recombinants by homologous recombination between the circular viral genome and a transfer vector. B: linearized viral DNA is used with a transfer vector to get the recombinants via homologous recombination, which can increase the success ratio of recombinants. C: Bacmid system which is based on site-specific transposition to insert a foreign gene into a bacterial artificial chromosome which contains the baculovirus genome .D: FlashBAC system. The baculovirus/ bacmid DNA has a lethal mutation in ORF 1629 which is

essential gene for virus infection and a BAC sequence which can let it replicate in *E.coil*. The recombinant virus is based on repair of the ORF 1629.

#### **1.2.3 Baculovirus transfer vectors**

The main function of the baculovirus transfer vectors is inserting foreign genes into the virus genome under appropriate promoters. The transfer vectors include one part of virus genome which contains the sites for insertion of foreign genes. Polyhedrin or p10 genes are usually in this region as both of them are not essential for virus replication in cell culture and insect larvae but are expressed in a large amount (Smith, Summers et al. 1983). A typical baculovirus transfer vector includes a polyhedrin or p10 gene promoter, a transcription terminator, multiple cloning sites, viral gene on both sides of the promoter which is use for homologous recombination, signal peptide or protein tag that convenient for protein secretion and purification.

The first developed transfer vector for baculovirus expression system is on the basis of the polyhedrin gene promoter which needs a virus-encoded α amanitin RNA polymerase to activate (Mans and Knebel-Mörsdorf 1998). It includes a TAAG transcription initiation site flanked by 5' non-coding region that is needed for optimal gene expression. In principle, any baculovirus gene promoter could be used to express foreign genes. In practice, some promoters which are active in the late phase of baculovirus gene expression have been used for expressing recombinant proteins, such as basic protein and p6.9 gene promoters in pAcMP1, pAcMP2 and pAcMP3 that are commercial in BD Biosciences Pharmingen (Hill-Perkins and Possee 1990). The advantage of these transfer vectors is that the recombinant proteins express in the phase of assembling complex structures of virions, which need to produce glycoproteins. So if the recombinant proteins that need post translational modification will be performed better under these promoters.

Some transfer vectors contain selection markers to facilitate the identification of the recombinant virus in plaque assay. Such as the pBlueBac series of transfer vectors from Invitrogen which have the 5'-end of the lacZ gene therefore it recombines with the 3'end of LacZ in the virus DNA, and the pBacgus transfer vectors from Novagen have the  $\beta$ -glucuronidae gene. Moreover the pAcUW21 transfer vector from BD Biosciences Pharmingen has p10 and polyhedrin promoters. When the gene that was constructed under p10 promoter co-transfects with linearized viral DNA, the recombinant plaques are the ones which contain polyhedrin and easy to be identified. This vector is especially used for producing recombinant viruses that express an insecticidal gene as modified biopesticide.

Transfer vectors which can express multiple genes have been exploited. The polyhedrin gene locus has been widely developed for multigene expression. The first double expression vector (pAcVC2) used two polyhedrin promoters (Emery and Bishop 1987). Recently, both p10 and polyhedrin promoters have been used for multigene expression, such as pAcAB4 from BD Biosciences Pharmingen. Most of these vectors have multiple cloning sites at each promoter to allow foreign gene insertion. Some transfer vectors for bacmid system, such as pUCDM and pFBDM which contain multiplication module with polyhedrin and p10 promoters, have been exploited for multiprotein production. The pFBDM vector inserts genes by Cre-LoxP site specific recombination in the chitinase/cathepsin locus and the pUCDM vectors is used the Tn7 transposition to insert the genes at polyhedrin gene locus (RAWLiNGS, PEARL et al. 1992, Hawtin, Arnold et al. 1995).

Transfer vectors which include signal peptide that can direct the recombinant proteins into the endoplasmic reticulum of the virus-infected cells have been produced, such as pBAC-3, pBACgus-6 vectors from Novagen which use the gp64/67 signal peptide. Other commercial

transfer vectors, pMelBacA, B and C from Invitrogen, contain the honeybee melittin secretion signal which can target the proteins to the insect cell surface (Tessier, Thomas et al. 1991). In practice, these vectors can be used to label the living cells, which can prove the display of the expressed genes in the cell surface, as well as immunogold labeling for virions (Kaba, Hemmes et al. 2003). Surface display usually causes immunogenic proteins, so that the surface display BVs can be used for immunization once the DNA is inactivation (Kaba, Salcedo et al. 2004, Mlambo, Kumar et al. 2010, Tang, Lu et al. 2010). Surface display also is used for screen ligands binding to receptors, drug screening and so on (Ernst, Grabherr et al. 1998, Grabherr and Ernst 2001, Makela and Oker-Blom 2008).

#### **1.2.4 Protein glycosylation in the baculovirus expression system**

The baculovirus expression system has the ability to perform most of the posttranslational modification similar to eukaryotes. In principle, proteins that are expressed in this system should be folded, modified, assembled well and also have biological activity (Luckow and Summers 1988, O'Reilly, Miller et al. 1994, Jarvis 1997). However, the pathways of proteins expressed in this system still differ from those of higher eukaryotes. One example is the protein glycosylation.

The glycoproteins expressed in the baculovirus expression system only have simple side sugar chains in mannose residues, whereas those produced in mammalian system have complex N-glycans with sialic acid residues at the termini (Harrison and Jarvis 2006, Shi and Jarvis 2007, Geisler and Jarvis 2012) (Figure 6). In insect cells, the primary N-glycan complex is added to asparagine residues in the endoplasmic reticulum or Golgi apparatus, as well as mammalian cells. And then, different carbohydrate molecules are added or removed from this complex by glycosidases, mannosidases and glycosylaminotransferase. Glycosidases and mannosidases

remove glucose and mannose molecules respectively while glycosylaminotransfrase is in charge of addition of a GlcNac residue (Miller, Trimarchi et al. 1983). Although the preliminary reactions are similar between insects and mammalian cells, the following reactions have significantly differences. In the insect cells, the fucosyltransferases and N-acetylglucosaminidase cause one non-fucosylated and two different fucosylated variants, whereas in mammalian cells, they can produce several sialated and non-sialated variants. These differences impact the biological functions and immunogenicity of the proteins compare with those expressed in mammalian cells (Kong, Sheppard et al. 2010).

Many attempts have been performed to improve the baculovirus expression system that can produce the enzymes required for processing the glycosylation patterns in mammalian cells (Jarvis, Weinkauf et al. 1996, Hollister and Jarvis 2001, van Oers 2011, Aumiller, Mabashi-Asazuma et al. 2012). The first modified insect cell line contains a bovine  $\beta$ 1, 4galactosyltransferase gene that can help to produce a foreign protein with  $\beta$ -galactosylated Nglycans termini (Hollister, Shaper et al. 1998). Subsequently, another modified insect cell line which can express bovine  $\beta$ 1, 4-galactosyltransferase and rat  $\alpha$ 2, 6-sialyltransferase that can produce the terminally  $\alpha$ 2, 6-sialylated N-glycans (Hollister and Jarvis 2001) was exploited. However, some analyses show that these modified insect lines only elongate the lower ( $\alpha$ 1, 3) branch of the N-glycans. As the glycoproteins in mammalian rarely have monoantennary Nglycans, another insect line, SfSWT series, which can express five mammalian glycosyltransferases was developed (Jarvis, Kawar et al. 1998, Aumiller, Hollister et al. 2003).



**Figure 6.** Recombinant protein glycosylation pathways in mammalian and insect cells (Contreras-Gómez, Sánchez-Mirón et al. 2014). In insect and mammalian cells, the N-glycan processing pathways have the same precursor and intermediate. The intermediate forms complex-type terminally sialylated N-glycans in mammalian cells, whereas in insect cells only produce a paucimannose N-glycans. However, the glycoengineered insect lines can produce complex-type terminally sialylated N-glycans. The enzymes used in the processing pathways: (I) N-acetylglucosaminyl transferase 2; (II) galactosyltransferases sialyltransferases; (III) Nacetylgalactosyltransferase sialyltransferases; (IV) N-acetylglucosaminidase; (V) α-1,6mannosyl-glycoprotein 2-β-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase; (VI) β-1,4-galactosyltransferase 1; and (VII) β-galactoside α-2,6-sialyltransferase

#### **1.3 Insect cell culture**

Insect cells were first isolated and cultured in the late 1950s for insect physiology study and baculoviruses synthesis (Baltz, Demain et al. 2010). Since the first establishment of the insect cell line, over 400 cell lines have been isolated from more than 100 insect species and derived from eggs and adult tissues, and have been utilized for recombinant protein expression and production of baculoviruses, virus-like particles and gene therapy vectors (Maranga, Cruz et al. 2002, G Aucoin, A Mena et al. 2010, Rychlowska, Gromadzka et al. 2011). The cell lines derived from lepidoptera insects have been widely used for recombinant proteins expression by the baculovirus expression system. Three cell lines are used more frequently to produce proteins, Sf21, Sf9 and High-Five<sup>™</sup> (Contreras-Gómez, Sánchez-Mirón et al. 2014). Sf21 and Sf9 are from the pupal ovarian tissue of *Spodoptera frugiperda* whereas High-Five<sup>™</sup> is from ovarian tissue of *Trichoplusia ni* (Vaughn, Goodwin et al. 1977,Summers and Smith 1987, Wickham, Davis et al. 1992). These three cell lines are usceptible to the infection of AcMNPV.

The diameter of the insect cells is between 10 and 20 µm and the shape of the cells is fibroblast like or round (van Oers and Lynn 2010). The cell lines can grow well in monolayer or suspension culture. For Sf21, Sf9 and High-Five<sup>TM</sup> cells, all of them can work well in monolayer and suspension culture in serum or serum-free medium (Kost, Condreay et al. 2005, Beas-Catena, Sánchez-Mirón et al. 2011, Beas-Catena, Sánchez-Mirón et al. 2013). Under the same cell basis, the High-Five<sup>TM</sup> cell line can produce more recombinant proteins compare with Sf9 and Sf21 cells while the Sf9 and Sf21 can get higher densities than High-Five<sup>TM</sup> cells under the same culture conditions (Palomares, Pedroza et al. 2001, Maranga, Cruz et al. 2002, Sander and Harrysson 2007, G Aucoin, A Mena et al. 2010). Except these three cell lines, other less common cell lines also be used to express proteins, such as Bm5, Tn368, Ea88 (Grace 1967, Hink 1970, Granados and Naughton 1976). Other transgenic cell lines such as Mimic<sup>™</sup> Sf9 (Invitrogen) and SfSWT series cell lines are developed to express the complex glycosylated glycans as those produced in mammalian cell (Hollister, Grabenhorst et al. 2002).

The first medium that is used to culture insect cells successfully is from the haemolymph of Bombyx mori moth (Wyatt 1956). As large amount of haemolymph is hard to obtain, and some kinds of medium have been designed for the culture of insect cells in vitro (G Aucoin, A Mena et al. 2010), such as TNM-FH, TC-100 and IPL-40. A typical culture medium comprises amino acids, organic acids, carbon source, vitamins, lipids and inorganic salts. In the early period of cell culture, the medium was supplemented with 5 to 20% fatal bovine serum. As the serum have a lot of drawbacks, such as high cost, potential adventitious agents, impact on protein purification and contaminants. Therefore serum-free medium has been used commonly now. Serum-free medium formulation is based on the above medium supplemented with yeastolate, a lipid mixture, Pluronic F-68 and other complements (Grace 1962). Commercial serum-free medium products include BD BaculoGold Max-XP (BD Biosciences), Express Five® and Sf-900™ II and Sf-900<sup>TM</sup> III (Invitrogen), HyClone SFX-Insect<sup>TM</sup> (Thermo Scientific) and Insect-XPRESS<sup>TM</sup> (Cambrex Bio Science). The purpose of the design of the serum-free medium is elimination of animal-derived components, so that they use plant protein hydrolysates to replace serum and other animal-derived ingredients and perform the same function as serum (Deparis, Durrieu et al. 2003). These medium are able to support expression high titer of recombinant protein and high cell densities (Shen, Kiyota et al. 2007, Keil and Tilkins 2013). However, these medium are also expensive, for the proprietary composition and cell line specific (Agathos 2010). Therefore these limits also affect the specific biotechnological applications. Some lab formulated

several generic serum-free medium for insect culture (YPR and YSD) which performed equally with commercial ones and cost much less (Ikononou, Bastin et al. 2001).

The range of growth temperature for insect cells is between 25 °C and 30 °C, but the optimal temperature is 27±0.5 °C (van Oers and Lynn 2010). Under this temperature, the insect cells can produce high quality and titer products. The low temperature (< 27 °C) and high temperature (> 27 °C) will decrease the amount of the proteins (Reuveny, Kim et al. 1993). For the glycosylation of recombinant proteins, the lower temperature has resulted in more complete glycosylation of the recombinant proteins (Donaldson, Wood et al. 1999). Therefore, glycosylation may be affected by other factors, such as oxygen, agitation rate and so on (Zhang, Saarinen et al. 2002, Joosten and Shuler 2003).

The growth pH values of insect cells is from 6.0 to 6.8, while, for most cell lines, the optimal pH for growing is near 6.2 to 6.4 (Maranga, Cruz et al. 2002). The detail of the pH effects on protein expression is still not so clear. Another factor should be cared during cell culture is dissolved oxygen concentration. In fact, during the growth, the cells are not obviously sensitive to the change of dissolved oxygen concentration (Palomares and Ramirez 1996). However, the cells become sensitive to the dissolved oxygen concentration during infection (Cruz, Peixoto et al. 1998). It has been suggested to use the peak in oxygen consumption rate for determining the best time to collect the culture (Kamen, Bedard et al. 1996). Oxygen limitation post-infection has been found to affect the protein quality and product and glycan processing (Scott, Blanchard et al. 1992, Konz, King et al. 1998, Shao-Hua, Hong-Liang et al. 1998, Zhang, Saarinen et al. 2002). Sufficiently high rate of oxygen transfer is used to avoid this limitation. In addition, during infection, another parameter named the multiplicity of infection (MOI) also affects the productivity of the proteins. MOI is the plaque-forming units (PFUs) or infectious particles (IPs)

added to per cell number (Licari and Bailey 1992). When the cells are infected with a low MOI (much less than 1), only a portion of cells are infected and stop to grow, and uninfected cells continue to grow (G Aucoin, A Mena et al. 2010). The released virus particles infect the remaining cells. The low MOI is widely utilized for baculovirus stock amplification, which can minimize the production of the defective virions that result in the decreased expression ability of the baculovirus after some passages (Pijlman, van Schijndel et al. 2003, G Aucoin, A Mena et al. 2010). When a high MOI (> 5) is used to infect the cells, all the cells cease to growth and simultaneously produce the viruses or proteins. However, high MOI infection not only needs a high titer of baculovirus but also will increase the possibility of production of defective virus particles. An optimal MOI depends upon the baculovirus, the culture medium the cell line and other factors (Wong, Peter et al. 1996, Carinhas, Bernal et al. 2009).

# **1.4 Protein purification**

As hundreds of species genomes have been sequenced, proteomics has become the next great challenge in molecular biology (Shendure and Aiden 2012). For research of the role and biological function of proteins, the first demand is the efficient and effective methods and materials for purification (Marichal-Gallardo and Alvarez 2012). In the protein purification process, the affinity tags acts one important role. The main purpose of affinity tags is to facilitate the purification of the recombinant proteins. Except this, the affinity tags also can increase the yields of recombinant proteins and enhance the solubility of recombinant proteins (Waugh 2005).

## **1.4.1 Protein affinity tags**

The fusion tags can be placed at either the N- or C-terminus of a recombinant protein. N-terminal tags often can improve the productivity of recombinant proteins, which provides a dependable

surrounding for efficient translation initiation. Sequences at N-or C-termini of recombinant proteins can affect the degradation rate (Varshavsky 1997, Hayes, Bose et al. 2002, Flynn, Neher et al. 2003). So that, some affinity tags may improve the yield of recombinant proteins because of rendering them more immunity to intracellular proteolysis (De Marco, Stier et al. 2004). Some tags, such as MBP, Trx and Nus A, are more efficient to the solubility of recombinant proteins when placed at the N-termini (Sachdev and Chirgwin 1998). Tags, whether large or small, have the potential to interfere with the structures and functions of the recombinant proteins. Therefore, it is usually to remove tags after purification. Many cleavage sites can be cloned into the expression constructs and the tags can be removed by specific endoproteases, such as Enterokinase, Thrombin, Factor Xa, PreScission and virus-derived TEV protease (Jenny, Mann et al. 2003, Arnau, Lauritzen et al. 2006).

The size of affinity tags are from a single amino acid to a whole protein (Pina, Batalha et al. 2014). Although many different affinity tags have been developed for production and purification of recombinant proteins, several of them have been widely use in high-throughput protein purification. Here we will review several affinity tags that have been most commonly applied in the protein purification process.

#### **1.4.2 His-tag**

The hexahistidine tag (His-tag) is by far the simplest and most commonly used purification tag for high-throughput protein purification. It usually consists of six histidine residues. However, its size can vary from two to ten consecutive histidine residues. These residues can bind with transition metal ions such as  $Ni^{2+}$  or  $Co^{2+}$  immobilized on a resin or beads for purification. Histag was first performed to purify recombinant galactose dehydrogenase by immobilized metal affinity chromatography (IMAC) (LILIUS, PERSSON et al. 1991). Nowdays, IMAC becomes the principal affinity strategy in all large structural genomics centers. Ni (II)-nitrilotriacetic acid (Ni-NTA), which manifests high affinity of histidine residues, is the most commonly matrix for IMAC (Hochuli, Bannwarth et al. 1988, Gaberc-Porekar and Menart 2001). The matrix of IMAC usually exhibits a high binding ability (5-40 mg of His-tagged protein/ mL of matrix), is low cost and able to regenerate multiple cycles. In addition, the His-tag also can work well under denaturing conditions. Since the His-tag binding the matrix does not require a specific protein conformation. As a matter of fact, under denaturing conditions, His-tag binding to matrix is stronger than usual as the His-tag is more exposed. IMAC can work with strong denaturing reagents such as urea, guanidinium-HCl and massive non-ionic detergents.

The tagged proteins binding with IMAC matrix can be eluted with imidazole (100-250 mM), low pH (< 5). In order to minimize nonspecific proteins, a low concentration of imidazole (10-50 mM) should be included in the lysate and wash buffers. When performing the purification process with IMAC, the agents which can reduce the immobilized metal ion should be avoided in all the buffers, such as EDTA, EGTA, DTT, DTE.

As the small size of His-tag, it minimizes the interference to the folding, structure and function of the recombinant proteins. Many proteins have been crystallized with His-tags and the His-tag not only has a little or no impact on the structure of the recombinant protein, but also, in some cases, assists the protein crystal formation (Carson, Johnson et al. 2007, Smits, Mueller et al. 2008). While this tag also can be removed by introducing one protease cleavage site into the expression constructs.

Anti-His antibodies have been developed for the detection of His-tagged proteins by Western Blot. Since the insect and mammalian cells have endogenous histidines, cross-reactivity of primary antibody will occur in Western blot.

### 1.4.3 GST tag

Recombinant glutathione S-transferase (GST) tag is a 26 kDa eukaryotic protein derived from the parasitic helminth *Schistosoma japonicum*, which, in some cases, exhibits improving solubility and expression as an N-ternini of the recombinant protein (Smith and Johnson 1988). GST tagged proteins can be purified from crude extracts by immobilized sepharose-glutathione matrix and the bounded protein can be eluted under mild conditions via a competitive elution with reduced glutathione (10-40 mM) at neutral pH (Smith and Johnson 1988, LaVallie, Lu et al. 2000). Unlike His-tagged proteins, EDTA and reducing agents can be used in all the buffers to reduce proteolytic damage. The affinity resins used for purification, such as Glutathione-Sepharose beads, are low cost, have high binding capacity (5-10 mg of GST-tagged protein/mL of resin) and can be regenerated multiple times.

The GST tagged proteins are usually expressed in high yields in *E.coli* which can cause the generation of inclusion bodies. However, the glutathione affinity chromatography purification is based on the three-dimension structure of GST tag protein. Therefore the insoluble recombinant proteins must be refolded correctly before purification. Besides this drawback, GST is a homodimer which is not unsuitable for isolation of oligomeric proteins (Kaplan, Erhardt et al. 1997). The four solvent exposed cysteines in each subunit of the GST dimer can be involved in oxidative aggregation (Kaplan, Erhardt et al. 1997). The big size of GST tag not only may affect

the characters of the fusion proteins but also devour more metabolic energy during expression than small tags.

GST fusion proteins can be detected by a colorimetric assay with the substrate 1-chloro-2, 4 dinitrobenzene (CDNB) (Habig, Pabst et al. 1974). Commercial anti-GST antibodies are also performed for detecting these tagged proteins.

GST tag has been successfully used for the detection of protein-protein or protein-DNA interaction (Singh and Asano 2007). In high-throughput proteomics, GST tagged proteins have been immobilized onto protein microarrays (Walls and Loughran 2011). The GST tag is also used with small affinity tags like His-tag in tandem to permit additional purification with IMAC purification system.

# 1.4.4 MBP tag

Maltose-binding protein (MBP) is a secreted *E. coli* protein involved in the maltose transport system of *E. coli*, which can be expressed at very high levels (Nikaido 1994, Kapust and Waugh 1999). The MBP is usually used to increase the yields or solubility of its fusion partner and also can be used for effective affinity purification. MBP can be placed in either N or C-termini to enhance the expression and folding of recombinant protein (Kapust and Waugh 1999, Riggs 2000, Dyson, Shadbolt et al. 2004). The MBP tagged proteins can be purified with cross-linked amylose resin column and one step affinity chromatography purification can lead to 70-90% purity of a fusion protein (Pattenden and Thomas 2008). The bound fusion protein can be eluted with 10 mM maltose. However, the crude cell extracts can affect the amylase activity of amylose resins and the resins only can be reused three to five times. In addition, amylose affinity

chromatography is unsuitable to denaturing and reducing agents. The MBP tagged proteins can be detected with anti-MBP antibodies.

In practice, MBP tagged proteins often fail to bind to the amylose affinity resin (Routzahn and Waugh 2002, Bell, Engleka et al. 2013). Furthermore, since MBP forms different conformations with or without bound maltose, the maltose will cause heterogeneity in the final product, which can affect the crystal formation (Spurlino, Lu et al. 1991, Sharff, Rodseth et al. 1992, Quiocho, Spurlino et al. 1997). To solve this case, MBP is often used with His tag in tandem for additional purification.

# 1.4.5 Other tags

At present, a large number of affinity tags have been developed for protein expression and purification (Table 3).

Affinity tag	Ligand	References
FLAG <sup>TM</sup>	mAb M1, M2	(Einhauer and Jungbauer
		2001)
c-myc	mAb 9E10	(Evan, Lewis et al. 1985)
Poly-Arg	Anionic resins	(Sassenfeld and Brewer 1984)
Poly-Asp	Cationic resins	(Stubenrauch, Bachmann et al.
		2000)
Poly-Cys	Thiopropyl Sepharose	(Zhao, Ford et al. 1990)
Glu	Cationic resins	(Dalbøge, Dahl et al. 1987)
β-Galactosidase	Thiogalactosidyl Sepharose	(Ullmann 1984)

Chloramphenicol acetyl		(DYKES, BOOKLESS et al.
transferase	Chloramphenicol Sepharose	1988)
Staphylococcal protein A	IgG	(Nilsson and Abrahmsén 1990)
Cellulose-binding domain	Cellulose	(Tomme, Boraston et al. 1998)
Starch-binding domain	Starch	(Luojing, Ford et al. 1991)
Exoglucanase CBD	Cellulose	(Ong, Greenwood et al. 1989)
Thioredoxin	Require a purification tag	(Katti, LeMaster et al. 1990)
N-Utilization substance (NusA)	Require a purification tag	(Liu and Hanna 1995)
Small ubiquitin modifier (SUMO)	Require a purification tag	(Marblestone, Edavettal et al. 2006)
Bio tag	Streptavidin/avidin	(Schatz 1993)
Strep-tag	Streptavidin	(Skerra and Schmidt 2000)

# Table 3. Other affinity tags for protein expression and purification

# **1.5 Protein-protein interactions**

Protein-protein interactions play essential roles in most cellular processes, including mediating signal transduction, maintaining cellular organization, adjusting the activity of metabolic and signaling enzymes (Braun and Gingras 2012). Over 80% of proteins operate in complexes. Therefore, the analysis of protein-protein interactions is important for understanding the function of proteins which are associated with series of biochemical reactions in vivo. Methods for detecting protein-protein interactions have been developed.

#### 1.5.1 Yeast two-hybrid system

The yeast two-hybrid system is one of the most widely used methods for detection or confirmation protein-protein interactions. This system is based on that many transcription factors have at least two functionally distinct domains, one that mediates transcriptional activation (AD) and another that directs binding to a promoter DNA sequence (BD). The original method was developed by Fields and Song (Fields and Song 1989). The transcription factors employed for this system can activate a reporter gene when its BD and AD are connected. To detect whether two proteins have interactions, each protein is fused to one of these two domains respectively. These two fused proteins are cloned in expression plasmids and then transfected into yeast cells. If these two proteins interact, the transcription of the reporter gene will initiated (Figure 7).

In the original method, the yeast two-hybrid system is GAL4 protein-based. One system derived from LexA protein also has been developed as one alternative (Golemis and Khazak 1997). In this system, an 88-residue acidic *E.coli* peptide acts as a transcriptional activation domain in yeast and binding domain is provided by LexA protein which acts as a transcriptional repressor when bound to LexA operators (Uetz, Titz et al. 2008).

The reporter genes used to indicate a protein interaction are commonly under one artificial promoter construct, which include an upstream activation sequence and a TATA sequence. Most reporter genes are integrated into the yeast genome. So that special yeast strains are needed for this system. The classical yeast host for this system is *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. β-galactosidase (lacZ) is usually used as one reporter gene. However, lacZ is not so suitable for library screening. Other reporter genes, such as metabolic enzymes which are commonly involved in histidine metabolism (His3), adenine metabolism, leucine metabolism (Leu2) and uracil metabolism (Ura3), have been exploited (Uetz, Titz et al. 2008). These metabolic enzyme reporters which are

deleted or mutated in the yeast strain, allow the cell to grow when the bait and prey proteins interact. An interaction can be easily selected by culturing the modified yeast strain on media without histidine or leucine.

However, this system has some limitations. The interacted fusion proteins are restricted in the nucleus. This limits the study of the trans-membrane proteins which are lack of localization. In addition, the proteins that are transported into the nucleus may not obtain post-translational modification (Kuroda, Kato et al. 2006). Moreover, some proteins of signal transduction pathways which need post-translational modification for their function to interact with other factors require modification enzymes that are not exist in yeast (Guan and Kiss-Toth 2008). To compensate for the limits of the yeast two-hybrid system, many variations of yeast two-hybrid system have been developed.

The three-hybrid system was developed to address the post-modification issue by co-expressing the necessary enzymes in yeast to facilitate the post-modification of the proteins. Protein phosphorylation is the most common modification, which requires particular kinases. This was first attained by Osborne *et al* (Osborne, Dalton et al. 1995). They expressed the tyrosine kinase Lck with an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM)-containing IgE receptor-derived bait and then screened their libraries to identify prey proteins which specifically interact with bait protein. Another use of the three-hybrid system is detection of weak interactions between multiple proteins. Frequently, proteins bind many other proteins and form a multimeric protein complex which contains both weak and strong interactions. To identify new proteins that interact with a protein of interest, co-expression of a previously defined interacting protein might provide a stronger interaction that enable to identify the novel proteins with lower affinity interaction (Tomashek, Sonnenburg et al. 1996, Tirode, Malaguti et al. 1997).

The bacterial two-hybrid system has been established. These systems are based on DNA loop formation, RNA polymerase recruitment, hybrid ToxR activators, dihydrofolate reductase, hybrid transcriptional repressors and the recombination of a cAMP signaling cascade (Kolmar, Hennecke et al. 1995, Dove, Joung et al. 1997, Dimitrova, Younes-Cauet et al. 1998, Karimova, Pidoux et al. 1998, Kornacker, Remsburg et al. 1998, Pelletier, Campbell-Valois et al. 1998). Compare with the yeast system, this system has more advantages, such as higher transformation efficiency, fast growth, nuclear localization not required, conciseness of experimental procedures and fewer indirect interactions by endogenous proteins (Guan and Kiss-Toth 2008). Therefore, the *E. coli* two-hybrid system is more suitable for large-scale protein-protein interaction analysis.

The mammalian two-hybrid system also has been exploited (Dang, Barrett et al. 1991, Vasavada, Ganguly et al. 1991). This system is similar to the yeast two-hybrid system. In the mammalian cells, proteins undergo post-translational modification, including phosphorylation, acylation and glycosylation. Therefore, the protein-protein interactions which base on the post-modifications can be detected.

However, the most serious problem of the two-hybrid system is a large number of false-positives and false-negatives. It has been estimated that maybe approximate 50% of the identified interactions are unreliable (Deane, Salwiński et al. 2002). Therefore, other methods should be used to confirm the interactions identified by the two-hybrid system.



**Figure 7. Yeast two-hybrid system** (Berggård, Linse et al. 2007). Many transcription factors have at least two functionally distinct domains, one that mediates transcriptional activation (AD) and another that directs binding to a promoter DNA sequence (BD). In the system, two plasmids are constructed, which contain a bait protein fused to a BD and a prey protein fused to an AD respectively. These two constructs are co-expressing in yeast cell. If the bait and prey proteins interact, the transcription of the reporter gene is initiated.

# 1.5.2 GST pull-down assay

The GST pull-down assay is one widely used method to detect the interactions of two or more proteins in vitro. The GST pull-down is first described in 1991 (Kaelin, Pallas et al. 1991). Traditionally, GST pull-down has been performed to confirm interactions identified from two-hybrid system or other screening methods. This method is based on affinity chromatography. GST fusion proteins can be easily purified from *E.coli* or other hosts by incubating the GST-fused protein lysate with glutathione sepharose beads or resin. The non-specific proteins can be

washed off with neutral washing buffer, such as PBS. Usually, the purified proteins don't require elution and can be incubated with a second purified protein or an extract to detect the interaction. After incubation, the protein interaction complex is washed with washing buffer to remove the non-specific proteins. The final interaction complex can be eluted or boiled directly with SDS loading buffer and the results can be checked by SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) (Figure 8). If the protein concentration is high, it can be stained in the gel. While if the protein is not sufficient for staining, Western blot or mass spectrometry should be used to detect the interact protein. In this assay, a negative control, GST tag alone, should be included to limit the non-specific interactions. Since the GST tag can enhance the solubility and folding of the fused protein, it can produce high quality bait proteins which favor to maintain the original interaction propensity (Singh and Asano 2007).

The radio-labeled prey proteins, such as <sup>35</sup>S, which can be obtained from in vitro transcription or translation from a PCR fragment containing a promoter and ORF of the protein of interest, are commonly used (Uetz, Titz et al. 2008). Commercially kits, such as the Promega TnT T7 or S6 RNA polymerase- coupled system, are available.

Except GST tag, other tags also can be used to detect the protein interactions, such as poly-His tag, FLAG tag, C-myc tag and CBP (Uetz, Titz et al. 2008).



**Figure 8. GST pull down assay** (Thermo protein interaction technical handbook). The GSTfused bait protein is purified from cell lysate and the unbound proteins are washed off. The bait protein linked with glutathione sepharose or resin is incubated with lysate containing prey protein. The non-specific proteins can be washed off with washing buffer. The interaction complex is eluted or boiled directly and analyzed on SDS-PAGE.

# 1.5.3 Co-immunoprecipitation

Co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP) is one of most commonly methods for confirming proteinprotein interactions. Co-IPs usually use sepharose beads coated with protein A which is isolated from *Staphylococcus aureus* (Sjöquist, Meloun et al. 1972). The constant chains of IgG antibodies have high affinity to bind with protein A. Therefore the sepharose-protein A can be coated with specific antibodies. This matrix can be incubated with cell extract. The proteins which are recognized by the antibody can bind to the column. The non-specific proteins can be washed with washing buffer. The bound proteins can be boiled directly with loading buffer and separated in SDS-PAGE and Western blot.

The proteins also can be identified with mass spectrometry. A major limitation of co-IPs is the requirement of specific antibodies. Furthermore, an epitope-tag fused bait protein which is expressed by one plasmid can be used as an alternative method of specific antibodies (Masters 2004). The epitope-tag antibody can be used in the co-IP experiment. The tags commonly used are hemagglutinin (HA), FLAGT and myc peptides (Singh and Asano 2007). The advantage of this method is that the antibodies against the tags are commercial and specific and the epitope-tagged proteins can be eluted with competing peptides or other molecules. Usually, the specific elution can reduce the protein contamination in the eluate (Berggård, Linse et al. 2007).

## **1.5.4 Mass spectroscopy**

Mass spectroscopy (MS) is a powerful tool for macromolecular interactions research. The principle of MS is using the gas phase ions as one way to characterize molecular structure and separating the ions based on their mass-to-charge ratios to identify polypeptide sequences (Aebersold and Mann 2003, Di Tullio, Reale et al. 2005). At present, two ionization techniques, Matrix Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization (MALDI) and Electrospray Ionization (ESI), are used to convert peptide molecules from the condensed phase into gas phase ions (Whitehouse, Dreyer et al. 1985, Karas and Hillenkamp 1988, Pieles, Zürcher et al. 1993). Before analysis by MS, proteins should be digested with trypsin to get small peptides for ionization. ESI transfer peptides from a liquid phase to a gas phase ions under atmospheric pressure. In MALDI, the peptides are embedded in a matrix which absorbs laser light to allow ions desorption for analysis

by MS. MALDI is often used with time-of-flight (TOF), which permits more sensitive and accurate measurement of peptides. These peptides are identified by peptide mass fingerprinting (PMF) which can compare the peptide masses obtained from MS to the actual and theoretical peptide masses generated from a protein or DNA database. Except PMF, MS also use tandem MS (MS/MS) to identify proteins (Hunt, Yates et al. 1986).

For identification of interacted proteins, MS is usually used to identify proteins coupled with other protein separation methods, such as affinity purification, one or two-dimensional SDS-PAGE and HPLC. For example, the interaction proteins are separated on a SDS-PAGE and stained with silver or Coomassie blue dye. The visible bands can be cut and identified by peptide mass fingerprinting with MALDI-TOF MS. Alternatively, the protein can be digested directly and separated by online HPLC and analyzed by tandem MS.

#### 1.5.5 Tandem affinity purification tag method

Tandem affinity tag (TAP) is one of the best known methods to purify protein. The TAP tag consists of two affinity tags separated by a cleavage site of tobacco etch virus protease (TEV) (Rigaut, Shevchenko et al. 1999, Puig, Caspary et al. 2001). The application of TEV protease can minimize the chance of cleaving the target protein or other interacted proteins since the cleave sequence of TEV protease is uncommon in the proteome.

A TAP-tagged protein is expressed in a host where it can form interacted complex with other proteins. The TAP-tagged protein complex is purified with a specific column binding the first part of TAP tag. After washing off the non-specific proteins, the TAP-tagged protein complex is cleaved by TEV protease and the first tag is on the column. The second tag of TAP tag still fused with the target protein complex in the eluate. And then, the second column which can bind the

second tag of TAP tag is used for further purification. After washing, the final target protein complex is eluted from the column. The protein complex is separated on a SDS-PAGE gel and analyzed with western blot or MS (Figure 9).

Many tags can be used in TAP tag method, such as his, FLAG, HA, protein A, myc and calmodulin binding peptide (CBP). The original TAP method use protein A and calmodulin binding peptide tags separated by TEV protease. Other protease cleavage sits also can be used, such as Enterokinase and Factor Xa. Inteins which can do self-cleaving tagged protein without protease, have been successfully used (Xu, Paulus et al. 2000).

The advantage of TAP tag method is that two purification steps reduce the non-specific binding compare with other affinity based methods. In addition, the target protein complex is formed in vivo. However, two purification steps maybe result in the loss of transient or weak proteinprotein interactions. Another problem is that a large amount of material is needed for the purification and identification of low abundance binding proteins. TAP tag method also generates a lot of false positives.



**Figure 9. Schematic representation of TAP tag method** (Kuroda, Kato et al. 2006). Target protein is fused with TAP tag which consists of protein A, CBP and a TEV protease cleavage site between these two tags. The target protein complex (TAP tagged protein and its associated proteins) is first purified with IgG beads. After washing, the target protein complex is cleaved by TEV protease, followed by the second affinity purification with calmodulin-coated beads. The final target protein complex is eluted from the column and identified with MS.
#### **1.5.6 Far western blotting**

Far western blotting (Far WB) was originally applied to screen protein expression libraries with <sup>32</sup>P-labeled GST-fusion proteins (Blackwood and Eisenman 1991, Kaelin, Krek et al. 1992). Now, Far WB has been used to detect protein-protein interactions, such as screen interacting partners in a library and receptor-ligand interactions (Kaido, Inoue et al. 2007). Compare with regular western blot, the only difference is that, after transferring the first protein (as bait protein) to the membrane, instead of detecting a protein on a membrane with antibodies directly, the membrane is then incubated with another protein (as prey protein) which maybe interacts with the membrane-bound protein. After washing, the membrane is incubated with an antibody against the second protein. If the second protein binds with that first protein, it can be detected.

Far WB is widely used to confirm protein-protein interactions identified by high-throughput screening or other methods and also used to identify interacted proteins of a bait protein (Feldman, Zusman et al. 2005, Gupta, Sharma et al. 2007). Moreover, Far WB can be used to detect the interaction domains. A bait protein is digested with a protease and the fragments are transferred onto a membrane. The membrane is incubated with the prey protein which just binds to the fragments that contain the interaction domain.

In addition, surface plasmon resonance analysis (SPR), fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) system and confocal microscopy are also used to detect the protein-protein interactions (Karlsson, Michaelsson et al. 1991, Jares-Erijman and Jovin 2003, Berggård, Linse et al. 2007).

# 1.6 Insect bioassay

Since 1975, baculoviruses are commercially available for their use as bio-insecticides (Szewczyk, Rabalski et al. 2009), becoming useful agents in biological control programs against lepidopteran

pests. Baculoviruses have a narrow host range, strong pathogenicity, are harmless to non-target organisms, stable in the environment, and can be applied using simple methods (Szewczyk, Hoyos-Carvajal et al. 2006). Worldwide, several wild-type baculoviruses are used for controlling local pests. For example, Helicoverpa armigera nucleopolyhedrovirus (HaMNPV) has been used for large-scale biopesticide production and has been extensively used on cotton fields in China and India since 1993 (Zhang, Sun et al. 1995, Srinivasa, Babu et al. 2008). Another two notable examples are the application of Spodoptera frugiperda NPV (SfMNPV) to protect annually about 20,000 hectares of maize in Brazil and the Anticarsia gemmatalis NPV (AgMNPV) to control the velvet-bean caterpillar in soybean crop (Moscardi 1999). In Europe and the United States, several formulations of baculoviruses (SPOD-X TM and Spodopterin TM containing the Spodoptera exigua MNPV and Spodoptera littoralis MNPV, respectively) have become important agents for controlling *Spodoptera* pests in cotton, corn, and tomatoes crops (Szewczyk, Rabalski et al. 2009). In addition, formulations of Spodoptera exigua NPV (SeMNPV) are being used to protect crops of sweet peppers in Spain against Spodoptera exigua. In 2009, the application of this biological insecticide has protected crops grown in 23,000 ha just in Spain (Caballero, Murillo et al. 2009).

However, the application of the baculoviruses is limited by biological or technical reasons. Most baculoviruses have a low speed of kill, therefore, their insect hosts, which continue feeding for days after infection, produce considerable crop damage before succumbing to the viral infection. Higher doses of the baculoviruses are often necessary for adequate control. Baculoviruses are used in early insect development stages as if used in the late stages, several lepidopteran pests are more resistant to infection (Valadez-Lira, Alcocer-Gonzalez et al. 2012). Baculoviruses have low persistence in very sunny conditions as well. In addition, some cultural practices can affect viral persistence, hiding the viral particles in the soil (Rodriguez, Belaich et al. 2012).

Genetically engineered baculoviruses have been successfully developed to enhance the insecticidal activity of the original wild-type virus. Insertion into baculoviruses with genes encoding for proteins interfering specifically with insect metabolism or metamorphosis such as toxins (Inceoglu, Kamita et al. 2001), hormones (Elvira, Williams et al. 2010), and enzymes (Gramkow, Perecmanis et al. 2010), are more efficient in speed of kill than the wild-type viruses. Incorporation of genes that interfere with insect immune responses into baculovirus genomes, e.g. polydnavirus (PDV) genes, may potentially enhance their efficacy. PDVs are double stranded DNA viruses symbiotically associated with endoparasitoid wasps that are injected along with the endoparasitoid eggs into the Lepidopteran host hemocoel during oviposition, thus enabling endoparasitoids to escape the cellular defense of their habitual host caterpillars (Tanaka, Matsumoto et al. 2002, Gundersen-Rindal and Lynn 2003).

*Cotesia rubecula* PDV gene (CrV1) is the best characterized gene among four gene products detected in *Pieris rapae* tissues (Asgari, Hellers et al. 1996). CrV1 gene product is a secreted glycoprotein expressed in the hemocytes and fat body cells of *Pieris rapae*. The CrV1 proteins have been implicated in depolymerization of the actin cytoskeleton of host hemocytes disabling the capacity of hemocytes to spread onto foreign surfaces (Asgari, Hellers et al. 1996). In *Cotesia rubecula*, CrV1 is the main gene that is expressed in the host hemocyte. Homologues of this gene have been found in PDVs from other wasps (Le, Asgari et al. 2003).

*Pieris rapae* (Linnaeus) (Lepidoptera: Pieridae) was first found in Quebec, Canada in 1860 (Harcourt 1963) and it is now widespread in North America. The insect has been also observed in Bermuda, Australia, Hawaii, and other Pacific Islands (Opler and Krizek 1984). *Pieris rapae* 

50

is an important pest on the crucifer and caper families, such as cabbage, cauliflower, broccoli, and collard (Opler and Krizek 1984). Scanty research has been published about the effect of *A*. *californica* multiple nucleopolyhedrovirus (AcMNPV) infection on *Pieris rapae*. *Spodoptera exigua* is one of the best-known agricultural pest insects with a wide host range that includes asparagus, beans and peas, sugar and table beets, celery, cole crops, lettuce, potato, tomato, cotton, cereals, oilseeds, tobacco, many flowers, and a multitude of weed species; it produces serious economic losses in many areas around the world (Zheng, Cong et al. 2011). *Spodoptera exigua* is susceptible to infection by several MNPVs such as AcMNPV, *S. littoralis* MNPV, SfMNPV, and *Mamestra brassicae* MNPV.

# **2** Justification

In *Cotesia rubecula*, CrV1 is the only gene that expressed in the host hemocytes and it is sufficient to inactivate hemocytes. However the proteins that interact with CrV1 protein are still unknown. In this study, we will investigate the interacted proteins by GST pull-down assay, which could help to understand the mechanism of immune suppression in parasitoid system. In addition, there is still no published research about insecticidal activity of CrV1 protein. In this work, bioassay will be carried out, which could help to investigate the insecticidal activity of CrV1.

# **3 Objectives**

# 3.1 General objective

In this study, the interacted protein and insecticidal activity of immunosuppressive CrV1 protein in *Spodoptera exigua* and *Pieris rapae* will be investigated.

# **3.2 Specific objectives**

1. To express the CrV1 protein in the baculovirus expression system for further protein interaction analisys and modify baculorvirus to improve it as bioinsecticide.

2. To investigate the interacted proteins of CrV1 protein in *Pieris rapae* larvae lysate by pulldown.

3. To perform bioassay with pAcUW21-CrV1 baculovirus against two insect pests *Spodoptera exigua* and *Pieris rapae* to check the insecticidal activity of immunosuppressive CrV1 protein in larvae.

# 4 Materials and methods

#### 4.1 Construction of recombinant transfer vector with CrV1 gene

The maps of two transfer vectors were shown in Figure 10. The clone digrams for construction of two recombinant transfer vectors with CrV1 gene were shown in Figure 11 and 12. All the formulations of solutions used in the experiment were listed in Appendix B.

#### **4.1.1** Competent cells preparation

A glycerol stock of *Escherichia.coli* DH5α stain was streaked onto one LB agar plate and the plate was incubated at 37 °C overnight (SHEL LAB Incubator). Next day, a single colony was inoculated into 5 mL LB medium and grown at 37 °C overnight with 250 rpm shaking. 1 mL of the culture was inoculated into 100 mL LB medium in a sterile 500 mL flask and grown at 37 °C in a shaking incubator (Thermo Scientific MaxQ HP 480 incubator) with 250 rpm until OD<sub>600</sub> reached 0.6. The culture was chilled on ice for 30 min and then transferred into two 50 mL pre-chilled, sterile centrifuge tubes (Corning®). The tubes were centrifuged at 3800 rpm (Allegra<sup>TM</sup> 6R centrifuge) at 4 °C for 30 min. The supernatant was discarded and each pellet was gently resuspended in 30 mL sterile, ice-cold, 0.1 M CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution. The resuspended cells were incubated on ice for 30 min and centrifuged at 3800 rpm at 4 °C. The supernatant was poured off and each pellet was gently resuspended in 2 mL ice-cold 0.1 M CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution which contained 10% glycerol. 100 µL aliquots of resuspended cells were dispensed into ice-cold, sterile, 1.5 mL tubes and stored at -80 °C freezer (Thermo Scientific) immediately (Seidman, Struhl et al. 1997).

#### 4.1.2 Primers design

To construct recombinant expression transfer vector, which was used to express and purify CrV1 protein, the pAcGHLT-B transfer vector (BD Biosciences) was selected (Figure 10). The primers designed CrV1 amplification. The forward were for gene primer (5'-ATACTCGAGACATGTCACTCGTCAAAAGTGCGTC-3') contained the Xho I restriction site, while the reverse primer (5'-ACTGGTACCGCAAGTTCAGCCTGGTTAAGT-3') contained Kpn I restriction site. To construct recombinant AcMNPV baculoviruses expressing the CrV1 protein (AcMNPV-CrV1), the pAcUW21 transfer vector (BD Biosciences) was selected (Figure 10). The primers for amplifying the CrV1 gene were designed to contain the Bgl II restriction site in the forward primer (5'-GGCAGATCTATGTCACTCGTCAAAAGTGCGTC-3') and reverse primer (5'-GGCAGATCTGCAAGTTCAGCCTGGTTAAGT-3'). The reverse primer (5'-GGCCGGTACCAAATTGGAAAATATATTCATTTATTC-3') was designed to detect the CrV1 gene transcription in insect cells. The primers which were used to sequence the with recombinant constructs CrV1 gene were also designed (5'-CCAGTATGAATATGAATCTGAAACAT-3' and 5'-CTAGAGGTTGCGGTGAGATT-3'). All the primers were ordered from Eurofins and dissolved in sterile Milli-Q water to 100 µM concentration stocks. The working concentration of the primers was  $25 \,\mu$ M.



Figure 10. Maps of two transfer vectors-pAcGHLT-B and pAcUW21. The pAcGHLT-B contains a 6×His tag and GST tag upstream of multiple cloning sites (MCS). All the foreign inserts are in frame with the GST open reading frame under polyhedrin promoter. The recombinant protein will be expressed as a GST containing 6×His fusion protein. Therefore, the recombinant proteins can be purified with Ni-NTA agarose and glutathione agarose beads. After purification, the GST and 6×His tags can be removed by thrombin. The transfer vector also has an ampicillin antibiotic resistance marker and baculovirus recombination regions for generation of recombinant baculovirus by homologous recombination. The pAcUW21 transfer vector contains AcMNPV p10 promoter, polyhedrin promoter and SV40 transcription termination signals inserted into upstream of the complete AcMNPV polyhedrin gene. The foreign inserts can be cloned into the *Bgl* II or *EcoR* I site under the p10 promoter. The recombinant virus will be occlusion body-positive. This vector is usually used to research the producing recombinant protein in insect larvae. This transfer vector also contains antibiotic resistance gene and baculovirus recombination regions as pAcGHLT-B.



**Figure 11. Clone diagram of recombinant transfer vector pAcGHLT-B-CrV1.** The CrV1 fragments were amplified from an original plasmid with specific primers containing *Xho* I and *Kpn* I restriction sites. The CrV1 fragments and transfer vector were digested with *Xho* I and *Kpn* I respectively. After ligation and transformation, the recombinant constructs were identified by colony PCR, confirmed by PCR, digestion with *Xho* I and *Kpn* I, and sequencing analysis.



**Figure 12.** Clone diagram of recombinant transfer vector pAcUW21-CrV1. The CrV1 fragments were amplified from an original plasmid with specific primers containing *Bgl* II restriction sites. The CrV1 fragments and transfer vector were digested with *Bgl* II. After ligation and transformation, the recombinant constructs were identified by colony PCR, confirmed by PCR, digestion with *Bgl* II and sequencing analysis.

# 4.1.3 Amplification of CrV1 gene by polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

The CrV1 cDNA clone was provided by Dr Sanssan Asgari from the University of Queensland, Australia. To amplify CrV1 gene, pfu DNA polymerase (Prospec) was used. PCR reaction was performed in a final volume of 25  $\mu$ L, including 0.5  $\mu$ L DNA template (200-300 ng/  $\mu$ L), 0.5  $\mu$ L forward primer (25  $\mu$ M), 0.5  $\mu$ L reverse primer (25  $\mu$ M), 0.5  $\mu$ L dNTPs (10 mM), 1  $\mu$ L MgCl<sub>2</sub> (50 mM), 2.5  $\mu$ L reaction buffer (10×), 0.2  $\mu$ L pfu DNA polymerase and 19.3  $\mu$ L sterile Milli-Q water. The PCR was carried out with initial denaturation at 95 °C for 5 min followed by 25 cycles (95 °C for 30 s, 62 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 2 min and 10 s) and 72 °C for 10 min. PCR products were stored at -20 °C.

# 4.1.4 Agarose gel electrophoresis

PCR results were analyzed through agarose gel electrophoresis. 0.8% agarose gel was prepared for separating the DNA fragments. 0.4 g of agarose was added to 50 mL of 1×TAE electrophoresis buffer (40 mM Tris base, 20 mM Acetic acid, 2 mM EDTA, pH 8.2-8.4) and melted in a microwave. When the melted gel was cooled to approximately 55 °C, the gel was poured into a gel casting platform containing a well comb. After the gel solidified, the comb was removed and the gel was placed in an electrophoresis tank (Bio-rad) which contained sufficient 1× TAE buffer. 5 µL of SYBR<sup>®</sup> Gold nucleic acid gel stain (Invitrogen) was added to 1 mL of 5× green GoTaq<sup>®</sup> reaction buffer (Promega), which was used as sample loading buffer. PCR products were mixed with loading buffer and loaded into the wells. The gel was run with 90 volts for 30-60 min and then placed under UV light (Kodak Gel logic 112) to analyze the results.

# 4.1.5 DNA purification from agarose gel

To recover CrV1 gene from agarose gel for constructing recombinant plasmid, CrV1 fragment was cut from gel and put in a 1.5 mL tube. QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen) (Appendix A) was used to purify the DNA fragment. The quanlity and concentration of purified CrV1 fragment were analyzed through agarose gel electrophoresis.

# **4.1.6 Isolation of transfer plasmid**

A colony contained transfer plasmid (pAcGHLT-B or pAcUW21) was inoculated into 5 mL LB medium supplemented with ampicillin antibiotic and grown overnight at 37 °C with 250 rpm shaking (Thermo Scientific MaxQ HP 480 incubator). QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen) (Appendix A) purified with QIAquick PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen) (Appendix A) was used to extract the plasmid DNA. The quanlity and concentration of plasmid DNA were analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis.

# 4.1.7 Digestion of CrV1 fragments and two transfer plasmids with restriction endonucleases

To construct the recombinant transfer vector for expression and purification of CrV1 protein, the purified CrV1 fragments and pAcGHLT-B vector were digested with *Xho* I and *Kpn* I restriction endonucleases respectively. Each reaction was performed in a 60  $\mu$ L reaction volume, including 15  $\mu$ L plasmid DNA or CrV1, 6  $\mu$ L reaction buffer (10×), 3  $\mu$ L *Xho* I or *Kpn* I, 36  $\mu$ L sterile Milli-Q water. The reaction was mixed briefly and placed in a 37 °C incubator (SHEL LAB Incubator) for 2 h. After the first endonuclease digestion, the digested CrV1 or pAcGHLT-B was purified with QIAquick PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen) (Appendix A). The second enzyme was used for further digestion with the same reaction volume and condition. After the second

purification procedure, the digested CrV1 fragments and pAcGHLT-B vector were saved at -20 °C for later ligation. To construct recombinant AcMNPV baculovirus expressing the CrV1 protein for insect bioassay, the purified CrV1 fragments and pAcUW21 vector were digested with *Bgl* II respectively. The procedure was described above. After digestion, the digested pAcUW21 vector was treated with calf intestinal alkaline phosphatase (CIAP) to limit the self-ligation.

# 4.1.8 Ligation reaction

Two ligation reactions were performed, CrV1 with pAcGHLT-B and CrV1 with pAcUW21. Each ligation reaction was done in 10  $\mu$ L reaction volume, containing 0.5  $\mu$ L plasmid DNA, 7.5  $\mu$ L CrV1 fragment, 1  $\mu$ L 10× reaction buffer, 1  $\mu$ L T4 DNA ligase (Promega). The ligation reaction tubes were incubated at 4 °C overnight.

#### **4.1.9 Transformation**

Competent cells were thawed on ice. 100 µL cells were dispensed into each ligation tube and mixed gently. The tubes were placed on ice for 30 min. The cells were heat shocked for 45 s at 42 °C, then immediately placed on ice for 2 min. After adding 500 µL LB medium, the tubes were incubated at 37 °C in a shaker (Eppendorf thermomixer compact) at 300 rpm for 2 h. Each transformation mixture was centrifuged (Corning® LSE<sup>TM</sup> High Speed Microcentrifuge). After throwing most of supernatant, the cells were mixed with the left supernatant and spread on LB plates containing 100 ug/mL ampicillin. The plates were incubated at 37 °C incubator overnight.

# 4.1.10 Colony PCR for quick screen for recombinant constructs

In each tube, 15  $\mu$ L of sterile Milli-Q water was added. A sterile toothpick was used to pick up individual colony and dipped it into each PCR tube. After stirring, 3  $\mu$ L of the mixture was used

as DNA template in PCR reaction. Other mixture was stored at 4 °C. The colony PCR reaction volume is 25  $\mu$ L, including 3  $\mu$ L DNA template, 0.5  $\mu$ L forward primer (25  $\mu$ M), 0.5  $\mu$ L reverse primer (25  $\mu$ M), 0.5  $\mu$ L dNTPs (10 mM), 1  $\mu$ L MgCl<sub>2</sub> (50 mM), 2.5  $\mu$ L reaction buffer (10×), 0.2  $\mu$ L Taq DNA polymerase and 16.8  $\mu$ L sterile Milli-Q water. The PCR was carried out with initial denaturation at 95 °C for 5 min followed by 25 cycles (95 °C for 30 s, 62 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 1 min 30 s) and 72 °C for 10 min. The PCR results were analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis. The positive colony mixtures were inoculated into 5 mL of LB medium with ampicillin and grown at 37 °C overnight for extraction of recombinant constructs (Darst, Pardo et al. 2010).

#### 4.1.11 Confirmation of recombinant constructs by restriction endonucleases

Recombinant constructs were extracted using QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen) (Appendix A) and purified with QIAquick PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen) (Appendix A). After this, recombinant plasmids were digested with restriction endonucleases. The procedure was described above. After digestion, the results were analyzed in one agarose gel. This step was used to confirm the appearance of recombinant constructs. In addition, the extracted plasmids also can be used for sequencing analysis.

# 4.1.12 Sequencing analysis

BigDye® Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit was used to carry out the sequencing analysis. The reaction volume was 10  $\mu$ L, including 0.5  $\mu$ L plasmid DNA (300-400 ng/ $\mu$ L), 2  $\mu$ L primer (25  $\mu$ M), 2  $\mu$ L BigDye v3.1 ready mix, 2  $\mu$ L reaction buffer (5×), 3.5  $\mu$ L sterile Milli-Q water. The PCR procedure started with 96 °C for 5 min, followed by 25 cycles (96 °C for 10 s, 55 °C for 5 s, 62 °C for 4 min) and 4 °C forever. The PCR products were purified with Applied Biosystems BigDye® XTerminator<sup>TM</sup> purification Kit. For each purification reaction, 45  $\mu$ L of SAM solution and 10  $\mu$ L of XTerminator were mixed with 10  $\mu$ L of PCR products in a 1.5 mL tube, which was incubated at 25 °C for 30 min with maximum mix spend of Eppendorf ThermoMixer. And then, the mixture was centrifuged at 13000 rpm (Corning® LSE<sup>TM</sup> High Speed Microcentrifuge) for 2 min. 30  $\mu$ L of the supernatant was transferred into a new PCR tube and sent for sequencing analysis.

#### 4.2 Generation and amplification of recombinant AcMNPV baculoviruses

#### 4.2.1 Initiation of cell culture

One tube of Sf9 cells (Allele Biotechnology) (stored at -80 °C) was placed in 27.5 °C incubator (Eppendorf ThermoMixer) until thawing. Quickly sterilized the outside of the tube with 70% ethanol and placed on ice. After 4 mL of complete TNM-FH culture medium was added to a 25 cm<sup>2</sup> flask, thawed cells were transferred directly into one flask. The flask was placed at 27.5 °C (Precision scientific 818 low temperature illuminated incubator) and allowed cells to attach for 30 min. After the cells were attached, the medium was removed and 5 mL of fresh medium was supplied to the cells. After 24 h incubation at 27.5 °C, the culture medium was changed again and continued to incubate until confluence.

#### 4.2.2 Subculture of Sf9 cells

Confluence is a marker for subculturing cells. The subculture of insect cells includes adherent and suspension culture. In this study, we just used adherent culture. When cells were confluent, medium from flasks was removed and 4 mL of new medium was added to each flask. Cells were resuspended by pipetting medium across monolayer with a 1 mL pipette. The suspended cells were divided into four new flasks which contained 4 mL fresh medium. All the flasks were incubated at 27.5 °C for further use.

#### 4.2.3 The storage of Sf9 cells

Two flasks of confluent cells were suspended by pipetting and transferred into one sterile 15 mL centrifuge tube (Corning®). After centrifugation at 800 rpm (Allegra<sup>TM</sup> 6R centrifuge) for 10 min, supernatant was discarded and 2.7 mL of fresh medium was put in each tube for resuspending the cells. 300  $\mu$ L of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was added to each tube and mixed (10% DMSO as a final concentration). 1 mL of cell suspension was transferred into each sterile 1.5 mL tube and stored at -80 °C immediately.

#### **4.2.4 Co-transfection**

BD BaculoGold<sup>™</sup> Transfection Kit (BD Biosciences) was used for co-transfection. In this study, four co-transfection reactions were performed, including pVL1392-XylE control vector DNA (positive control), recombinant pAcGHLT-B transfer vector, recombinant pAcUW21 transfer vector and pAcGHLT-B transfer vector with linearized baculovirus DNA respectively. Recombinant pAcGHLT-B transfer vector will be used as an example to describe the co-transfection procedure.

Sf9 cells  $(3 \times 10^6)$  were seeded into one 25 cm<sup>2</sup> flask. After Sf9 cells attached firmly to the flask, culture medium was removed and 1 mL of transfection buffer A was added to Sf9 cell monolayer. Let all areas of the flask were covered with transfection buffer A. 2 ug of recombinant transfer vector pAcGHLT-B containing CrV1 cDNA and 0.5 ug of BD BaculoGold baculovirus DNA were mixed in a sterile 1.5 mL tube. After 5 min, 1 mL of transfection buffer B was added to the

mixture and mixed well. The mixture was added to Sf9 cells monolayer drop by drop, and after every three drops gently rocked the flask back to forth to mix well with the transfection buffer A. The flask was incubated at 27.5 °C for 4 h. After that, the transfection solution was removed from the flask and 5 mL of TNM-FH medium was added to the flask. After rocking the flask back and forth several times, the medium was discarded and another 5 mL of fresh TNM-FH medium was added. The co-transfection flask was incubated in a 27.5 °C incubator for at least 5 days. After incubation, cells and medium were collected to a sterile 15 mL centrifuge tube. After centrifugation at 800 rpm (Allegra<sup>TM</sup> 6R centrifuge) for 10 min at 4 °C, the supernatant was transferred to another sterile 15 mL centrifuge tube covered with aluminum foil and saved in a 4 °C refrigerator for further amplification.

# 4.2.5 Virus amplification

Co-transfection supernatant contains viruses which are referred as P0 stock virus. In this study, three recombinant baculoviruses were amplified three times to get the high titer virus stock for further study (Figure 13).



Figure 13. Illustration of virus amplification. The detail description is as follow.

For P1 amplification,  $4 \times 10^6$  Sf9 cells were seeded in a 25 cm<sup>2</sup> flask containing 5 mL of TNM-FH medium. After Sf9 cells attached to the flask for 15 min, 200 µL of P0 virus stock was added to the medium and the flask was incubated at 27.5 °C for 7 days. The medium containing viruses was collected in a sterile 15 mL centrifuge tube and centrifuged at 800 rpm (Allegra<sup>TM</sup> 6R centrifuge) for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was transferred into another sterile 15 mL centrifuge tube (Corning®) which was covered with aluminum foil and stored in a 4 °C refrigerator.

For P2 virus stock amplification,  $1.2 \times 10^7$  Sf9 cells were seeded in a 75 cm<sup>2</sup> flask with 15 mL TNM-FH medium. 200 µL of P1 virus stock was added into the medium. Incubated the flask at 27 °C for 7 days, collected medium, centrifuged at 800 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C, and kept the P2 viral stock at 4 °C.

For P3 virus stock amplification,  $3 \times 10^7$  Sf9 cells were seeded into a 182 cm<sup>2</sup> flask containing 30 mL of TNM-FH medium. 200 µL of viruses from P2 virus stock was added into the medium. After 7 days incubation, medium containing viruses was collected, centrifuged and stored at 4 °C (Unger and Peleg 2012).

# 4.2.6 Determination of virus titer by End-point Dilution Assay (EPDA)

One 25 cm<sup>2</sup> flask of exponential growth phase Sf9 cells was collected and centrifuged. The supernatant was removed and 3 mL of fresh medium was added. After mixing well, concentration of cell suspension was determined by hemocytometer measurement. Cell suspension was diluted to  $1 \times 10^5$  /mL. 100 µL of diluted cell suspension was dispensed to each well of a 96-well plate and attached for 1 h. During the cells were attaching, a serial of dilutions of one virus stock were prepared. 12 sterile 1.5 mL tubes were arrayed in a rack. 950 µL of

medium was added to each tube. 50  $\mu$ L of the virus stock to be determined was added to the tube 1. After mixing well, 50  $\mu$ L of mixture from tube 1 was transferred to tube 2. Repeated the last step for tubes 3 to 11 and left the medium in the last tube. 50  $\mu$ L of tube 2 was added the each well of column 1 of the plate. 50  $\mu$ L of tube 3 was dispensed to each well of column 2 of the plate. The same procedure was repeated for the left tubes. The last column of the plate was left as negative control. After gently mixing, the plate was incubated at 27.5 °C. After 5 days incubation, the signs of infection of each well were scored. Wells which received at least one productive virus particle infection were recorded positive, whereas wells which received no productive virus particles infection were recorded negative. All the results were listed under each dilution. The tissue culture infective dose (TCID<sub>50</sub>) is the dose which can infect the 50% of the wells. To calculate the TCID<sub>50</sub>, the proportional distance (PD) should first be calculated as follow:

$$DP = \frac{\text{(Positive percent above 50\%)} - 50\%}{\text{(Positive percent above 50\%)} - (Positive percent below 50\%)}$$

The product of DP \* logarithm of dilution factor was added to the logarithm of the lower dilution below 50% mortality, and the result was the logarithm of endpoint. The antilog of the logarithm of endpoint is the dilution capable of infect 50% of the wells (Reed and Muench 1938).

# 4.3 Transcription of CrV1 in the infected Sf9 cells

To confirm transcription of CrV1 gene in the infected Sf9 cells, reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) was performed.

# 4.3.1 Infection of Sf9 cells with recombinant baculoviruses

Sf9 cells  $(4 \times 10^6)$  were seeded in a 25 cm<sup>2</sup> flask with 5 mL of medium. After attaching to the flask for 15 min, 30  $\mu$ L of P2 virus stock was added to the flask. The flask was incubated at 27.5 °C

for 3 days. After incubation, infected cells were collected in a 15 mL centrifuge tube (Corning®) and centrifuged at 800 rpm for 10 min (Allegra<sup>TM</sup> 6R centrifuge) at 4 °C. Supernatant was discarded and 5 mL of 1× phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 4.3 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 1.47 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 7.4) was added to the tube. After mixing well, cell suspension was divided into five 1.5 mL tubes. Tubes were centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 1 min (Corning® LSE<sup>TM</sup> High Speed Microcentrifuge). Supernatant was removed and pellets were store at -20 °C for the extraction of RNA.

#### 4.3.2 RNA isolation from virus infected Sf9 cells

One milliliter of TRI reagent (Molecular Research Center) was added into the tube which contained pellet of virus infected Sf9 cell. Cells were lysed in TRI reagent by pipetting. After that, 100  $\mu$ L of chloroform was supplemented into the tube. Shake the tube vigorously for 15 s and let it still at room temperature for 15 min. The tube was centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 15 min at 4 °C (Hettich Mikro 22R centrifuge). The upper aqueous was transferred into another 1.5 mL tube which contained 0.5 mL of isopropanol. After mixing well, the sample was stored at room temperature for 10 min and then centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 15 min at 4 °C. Supernatant was discarded and RNA pellet was washed with 1 mL 75% ethanol which was prepared with DEPC water. The tube was centrifuged at 12000 rpm at 4 °C for 5 min and ethanol was removed. Let RNA pellet dry 5 min at room temperature and then added 50  $\mu$ L of nuclease free water into the tube. RNA was dissolved by incubating the tube at 55 °C for 10 min. The quanlity and concentration of RNA were analyzed via agarose gel electrophoresis. RNA was stored at -20 °C for further reverse transcription.

# 4.3.3 RNA extraction from infected Spodoptera exigua larvae

Infected *Spodoptera exigua* larvae (80 mg) were added into each 1.5 mL tube. 1 mL of TRI reagent was added to the tube followed by homogenizing larvae with polypropylene pestles. Other steps were described as above.

#### 4.3.4 Elimination DNA from RNA sample

Deoxyribonuclease I (DNase I) (Invitrogen) was used to digest DNA from RNA sample prior to RT-PCR. Reaction volume was 10  $\mu$ L, including 4  $\mu$ L (1 ug) RNA sample, 1  $\mu$ L 10× DNase I reaction buffer, 1  $\mu$ L DNase I (1 u/ $\mu$ L), 4  $\mu$ L nuclease free water (Promega). After mixing well, the reaction tube was incubated for 15 min at room temperature. DNase I was inactivated by adding 1  $\mu$ L of 25 mM EDTA solution to the reaction mixture and heated for 10 min at 65 °C. Treated RNA sample was ready for reverse transcription.

#### 4.3.5 Reverse transcription for infected Sf9 cells

Reverse transcription system from Promega was used in the reaction. The volume of the reaction was 20  $\mu$ L, containing 0.5  $\mu$ L recombinant RNasin® ribonuclease inhibitor, 4  $\mu$ L MgCl<sub>2</sub> (25 mM), 2  $\mu$ L 10× reverse transcription buffer, 2  $\mu$ L dNTP mixture (10 mM), 1  $\mu$ L random primers (0.5 ug/ $\mu$ L), 9.5  $\mu$ L RNA sample (1 ug), 1  $\mu$ L AMV reverse transcriptase (15 u/ $\mu$ L). After mixing, the reaction was incubated at room temperature for 10 min then incubated at 42 °C for 15 min. After sample was heated at 95 °C for 5 min then incubated on ice for 5 min. CDNA was ready for PCR amplification and stored at -20 °C.

# 4.3.6 Reverse transcription for infected Spodoptera exigua larvae

For CrV1 gene transcription in *Spodoptera exigua* larvae, M-MLV reverse transcriptase (promega) was used. The reaction volume was 25  $\mu$ L, including 5  $\mu$ L 5× reaction buffer, 1  $\mu$ L RNasin® ribonuclease inhibitor, 2  $\mu$ L dNTP mixture (10 mM), 1  $\mu$ L random primers (0.5 ug/ $\mu$ L), 1  $\mu$ L M-MLV reverse transcriptase (200 u/ $\mu$ L), 4  $\mu$ L RNA (2 ug), 11  $\mu$ L nuclease free water. After mixing by flicking the tube, they were incubated at 37 °C for 1 hour. CDNA was ready for PCR amplification and stored at -20 °C.

#### 4.3.7 PCR amplification

CDNA was diluted to 100  $\mu$ L with nuclease free water. 5  $\mu$ L of diluted cDNA was used as template. The PCR reaction volume was 25  $\mu$ L, containing 5  $\mu$ L cDNA, 0.5  $\mu$ L dNTP mixture (10 mM), MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.9  $\mu$ L (25 mM), 2.5  $\mu$ L 10× reverse transcription buffer, 0.5  $\mu$ L forward primer (25 mM), 0.5  $\mu$ L reverse primer (25 mM), 0.2  $\mu$ L Taq DNA polymerase, 13.9  $\mu$ L nuclease free water. PCR was carried out with denaturation at 95 °C for 5 min followed by 30 cycles (95 °C for 30 s, 62 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 1 min 20 s) and 72 °C for 10 min. PCR results were analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis.

# 4.3.8 DNA extraction from pAcUW21-CrV1 polyhedra

For DNA extraction, 200  $\mu$ L of 0.5 M Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> was added to 300  $\mu$ L of purified pAcUW21-CrV1 polyhedra suspension at 5×10<sup>8</sup> polyhedra/ml. After incubating at 60 °C for 10 min, the tubes were centrifuged at 3800×g for 5 min to remove undissolved polyhedra. The supernatant was treated with 15  $\mu$ L of proteinase K (50 mg/ml) at 50 °C for 15 min. Viral DNA was purified with chloroform-isoamyl alcohol (24:1) and centrifuged at 13000 rpm (Corning® LSE<sup>TM</sup> High Speed Microcentrifuge) for 15 min. 0.5 mL isopropanol was added to the supernatant in an new 1.5 mL

tube. After mixing well, the tube was put in the room temperature for 10 min followed by spinning at 13000 rpm for 15 min. Supernatant was discarded and pellet was washed with 600  $\mu$ L of 75% ethanol. Pellet was dissolved in 50  $\mu$ L TE buffer and incubated at 60 °C for 10 min. The quanlity of virus DNA was analyzed by gel electrophoresis. The left DNA was stored at -20 °C for further use.

# 4.4 Expression of CrV1 protein in the infected Sf9 cells

In this study, the expression of CrV1 protein from pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 recombinant baculovirus was detected.

#### 4.4.1 Infection of Sf9 cells with different MOI

Sf9 cells (4×10<sup>6</sup>) were seeded into each 25 cm<sup>2</sup> flask. 5 flasks were prepared. The titer of pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 recombinant baculovirus was determined by EPDA. Five different MOIs (1, 2, 5, 10, 15, 20) were tested. The corresponding dose of viruses of five different MOIs was inoculated into 5 flasks respectively. The flasks were incubated at 27.5 °C for 3 days. Floating and adherent cells of 5 flasks were collected into 15 mL centrifuge tubes (Corning®) respectively. The tubes were Centrifuged (Allegra<sup>TM</sup> 6R centrifuge) at 800 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was removed and 5 mL of cold 1× PBS buffer was added to each tube to wash the cells. After washing two times, 500 µL of PBS buffer containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma) was added to each pellet tube and mixed well. Cells were lysed by twice freeze and thaw cycle at -80 °C. After centrifuging the tubes at 12000 rpm at 4 °C for 20 min, the supernatant from each tube was transferred into a new 1.5 mL tube respectively. The supernatant was scored at -20 °C for further analysis by SDS-PAGE.

#### 4.4.2 SDS-PAGE

CrV1 protein expression was detected by SDS-PAGE. This gel includes two parts, separating gel and stacking gel. The SDS-PAGE electrophoresis apparatuses were ordered from Bio-Rad. Before gel preparation, the two clean and dry glasses were locked to the casting stand. 10% gel was prepared for analysis of CrV1 protein expression. For one mini SDS-PAGE gel, 5 mL of mixture was prepared, including 1.3 mL Tris-HCl (1.5 M, pH 8.9), 1.275 mL 40% acrylamide/bisacrylamide, 50 µL 10% SDS, 50 µL 10% ammonium persulfate, 2 µL TEMED, 2.325 mL Milli-Q water. The TEMED and 10% ammonium persulfate were added at last. After mixing, the mixture was poured into the glasses prepared at beginning until reached two-thirds of the short glass. 400 µL of isopropanol was added to the top of the separating gel. After 30 min polymerization, isopropanol was poured off and the top of gel was washed with Milli-Q water. For stacking gel, 3 mL of mixture was required for one mini gel, containing, 0.38 mL Tris-HCl (1 M, pH 6.9), 0.375 mL 40% acrylamide/bisacrylamide, 30 µL 10% SDS, 30 µL 10% ammonium persulfate, 3 µL TEMED, 2.225 mL Milli-Q water. The TEMED and 10% ammonium persulfate were added at last. After mixing, the solution was poured to the top of separating gel and then one comb was inserted into the layer of stacking gel solution. While the stacking gel polymerized, samples to be analyzed were prepared.

Each protein sample was diluted 4:1 (v/v) with 5×SDS PAGE loading buffer (250 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 10% SDS, 0.5% bromophenol blue, 50% glycerol, 500 mM DTT) and heated for 8 min at 98 °C in a 1.5 mL tube respectively. After centrifuging at 12000 rpm for 5 min (Corning® LSE<sup>TM</sup> High Speed Microcentrifuge), samples were ready to be loaded.

Comb was carefully removed from the gel and gel was assembled into one buffer tank which was filled with 1×SDS electrophoresis buffer (25 mM Tris base, 250 mM glycine, 0.1% SDS).

Protein samples were loaded into wells. Stacking gel was run at 80 volts while separating gel was run at 120 volts (Gallagher 2006).

# 4.4.3 Staining SDS-PAGE gel by blue silver

Blue silver is a sensitive colloidal Coomassie G-250 staining method. Dye solution was prepared as follow. For 1 L of staining solution, 100 mL of phosphoric acid was added to 100 mL of Milli-Q water and mixed. 100 g of ammonium sulfate was dissolved in the solution and then 1.2 g of Coomassie blue G-250 was added to the mixture. When all the solids had dissolved, Milli-Q water was added to 80% of the final volume. At last, 200 mL of methanol was added to the solution. The dye was stored at room temperature.

After the bromphenol blue reached the bottom of separating gel, gel was removed from the glasses and placed in fixing solution (60% methanol, 10% acetic acid) for 30 min. Gel was washed twice with Milli-Q water for 15 min at room temperature and then placed into staining dye overnight. Next day, gel was rinsed with Milli-Q water and stored at 4 °C for further use (Candiano, Bruschi et al. 2004).

# 4.5 Purification of CrV1 protein

#### 4.5.1 Infection of Sf9 cells with pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 recombinant baculovirus

For expression of CrV1 protein,  $2 \times 10^7$  cells were seeded into each 75 cm<sup>2</sup> flask. 4 flasks of cells were seeded. Let cells attached for 15 min. The optimal dose of viruses was inoculated into each flask. All the flasks were incubated at 27.5 °C for 3 days. After incubation, cells were collected into a 50 mL centrifuge tube (Corning®) and centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 15 min at 4 °C

(Allegra<sup>™</sup> 6R centrifuge). Cell pellets were washed twice with cold 1×PBS buffer and stored at - 20 °C for further purification.

# 4.5.2 Lysis of infected Sf9 cells

Sf9 cell pellets were resuspended in 4 mL of cold lysis buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, 300 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 10 mM DTT, 0.1% IGEPAL<sup>®</sup> CA-630, protease inhibitor cocktail, pH 7.5). Froze the pellet at -80 °C for 20 min and thawed at room temperature. The freeze and thaw cycle was repeated twice and the lysis was incubated on ice for 30 min. After centrifuging at 12000 rpm at 4 °C for 20 min (Hettich Mikro 22R centrifuge), the supernatant was transferred into a pre-chilled tube.

# 4.5.3 Purification of recombinant GST-fusion CrV1 protein

To purify recombinant protein, 100  $\mu$ L of glutathione sepharose 4B beads (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) which was completely resuspended by gently shaking the bottle was transferred into a column. The glutathione sepharose 4B beads were washed with 10× bed volumes of washing buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 10 mM DTT, 0.1% IGEPAL<sup>®</sup> CA-630, 5% glycerol, pH 7.5). After washing, cell lysate was applied to the equilibrated column and the column was incubated for 2 h on ice with end-over end mixing. After binding step was complete, the column was washed with 20× bed volumes of washing buffer. The fusion protein was eluted with 5 mL of elution buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 10 mM DTT, 5% glycerol, 10 mM reduced glutathione, pH 8.0). The eluted fusion protein was concentrated with an Amicon® Ultra filter device (Millipore) and analyzed by SDS-PAGE. Left purified protein was scored at -20 °C for further use.

#### 4.5.4 Ammonium sulfate precipitation

To optimize the purification condition, ammonium sulfate precipitation was utilized. 100 mL of 100% ammonium sulfate saturated solution was prepared. Saturated solution was stored at 4 °C overnight prior to use. A precipitation test was performed to determine the optimal ammonium sulfate precipitation condition for the purification of the recombinant protein, GST-CrV1. Six 1.5 mL tubes were arrayed in a rack and each tube contained 500  $\mu$ L of lysate from 1.2×10<sup>7</sup> cells of pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 baculovirus infected Sf9 cell. The calculated amount of 100% ammonium sulfate solution was added to each tubes to give 20%, 30%, 40%, 50%, 60%, 70% saturation, respectively. After mixing, tubes were incubated on ice for 1 h and centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 20 min at 4 °C (Hettich Mikro 22R centrifuge). The supernatant of each tube was transferred into another tube and each pellet was dissolved in 100 µL of lysis buffer for analyzing on SDS-PAGE gel later. The calculated amount of 100% ammonium sulfate solution was added to each supernatant to give the 20%-30%, 30%-40%, 40%-50%, 50%-60%, 60%-70% ammonium sulfate cuts (the proteins that are just soluble at 20% saturation but precipitate at 30% saturation are referred as the 20%-30% ammonium sulfate cut) respectively and mixed well. After incubating the tubes for 1 h on ice, tubes were centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 20 min at 4 °C. The supernatant of each tube was removed and each pellet was dissolved in 100 µL of lysis buffer for analyzing on SDS-PAGE.

The equation for calculation of the volume (A) of saturated ammonium sulfate solution to be added to 500  $\mu$ L of cell lysate to increase saturation from S<sub>1</sub> to S<sub>2</sub> is as follow (Burgess and Deutscher 2009).

 $500 \times S_1 + A \times 1.0 = (500 + A) \times S_2$ 

A (
$$\mu$$
L) = (500 × (S<sub>2</sub> - S<sub>1</sub>)) / (1 - S<sub>2</sub>)

# 4.6 GST pull-down assay

In this study, pull-down assay was performed to identify protein-protein interactions between CrV1 protein and proteins of *Pieris rapae* and *Spodoptera exigua* tissue lysate.

# **4.6.1** Preparation of insect lysates

One gram of insect larvae was homogenized with a polypropylene pestle in a centrifuge tube containing 5 mL lysis buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 10 mM DTT, 5% glycerol, 0.1% IGEPAL<sup>®</sup> CA-630, pH 7.5). The insect lysate was incubated on ice and placed on a shaker (Lab-Line 3520 Adjustable Speed Orbital Shaker) with 200 rpm for 30 min. After the lysate was centrifuged at 16000 rpm for 30 min at 4 °C (Hettich Mikro 22R centrifuge), the supernatant was transferred to a clean cold tube for further pre-clearing step.

Pre-clearing was used to remove the endogenous GSTs from the insect lysate. 50  $\mu$ L of glutathione sepharose beads was added to insect lysate and incubated on ice for 30 min with 200 rpm shaking. After centrifugation at 800 rpm (Allegra<sup>TM</sup> 6R centrifuge) for 3 min at 4 °C, the supernatant was transferred to a new tube and repeated this pre-clearing one time more.

### 4.6.2 GST pull-down

Pre-cleared insect lysate was added to one tube which contained 100  $\mu$ L glutathione sepharose beads with 5 ug of GST-CrV1 protein. The tube was incubated on ice for 2 h with end-over-end mixing and then centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 1 min at 4 °C (Hettich Mikro 22R centrifuge). The supernatant was removed and the beads were washed four times with ice-cold washing buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 10 mM DTT, 5% glycerol, 0.5% IGEPAL® CA- 630, pH 7.5). Centrifuged the tube and discarded the supernatant. The protein interaction complex was eluted by boiling the beads with 100  $\mu$ L of 1×SDS loading buffer and heated at 98 °C for 5 min. The tube was centrifuged and the supernatant was analyzed by SDS-PAGE.

One GST tag protein was used as one control. GST tag protein was purified from pAcGHLT-B recombinant baculovirus. The infection, expression, purification and pull-down procedures of GST tag protein were the same as GST fusion CrV1 protein (Brymora, Valova et al. 2004).

#### 4.6.3 Western blot

GST antibody (GenScript) was used to confirm the expression of GST fusion CrV1 protein. The procedure was described as follow. The samples needed to be identified were separated on a SDS-PAGE gel as described above. Stacking gel was cut off and separating gel was placed in transfer buffer (25 mM Tris base, 190 mM glycine, 20% methanol). PVDF membrane was soaked in methanol for 30 s and then put in transfer buffer. Other material, including two fiber pads and two Whatman papers, were also placed in transfer buffer. After 15 min, transfer sandwich was prepared on the black panel of transfer apparatus gel cassettes in a tray filled with transfer buffer. The order was that, one fiber pad, one Whatman paper, SDS-PAGE gel, PVDF membrane, one Whatman paper, one fiber pad. The sandwich was covered with clear panel and gel cassette was inserted into one electrode module with black panel facing to black cathode electrode panel. Buffer chamber was filled with transfer buffer and incubated on ice. The process of transfer lasted 1.5 h at 100 volts.

After transfer, the membrane was incubated with blocking buffer (3% BSA, dissolved in TBS) on a shaker for 2 h at room temperature. After blocking, the membrane was washed twice with TBS (20 mM Tris, 500 mM NaCl, pH 7.5) and incubated with the primary antibody, GST

antibody, which was diluted with antibody dilution buffer (3% BSA, dissolved in TBST) (1:5000), at 4 °C overnight. Next day, the primary antibody solution was collected and saved at 4°C, which can be reused several times. The membrane was washed six times with TBST (0.05% Tween 20 in TBS) on a shaker (Lab-Line 3520 Adjustable Speed Orbital Shaker) for 6 min each time. After washing, the membrane was incubated with the second antibody, HRP conjugated IgG antibody, which was diluted with antibody dilution buffer (1:10000), on a shaker for 1.5 h at room temperature. The membrane was washed six times with TBST on a shaker for 6 min each time. The membrane was stained with DAB solution (30 mg DAB, 60  $\mu$ L 30% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, 50 mL TBS).

#### 4.7 Bioassy

#### 4.7.1 Insects rearing

Spodoptera exigua larvae were reared in 30 mL plastic cups with 5 mL of an artificial diet capped with cardboard. Larvae were incubated under controlled conditions  $26 \pm 1$  °C with a photoperiod of 14/10 h light/dark and 65 ±5% RH until pupation. Pupae were placed in 4 L plastic containers used as emergency chambers. Chambers were coated inside with paper towels and covered with a piece of cheese cloth hold with a rubber band until adult emergency. After oviposition, eggs were collected during 5 days, and second instar larvae were used for all tests. The emerged caterpillars were reared on a soy flour-based artificial diet (Mihm 1984) and growth in cups at 26 °C under 10L:14D photoperiod, and 70% ±1% humidity. Adults were fed on 10% sugar water solution using similar insectary conditions. *Pieris rapae* were bought from Carolina Company. The larvae were reared on a wheat germ-based artificial diet (Bio-Serv) and

growth in cups at 24 °C under 16L: 8D photoperiod. The butterflies were fed on 10% sugar water solution using similar insectary conditions.

# 4.7.2 Virus harvesting

Recombinant baculoviruses (pAcUW21-CrV1) and AcMNPV wild-type viruses were produced using Sf9 cells. The infected Sf9 cells were collected 7 days post-infection and centrifuged at 800 rpm for 10 min at 4°C (Allegra<sup>™</sup> 6R centrifuge). The supernatant was drained and lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCL pH 8.0, 0.4% SDS, 10 mM EDTA pH 8.0) was added to the pellets to release polyhedra. Polyhedra were washed with Milli-Q water and counted using a hemocytometer.

# 4.7.3 Bioassays

The diet for bioassay was prepared and divided 5 mL in each 1-oz plastic cup. Recombinant virus pAcUW21-CrV1 and AcMNPV wild-type polyhedra were diluted in serial concentrations. For *S. exigua*, nine polyhedra concentrations were prepared (12, 59, 588, 5882,  $2.5 \times 10^4$ ,  $5.9 \times 10^4$ ,  $1.2 \times 10^5$ ,  $3.5 \times 10^5$ , and  $7.1 \times 10^5$  polyhedra/cm<sup>2</sup>). For *Pieris rapae*, six polyhedra concentrations were prepared (5882,  $2.5 \times 10^4$ ,  $5.9 \times 10^4$ ,  $1.2 \times 10^5$ ,  $3.5 \times 10^5$ , and  $7.1 \times 10^5$  polyhedra/cm<sup>2</sup>). For *Pieris rapae*, six polyhedra concentrations were prepared (5882,  $2.5 \times 10^4$ ,  $5.9 \times 10^4$ ,  $1.2 \times 10^5$ ,  $3.5 \times 10^5$ , and  $7.1 \times 10^5$  polyhedra/cm<sup>2</sup>). Polyhedra dilutions were spread over the entire surface of the diet and allowed to air dry. For each treatment, 30 larvae were used and the experiment replicated twice. Dead larvae were counted and recorded every day until 10 days.

#### 4.7.4 Data analysis

 $LC_{50}$  and  $LT_{50}$  were calculated using the POLO-PC software (Finney 1971, Russell, Robertson et al. 1977, Software 1987).  $LT_{50}$  was also calculated using the same software and the

concentration of 5882 polyhedra for *Spodoptera exigua* and of  $3.5 \times 10^5$  polyhedra for *Pieris rapae*. For each pest, LC<sub>50</sub> and LT<sub>50</sub> values between the recombinant virus pAcUW21-CrV1 and the wild-type AcMNPV were examined for significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.05$  indicated by no overlapping of the 95%-confidence intervals.

# **5** Results

# 5.1 Construction of recombinant transfer vectors containing CrV1 gene

# 5.1.1 Construction of recombinant transfer vector-pAcGHLT-B with gene CrV1 (pAcGHLT-B-CrV1)

The coding sequence of CrV1 was amplified from a cDNA clone (pBluescript SK) with specific primers which contained *Xho* I and *Kpn* I respectively (Figure 14). Purified CrV1 fragments and pAcGHLT-B transfer vector were digested with *Xho* I and *Kpn* I respectively. After ligation and transformation, recombinant plasmids were confirmed by restriction endonucleases digestion and PCR reaction. The results were analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis (Figure 15).



# **Figure 14. CrV1 PCR products amplified from pBluescript SK vector.** Lane 1: 1 kb DNA marker (Promega); lane 2 and 3: CrV1 PCR results.



**Figure 15. Recombinant transfer vector pAcGHLT-B-CrV1.** Lane 1: 1 kb DNA Marker (Promega); lane 2: Recombinant plasmid; lane 3: CrV1 gene (positive control); lane 4: PCR results amplified from recombinant construct; lane 5: Recombinant vector digested by restriction endonuclease *Xho* I and *Kpn* I

The sequencing result was examined by comparison to the GenBank by using BLAST (NCBI) and 100% of identity with *Cotesia rubecula* virus CrV1 protein mRNA was obtained (Figure 16). In addition, the sequencing results also showed that the CrV1 was inserted in frame with the GST ORF under polyhedrin promoter. Hence CrV1 protein was fused with GST and 6×His tags. Therefore, recombinant transfer vector pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 which was used for expression and purification was successfully constructed.



# Figure 16. Sequencing analysis of recombinant transfer vector pAcGHLT-B-CrV1. A:

Multiple cloning regions of pAcGHLT-B vector; B: Sequencing results of recombinant construct

pAcGHLT-B-CrV1. The green, brown and blue color sequences correspond to Xho I, Kpn I

restriction sites and thrombin cut site respectively. The red and black color sequences correspond

to CrV1 and vector sequences respectively.
# 5.1.2 Construction of recombinant transfer vector-pAcUW21 with gene CrV1 (pAcUW21-CrV1)

The coding sequence of CrV1 was amplified from a cDNA clone (pBluescript SK) with specific primers which contained *Bgl* II respectively. Purified CrV1 fragments and pAcUW21 transfer vector were digested with *Bgl* II respectively. After ligation and transformation, recombinant plasmids were confirmed by restriction endonucleases digestion and PCR reaction. The results were analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis (Figure 17).



**Figure 17. Recombinant transfer vector pAcUW21-CrV1.** Lane 1: 1 kb DNA Marker (Promega); lane 2: Recombinant plasmid; lane 3: PCR results amplified from pAcUW21-CrV1; lane 4: Recombinant vector digested by restriction endonuclease *Bgl* II; lane 5: CrV1 gene (positive control)

The sequencing result was examined by comparison to the GenBank by using BLAST (NCBI) and 100% of identity with *Cotesia rubecula* virus CrV1 protein mRNA was obtained (Figure 18). In addition, sequencing results also showed that CrV1 was inserted into the *Bgl* II site in the

downstream of p10 promoter. From the sequencing result, recombinant transfer vector pAcUW21-CrV1 which was used to produce recombinant protein in the insect larvae was successfully constructed.

**GTAAATTACATTTTACAATCACAGATCTATGTCACTCGTCAAAAGTGCGTCTGTGCTGCTCCAGC TCTCCTGAGTCAATCATGTACGCAAGCTTATCCATCCGAATACCAATGGGAAAGAATTCAAAATATTCCA** TTTGCTGACGTTGCTTCCCTTAGTCCGCTGACCGATTATTTCTCTCCCAAAATCAGATTCTACAGCCGAAA GACTTGCGCCATCAACAAACGACTTCGATGAATCTGATATGAACAATAGAGAATTTTTGATGATTCCGAA GTCTTATTCTGAGGCACCTCGGAAGCATTTTGATGTTGAATATTTTCTTAAGCATCACCCTCATATCAAG CCTGGACACAGTACAAGACATAGACCTGCGTTCGAAATAAGACCTTTCGTAGGACCTATTAGTGAATTAT CCAGTGGAAGTAGCGGTATCGGTCAACTTGGATCGAGCGTTGCAGATGAAATATTTTCCGGACTTAAAA ATTTCATTGGAAATGTGAAATTTACTCAACCTGAATTATTTGACACATCCAAAACCCACCAGTATGAATAT GAATCTGAAACATCTGAAAAACGCCACATTACCCGTGAAGATTTGCTTTCTGAACTACATGCAATAAAAG AGGCACTTCAAAAATCTAAAAATCTGCTGTCATTCGGGTAGAAAATGAGATCAGCTTTAACAAAGAAGGAG TTACTTACCCCTCTGTGGCAATCTCACCGCAACCTCTAGTTCTGATTAATCCTAACGGAGCATCTGAACA GGGACCCATAGAAGCTATTACCGAAGAAGCAGTTACTCATCCCACTGTGACAAACTCATCGCAACCTCC AGTTCTGATTAATCCTAACGGAGCATCTGAACAGGGACCCATAGAAGCTAATAACGAAGAAGGAGTTAC TTATCCCAGTGATACAACCCCATCGCAAACTTTTTTTGATCCCTATATGTAGCATCTGAACTTGAACTCA **GTAGAGTCTACTTAAGAAAGTATGTATAAAAATACTGCTACAAATGAAGCCATATGATAATCGACCCCTAG** AACATATCGAATTTCTTGTCATCGTCAAAATATGTATATAAAAAAACTTAGAAAAACCTTGCAATCTAAATGTTCT AGCTTTAAGTAAGTTTTGATCGAAGAAAAACGCCAATTTTTATAGTGTAAACAGTTTTGTATTTTGATGA CCAGGCTGAACTTGCAGATCTGAATTCCA

## Figure 18. Sequencing analysis of recombinant transfer vector pAcUW21-CrV1

The green, red and black color sequences correspond to Bgl II restriction sites, CrV1 and vector

sequences respectively.

## 5.2 Generation of recombinant baculoviruses by co-transfection

In this step, three co-transfection reactions (pAcGHLT-B-CrV1, pAcGHLT-B, pAcUW21-CrV1 vectors with BD BaculoGold DNA respectively) were performed and one positive control (co-transfection of BD BaculoGold DNA with pVL1392-XylE control vector DNA) and one negative control (Sf9 cells) were set. The results were as follows (Figure 19).



**Figure 19. Co-transfection results.** A: Negative control Sf9 cells; B: Positive control; C: pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 co-transfection; D: pAcUW21-CrV1 co-transfection; E: pAcGHLT-B transfer vector co-transfection

When Sf9 cells are infected, they will become bigger than normal cells, will have enlarged nuclei, will stop diving and will float in the medium. From the co-transfection results, those

morphological changes were obvious. Negative control continued to proliferate. Recombinant viruses were successfully generated and needed to be amplified.

## **5.3 Amplification of recombinant baculoviruses**

Three recombinant baculoviruses (pAcGHLT-B-CrV1, pAcUW21-CrV1 and pAcGHLT-B baculoviruses) were amplified. The results were as follows (Figure 20).

After three rounds amplification, the titer of P3 virus stock was determined by EPDA (Figure 21). For pAcUW21-CrV1 baculovirus, occlusion bodies can be seen from P2 and P3 amplification.



**Figure 20. Amplification of recombinant baculoviruses**. Three rounds amplification results of pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 baculovirus (A), pAcUW21-CrV1 baculovirus (B) and pAcGHLT-B baculovirus (C)



**Figure 21. One example of virus titer determination.** A: Negative control Sf9 cells; B to I: the first dilution to 8<sup>th</sup> dilution.

As dilution was increasing, the infectivity of virus was decreasing (Figure 21). The pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 baculovirus titer was  $3 \times 10^9$  pfu/mL. The titer of pAcUW21-CrV1 baculovirus was  $6 \times 10^9$  pfu/ mL.

# 5.4 Transcription of CrV1 in infected Sf9 cells

To verify the transcription of CrV1 in the recombinant baculoviruses infected Sf9 cells, RT-PCR was performed. RNA from healthy Sf9 cells and recombinant baculoviruses infected Sf9 cells were extracted using TRI reagent respectively (Figure 22). The quanlity and concentration of the

RNA were analyzed in an agarose gel. RT-PCR was performed with reverse transcription kit. The results were as follows (Figure 23, 24).



**Figure 22. Extraction of RNA from infected Sf9 cells.** Lane 1 and 2: RNA of healthy Sf9 cells; lane 3 and 4: RNA from pAcUW21-CrV1 baculovirus infected Sf9 cells; lane 5 and 6: RNA from pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 baculovirus infected Sf9 cells



**Figure 23. RT-PCR results of pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 baculovirus.** Lane 1: 1 kb DNA marker; lane 2: CrV1 PCR result from pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 vector as positive control; lane 3: PCR result from the RNA of pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 infected Sf9 cells; lane 4: PCR result from the cDNA of healthy Sf9 cells; lane 5: PCR result from the cDNA of pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 baculovirus infected Sf9 cells



**Figure 24. RT-PCR results of pAcUW21-CrV1 baculovirus.** Lane 1: 1 kb DNA marker; lane 2: CrV1 PCR result from pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 vector as positive control; lane 3: PCR result from the RNA of pAcUW21 -CrV1 infected Sf9 cells; lane 4: PCR result from the cDNA of healthy Sf9 cells; lane 5: PCR result from the cDNA of pAcUW21 -CrV1 baculovirus infected Sf9 cells

In RT-PCR step, CrV1 fragment amplified from original plasmid was set as positive control. Two negative controls were set. One is PCR results from DNAase I treated RNA of each baculovirus infected Sf9 cells, which is used as confirmation of DNA elimination in RNA samples. Another is PCR results from the cDNA of healthy Sf9 cells. RT-PCR results showed that CrV1 mRNA was only detected in pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 and pAcUW21-CrV1 baculoviruses infected Sf9 cell (Figure 23, 24). These two recombinant baculoviruses can successfully transcribe CrV1 gene in infected Sf9 cells.

### 5.5 Transcription of CrV1 in infected Spodoptera exigua larvae

To verify transcription of CrV1 in the *Spodoptera exigua* larvae, RT-PCR was carried out. RNA was isolated from wild-type or recombinant baculoviruses infected larvae (Figure 25). In RT-

PCR results, CrV1 gene was only detected in pAcUW21-CrV1 baculoviruses infected *Spodoptera exigua* larvae, which indicated that CrV1 gene can be successfully transcribed in the infected *Spodoptera exigua* larvae (Figure 26).



**Figure 25. Extraction of RNA from infected** *Spodoptera exigua* **larvae.** Lane 1: RNA from wild-type virus infected *Spodoptera exigua* larvae; lane 2: RNA from pAcUW21-CrV1 recombinant virus infected *Spodoptera exigua* larvae.



Figure 26. RT-PCR analysis for confirming the transcription of CrV1 gene of infected *Spodoptera exigua* larvae. Lane 1): Weight marker (Promega 1 kb DNA ladder G694A); 2)

CrV1 gene from recombinant pAcUW21 transfer vector, used as positive control; 3) AcMNPV-CrV1 polyhedra DNA; 4) cDNA from wild-type baculovirus infected *S. exigua* larvae; 5) RNA from recombinant virus infected *S. exigua* larvae treated by DNAse I; 6) cDNA from AcMNPV-CrV1 recombinant baculovirus infected *S. exigua* larvae.

#### 5.6 Expression of CrV1 protein in infected Sf9 cells

Expression of CrV1 protein from pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 baculovirus infected Sf9 cell was investigated. In order to optimize the expression conditions of CrV1 protein, a range of MOI infection was performed. GST tag is a 26 kDa protein and the predicted molecular weight of CrV1 protein is 46 kDa. Therefore, the predicted size of GST-CrV1 fusion protein is 72 kDa. In Figure 27, compared with healthy Sf9 cells, one expressed protein band migrated between 66 kDa and 97 kDa was detected. Along with the growth of MOI infection, the protein expression was also increasing. When the range of MOI, from 1 to 10, was used to infect Sf9 cells, the expression level of fusion protein was dramatically increasing, while MOI was 10 or more, no significant difference was observed in the fusion protein expression level. Therefore, MOI 10 was selected for GST-CrV1 fusion protein expression.

To test the solubility of the expressed GST-CrV1 fusion protein, freeze-thaw cycle was utilized as the cell lysis method and PBS buffer which contained protease inhibitor was used as lysis buffer. The samples were analyzed by SDS-PAGE. In Figure 28, recombinant protein was detected, near 66 kDa. Hence recombinant protein was soluble in lysis buffer.



**Figure 27. Whole cellular protein of a range of MOI infected Sf9 cells.** Lane 1: Protein marker (Biolab); lane 2-7: Whole cellular protein of a range of MOI infected cells (MOI= 1, 2, 5, 10, 15, 20); lane 8: Cellular protein of healthy Sf9 cells



**Figure 28. Soluble cellular protein of a range of MOI infected Sf9 cells.** Lane 2: Protein marker (Biolab); lane 1, 3-7: Soluble cellular protein of a range of MOI infected cells (MOI= 1, 2, 5, 10, 15, 20); lane 8: Soluble protein of healthy Sf9 cells

## 5.7 Purification of recombinant GST-CrV1

Recombinant GST-CrV1 protein was purified with glutathione sepharose 4B beads. Purification result showed that recombinant protein can be purified by glutathione beads, while endogenous GSTs from Sf9 cells and other non-specific proteins were also co-purified with recombinant GST-CrV1 protein (Figure 29). Therefore optimizing conditions of purification was required.



**Figure 29. Purification of the recombinant GST-CrV1 protein.** Lane 1: Protein marker (Promega); lane 2: Cell lysate of the pAcGHLT-B-CrV1 baculovirus infected Sf9 cell; lane 3: Unbound protein; lane 4: Flow through; lane 5: Purified recombinant GST-CrV1 protein.

## 5.7.1 Optimization of purification conditions

To remove endogenous GSTs, ammonium sulfate precipitation was applied. The supernatant of infected Sf9 cell lysate was precipitated by a serial of ammonium sulfate saturations. The results were as follows (Figure 30).



**Figure 30. Ammonium sulfate precipitation.** Lane 1 to 4: The pellets from 20%, 30%, 40%, 50% saturated ammonium sulfate respectively; lane 5: Protein marker (Promega); lane 6 to 9: The pellets from 20%-30%, 30%-40%, 40%-50%, 50%-60% ammonium sulfate cuts respectively.

The results showed that most of GST-CrV1 recombinant protein was precipitated by 30% saturated ammonium sulfate, whereas endogenous GSTs were precipitated by 40%-50% and 50%-60% ammonium sulfate cuts (Figure 30). Therefore, the supernatant of cell lysate was first precipitated by 30% saturated ammonium sulfate prior to binding with glutathione sepharose beads. After centrifugation, supernatant was removed and pellet was dissolved in lysis buffer, subsequently with purification procedure.

To minimize the protein degradation, protease inhibitors cocktail was added to lysis buffer to avoid the proteolysis. 5 mM of EDTA and 10 mM of DTT were added to reduce oxidation damage. 5% glycerol was added to the washing buffer and elution buffer to stabilize protein and reduce the non-specific binding.

After optimization of purification conditions, non-specific bands were removed from the recombinant GST-CrV1 protein purification (Figure 31). GST tag protein was also purified from pAcGHLT-B baculovirus infected Sf9 cells with the same purification procedure (Figure 31). Western blot was performed with GST antibody, which was used to confirm the expression of the recombinant protein (Figure 32).



**Figure 31. Purification results after optimizing conditions.** Lane 1: Protein marker (Promega); lane 2 to 4: Purified recombinant GST-CrV1 protein; lane 5 to 7: Purified GST tag protein from pAcGHLT-B baculovirus infected Sf9 cells.



**Figure 32. Western blot results of GST and GST-CrV1 protein with GST antibody.** Lane 1: Protein marker (Promega); lane 2 to 4: GST-CrV1 recombinant protein; lane 5 to 7: GST tag

protein; lane 8 to 10: Western blot results of GST-CrV1 recombinant protein; lane 11 to 13: Western blot results of GST tag protein

Western blot analysis was performed by running purified GST-CrV1 and GST tag proteins on a SDS-PAGE gel and transferring them to a PVDF membrane. The results showed that the anti GST bounded to the GST-CrV1 protein and GST tag protein, which confirmed that GST-CrV1 and GST tag protein were successfully expressed and purified from viruses infected Sf9 cells (Figure 32).

## 5.8 GST pull-down assay

CrV1 protein is involved in suppressing the immune system of wasps' host, *Pieris rapae*. To study the protein-protein interactions between CrV1 and proteins from *Pieris rapae*, GST pull-down assay was carried out (Figure 33).



**Figure 33. GST pull-down assay from** *Pieris rapae* **larvae lysate.** Lane 1: Protein marker (Promega); lane 2: *Pieris rapae* larvae lysate; lane 3: Pull-down assay of GST-CrV1 + *Pieris* 

*rapae* larvae lysate; lane 4: Pull-down assay of GST + *Pieris rapae* larvae lysate; lane 5: GST tag protein; lane 6: GST-CrV1 protein.

In pull-down assay (Figure 33), two controls were set, including GST tag protein and glutathione sepharose beads. Both of them were incubated concurrently in pull-down assay with *Pieris rapae* larvae lysate. The results showed that GST tag protein (lane 4) and beads alone (data not show) interacted only with endogenous GSTs from the insect lysate. However, the GST-CrV1 protein, after incubating with the lysate, was disappeared from gel and just left some smaller size of protein bands in lane 3. It was not clear that whether the protein bands were from *Pieris rapae* lysate or the degradation of GST-CrV1 protein.

GST-CrV1 protein which was used to do pull-down assay was also loaded in SDS-PAGE gel with the same amount (lane 6) as a control, which was a conformation of the presence of the GST-CrV1 protein in pull-down assay. To determine the disappearance phase of GST-CrV1 protein, another try was done. After the beads with GST-CrV1 protein was incubated with lysate for 2 h, the beads was boiled directly before washing step and loaded to the SDS-PAGE gel. The results were as follows (Figure 34).



**Figure 34. Determination of the fusion protein disappearance phase.** Lane 1: Protein marker (Promega); lane 2: GST tag protein; lane 3: GST-CrV1 fusion protein; lane 4: The pull-down result of GST protein + lysate before washing step; lane 5: The pull-down result of GST-CrV1 fusion protein + lysate before washing step.

The results showed that GST tag protein, after incubation, still bound the beads, while GST-CrV1 fusion protein was disappeared. It indicated that GST-CrV1 fusion vanished during incubation step.

In the incubation phase, incubation time was next condition to be investigated, which was used to study the phenomenon of disappearance. 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2 h were chosen as incubation time respectively. As GST tag protein, except interaction with endogenous GSTs, has no other interactions, so that GST tag protein was not included in subsequent pull-down assay.

The results showed that, during increasing of incubation time, the degradation of GST-CrV1 fusion protein was also raising (Figure 35). Even the lysate passed the gravity flow column quickly (lane 7), the fusion protein was still degraded compare with control protein (lane 6). In

Figure 35, a number of small size protein bands below GST-CrV1 fusion protein appeared on SDS-PAGE gel. Where do the smaller size protein bands come from? Whether from insect lysate or GST-CrV1 protein? To confirm it, western blot assay with GST antibody was carried out.

In Figure 36, GST antibody did not bind to any protein from *Pieris rapae* larvae lysate. When the incubation time was increasing, the amount of GST-CrV1 fusion protein was decreasing. The amount of the protein bands below fusion protein in lane 6 were less compared with lane 2 to 5, which suggested that during the increasing of the incubation time, the amount of smaller protein bands below fusion protein was increasing. Hence the results showed that the small bands below GST-CrV1 fusion protein were from fusion protein degradation not from insect lysate.



**Figure 35.** Pull-down assay of a serial of incubation time with *Pieris rapae* larvae lysate. Lane 1: Protein marker (Biolab); lane 2 to 5: 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2 h incubation respectively; lane 6: GST-CrV1 fusion protein; lane 7: The pull-down results of the lysate passing the gravity flow column which contained beads with GST-CrV1 fusion protein.



**Figure 36. Western blot results of pull-down assay of different incubation time.** Lane 1: Protein marker (Bio-rad); lane 2 to 5: 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2 h incubation respectively; lane 6: The pull-down results of the lysate passing the gravity flow column which contained beads with GST-CrV1 fusion protein; lane 7: GST-CrV1 fusion protein; lane 8: *Pieris rapae* larvae lysate.

Another question had arisen, which kind of material from the *Pieris rapae* lysate results in the degradation of the GST-CrV1 fusion protein. To answer this question, another experiment was set, which was used to investigate the role of proteases in the degradation process. Proteases consist of protein or RNA. In this pull-down assay, protease inhibitor cocktail was added to the insect lysis buffer, which indicated that the proteases which consist of protein did not work in the pull-down assay. Another kind of proteases which consist of RNA should be studied.

The results showed that, with or without RNase A, GST-CrV1 protein was still degraded (Figure 37). The interesting discovery was that, with RNase A in insect lysis buffer, one more protein

band was found in lane 4 (arrow) compared with lane 3. It suggested that some proteases which consist of RNA involved in the degradation of GST-CrV1 fusion protein.



**Figure 37. Pull-down assay with RNase A in insect lysis buffer.** Lane 1: Protein marker (Biorad); lane 2: GST-CrV1 fusion protein; lane 3: Pull-down result of insect lysis buffer without RNase A; lane 4: Pull-down result of insect lysis buffer with RNase A; lane 5: *Pieris rapae* larvae lysate

All the results above showed that some kinds of unknown material in *Pieris rapae* larvae lysate can result in the degradation of GST-CrV1 fusion proten. However, does the degradation only occur in *Pieris rapae* larvae lysate? To confirm this, the GST pull-down assay was also performed in other insect, *Spodoptera exigua*.

The pull-down assay in *Spodoptera exigua* larvae lysate obtained similar result as *in Pieris rapae* larvae lysate (Figure 38). Compared with the pull-down assay in *Pieris rapae* larvae lysate, the

degradation of the fusion protein was faster in *Spodoptera exigua* larvae lysate. Western blot using GST antibody was also carried out. In Figure 39, the degradation of GST-CrV1 fusion protein was increasing during the increasing of incubation time.

The results showed that the materials which can cause the degradation of the GST-CrV1 fusion protein dose not only exist in the original host.



**Figure 38. Pull-down assay of a serial of incubation time with** *Spodoptera exigua* **larvae lysate.** Lane 1: Protein marker (Biolab); lane 2 to 5: 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2 h incubation respectively; lane 6: GST-CrV1 fusion protein; lane 7: The pull-down results of the lysate passing the gravity flow column which contained beads with GST-CrV1 fusion protein.

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8

**Figure 39.** Western blot results of pull-down assay of different incubation time with *Spodoptera exigua* larvae lysate. Lane 1: Protein marker (Bio-rad); lane 2 to 5: 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2 h incubation respectively; lane 6: The pull-down results of the lysate passing the gravity flow column which contained beads with GST-CrV1 fusion protein; lane 7: GST-CrV1 fusion protein; lane 8: *Spodoptera exigua* larvae lysate

### **5.9 Bioassay**

The ability of pAcUW21-CrV1 to infect and kill *Pieris rapae* and *Spodoptera exigua* larvae was evaluated and compared with that of wild-type baculoviruses.  $LC_{50}$  and  $LT_{50}$  values showed statistically significant difference for *Pieris rapae* because it is accepted that both parameters are no similar at  $\alpha$ = 0.05 because that of AcMNPV wild-type (17.9 and 125, respectively) lies outside 0.8-5.2, and 66-72, respectively the confidence interval estimated for pAcUW21-CrV1. For *Spodoptera exigua*, there were also not overlaps of 95% confidential limits.

The LC<sub>50</sub> of pAcUW21-CrV1 against *Pieris rapae*  $(2.6 \times 10^4)$  and *Spodoptera exigua*  $(1 \times 10^3)$  was lower than that using the wild-type AcMNPV  $(1.79 \times 10^5 \text{ and } 1 \times 10^4, \text{ respectively; Table 4})$ . As expected, the viral-infection symptoms were similar for the pAcUW21-CrV1 and AcMNPV wild-type baculoviruses, *i.e.* we noted that the larvae stopped feeding, presented dark spots in their skin, and there was a liquefaction of their internal organs after death (Figure 41).

The LT<sub>50</sub> of *Spodoptera exigua* and *Pieris rapae* was determined using 5582 and  $3.5 \times 10^5$  polyhedra/cm<sup>2</sup> respectively of either pAcUW21-CrV1 or AcMNPV. In both pests, the LT<sub>50</sub> was lower using the pAcUW21-CrV1 virus compared with that of the wild-type, as shown in Table 1. All bioassays produced significant non-zero slopes with t-ratios ranging from 13.5 to 16.0. Al t-ratio values of the slopes were significant at the at the *P*= 0.05 level, because all exceeded 1.96 (Jacobson, Foster et al. 2009).

	Pieris rapae				Spodoptera exigua				
	LC <sub>50</sub>	LT <sub>50</sub>	Slope ±SE	t-ratio	LC <sub>50</sub>	LT <sub>50</sub>	Slope ±SE	t-ratio	
AcMNPV	17.9 (10.8-30.9)	125 (120- 130)	2.334 ± 0.17	13.558	1 (0.3-2.3)	214 (204- 226)	1.196 ± 0.075	16.0	
pAcUW21- CrV1	2.6 (0.8-5.2)	69 (66-72)	2.534 ± 0.20	12.496	0.1 (0.06- 0.2)	139 (136- 142)	1.570 ± 0.111	14.15	

Table 4. Probit analysis results from dose-mortality assays of wild (AcMNPV) and recombinant (pAcUW21-CrV1) baculovirus against *Pieris rapae* and *Spodoptera exigua*. LC<sub>50</sub> was calculated using polyhedra  $\times 10^4$  (95%-CI) in both pest species. LT<sub>50</sub> was in Hours (95%-CI)

The comparison between mortality rates of recombinant baculoviruses and wild-type baculovirues is summarized in Figure 40. The first larva dead was observed in the second day post-infection with the pAcUW21-CrV1. When the mortality rate was about 50% and 100%

using the pAcUW21-CrV1, the mortality rate was less than 2%, and 40%, using the wild-type baculovirus, respectively (Figure 40.C). In the first 4 days, using either pAcUW21-CrV1 or the AcMNPV wild-type baculovirus, none larvae had died until the end of the fourth day. When the mortality rate was about 50%, and 100% using the pAcUW21-CrV1 the mortality rate was less than 10%, and 22%, using the AcMNPV wild-type baculovirus, respectively (Figure 40.D).



Figure 40. The relationship between recombinant or wild-type baculoviruses dose with *Pieris rapae* and *Spodoptera exigua* mortality. Panel A) Blue and red lines correspond, respectively, to AcMNPV and pAcUW21-CrV1 baculoviruses against *Pieris rapae*. Panel B) Blue and red lines correspond, respectively, to AcMNPV and pAcUW21-CrV1 baculoviruses

against *Spodoptera exigua*. Panels C) and D), mortality of *Pieris rapae* and *Spodoptera exigua* produced throughout the time (hours) by AcMNPV (blue line) and pAcUW21-CrV1 (red line) using  $3.5 \times 10^6$  polyhedra/cm<sup>2</sup> and 5,582 polyhedra/cm<sup>2</sup>, respectively



Figure 41. Recombinant or wild-type baculoviruses infected *Pieris rapae* and *Spodoptera exigua* larvae. A: Wild-type baculovirus infected *Spodoptera exigua* larvae; B: Recombinant baculovirus infected *Spodoptera exigua* larvae; C: Wild-type baculovirus infected *Pieris rapae* larvae; D: Recombinant baculovirus infected *Pieris rapae* larvae

## **6** Discussion

### 6.1 The baculovirus expression system

In this study, baculovirus expression system was used for expression GST-CrV1 fusion protein. This system includes insect cell culture, generation of recombinant baculoviruses, amplification of recombinant baculoviruses and expression of recombinant proteins or production of infective recombinant virus particles. Sf9 cell line was chosen for this project as Sf9 cells grow well in monolayer and suspension culture and are adaptable to serum-free medium. When the cell culture is performed, several notes should be considered. While the culture started from frozen stocks, frozen cells should be thawed at 27 °C and put on ice immediately to minimize the damage to cells by long DMSO exposure in high temperature. When thawed cells are added to one flask with fresh medium, let cells attach the flask for less than half h at 27 °C. Long time incubation will cause harm to Sf9 cells because of DMSO. Sf9 cell line was maintained in TNM-FH culture medium which contained 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), and incubated at 27±1 °C. Subculture was performed by pipetting to new flasks when cell line was confluent. Scraper also can be used for subculture, but will increase the cost of this system compared with pipette tips. In addition, pipette tips are not only easy to be sterilized but also have no damage to the bottom of the flasks, which facilitates to the reuse of culture flasks. However, pipette tubes are only convenient for 25 or 75 cm<sup>2</sup> flask, and for other large size flasks such as 182 cm<sup>2</sup>, larger size of scrapers could be better for culture.

The medium with FBS has desirable effects such as promote the growth of the cells, provide shear force protection and contribute cellular attachment factors, while for recombinant protein expression, FBS may decrease product yields. Therefore, how to adapt cell line to serum-free culture medium is another task before large scale recombinant protein expression. In this study, sequential adaptation (Invitrogen) was chosen. When the serum-free media was more than 75% in the culture medium, insect cells became large, float and slow growth (data not show), and while changed to 100% serum free media, the phenomena described above became more serious. By this time, go on and go back are two choice. For this study, going on was chosen and the later success confirmed that it was a good decision. This adaption underwent approximately two months and cells grew well in the serum free medium.

During culture, the redundant cells can be stored for further use. DMSO is a preferred reagent for the storage. However, in our culture, glycerol and DMSO both were used to store cells and no big difference was observed after culture. DMSO is hazardous and caution should be taken when handing it. The best way for storing cells is to place them in liquid nitrogen. Nevertheless, maintaining the cells in liquid nitrogen, for many labs, is impossible.

Based on our experience, Sf9 cells can be stored at -80 °C at least one year and the cells can be thawed and recovered. The more secure way is that save cells every two weeks or one month.

The flasks for culture are another large cost in this system. In our experience, the flasks after use can be washed with sterilize Milli-Q water several times and stored at a clean room for further use and the flasks can be reused many times following this protocol.

The recombinant baculovirus was generated via homologous recombination between transfer vector and linearized baculovirus genome DNA. The important step is confirmation of the sterilization of recombinant transfer vector DNA. The preferred way is that, a few microliters of extracted transfer plasmid DNA which was sterilized by filtration were incubated with insect cells and check whether the culture is contaminated or not after 3 or 4 days prior to co-

transformation performance. From the co-transfection results (Figure 19), it is difficult to verify whether it is successful from the phenotype of cells, even recombinant virus is occlusion body positive, due to the fact of the low concentration of viruses. In most cases, viruses should be amplified for further confirmation. During the course of amplification, the matter of MOI which is used for amplification should be concerned as the high MOI increases the amount of virus with extensive mutations in their genome (O'Reilly, Miller et al. 1994). For the first two rounds of amplification, it is not significant, while prior to the third round infection, the titer of P2 virus stock is essential to determine. In addition, the P2 virus stock can be used to confirm the transcription and expression of insert genes. The extensive passaging of the recombinant baculovirus results in dramatic drop in production (van Oers, Pijlman et al. 2015), therefore, in the process of our study, the P3 virus stock was used as the inoculation for production of recombinant baculovirus and fusion protein. All the viruses can be stored at 4 °C for long time, but after some months the titer of the viruses will decrease. Therefore, if the viruses are stored long time at 4 °C, it is better to determine the titer of the viruses prior to use. For optimal protein production, the MOI is usually between 3 and 10 (O'Reilly, Miller et al. 1994). In this study, different MOI was tested to determine the optimum (Figure 27) and MOI 10 was used to express the fusion protein.

#### 6.2 Purification of CrV1 protein

The gene of interested, CrV1, in this study was fused with GST tag under polyhedrin promoter. CrV1 is a secreted protein, so the protein can be purified from the culture medium. At the beginning, the fusion protein was purified from the supernatant of culture medium. Nevertheless, the amount of purified protein was a little. Subsequently, the protein was tried to purify from infected Sf9 cells and the quantity of the protein was more than that from culture medium. Therefore, the secreted fusion protein for further use was initiated to purify from infected cells. For the purification of the fusion protein from infected cells, the time of infection should be cared. In the event that the infection time is excessive, the cells will lyse, while the time is insufficient, the production will reduce. Based on our experience, 3 days was chosen to harvest of infect cells for expression of the GST-CrV1 protein. The purification result was shown in Figure 29. The fusion protein was purified but the endogenous GSTs were co-purified with the fusion protein. Chromatography, such as gel filtration, was considered to solve this problem. However it was not carried out due to the small scale purification of GST-CrV1 protein in this study. Afterward ammonium sulfate precipitation was selected (Figure 30) and endogenous GSTs were removed from the purified fusion protein (Figure 31). For ammonium sulfate precipitation, solid ammonium sulfate or saturated ammonium sulfate solution can be utilized. The solid ammonium was commonly used in large volume protein lysate for the reason that the solid ammonium doesn't increase a lot of the final volume which facilitate the later centrifugation step, while the saturated ammonium sulfate solution was usually used in small volume protein lysate due to simple manipulation. In this study, the saturated ammonium sulfate was used due to the small scale protein purification. For the purification of GST tag protein which was used as one control in pull-down assay, the ammonium sulfate precipitation was also used, which was precipitated by 35% saturated ammonium sulfate (date not show). In this study, another occlusion body positive recombinant baculovirus pAcUW21-CrV1 was also constructed under p10 promoter. However, CrV1 protein was not shown in SDS-PAGE gel maybe due to the fact of low level expression of CrV1 protein. As CrV1 antibody was absent in the lab, CrV1 protein expression was just verified by CrV1 gene transcription in infected Sf9 cells (Figure 24). Another recombinant baculovirus pVL1392-CrV1 was also constructed under polyhedrin

promoter and CrV1 expression also can't be observed in SDS-PAGE gel but can be confirmed by transcription (data not shown). The low expression of CrV1 protein of these two recombinant baculoviruses indicated that GST tag in pAcGHLT-B transfer vector increased the expression level of CrV1 protein drastically.

In addition, western blot was carried out after GST-CrV1 purification and pull-assay with GST antibody. Based on our experience, in the process of western blot, several crucial points should be cared. It is better to load fewer microliter samples to each well in comparison with normal SDS-PAGE assay, which can favor to get clear separated bands. The antibody can be diluted in the range of antibody dilution of the product introduction. The most critical step is the washing. The washing step presents two times in whole process. The first time is after incubation of the membrane with the first antibody and the second time is after the incubation of the membrane with the second antibody. Numerous washing buffer formulas are used, such as PBS, TBS. In this study, TBS was used. TBS also has different formulas and the difference between these formulas is the concentration of NaCl, from 150 mM to 500 mM, which represents the stringent condition. In this work, the more stringent washing condition, 500mM NaCl, was chosen. Another important point in the washing step is the speed of shaker which also concerns the washing stringency. In this experiment, 150 rpm (Lab-Line 3520 Adjustable Speed Orbital Shaker) was used. More times of washing and less of washing time are propitious to good washing results. In this work 6 times and 7 min each time were chosen. Moreover, the stain time should be cared to avoid the overstain.

### 6.3 GST-CrV1 pull-down assay

CrV1, which is from the parasitoid species Cotesia rubecula PDV, involves in immunesuppression by disrupting the cytoskeleton of the host hemocytes to inactivate hemocytes (Asgari, Schmidt et al. 1997). Previous work showed that polydnavirus-infected larvae and larvae were injected with recombinant CrV1 manifested similar haemocyte alterations which indicated that CrV1 alone is sufficient to lead to haemocyte inactivation (Asgari, Schmidt et al. 1997). The expression of CrV1 protein is in a transient fashion inside the haemocytes, starting from 4 to 8 h post parasitization (Asgari, Hellers et al. 1996, Glatz, Schmidt et al. 2004). The reason for the quick shut-off CrV1 gene expression is still unknown. Two opinions were proposed. One is that regulatory events initiated by polydnavirus gene expression result in a remarkable change which may cause the temporary inactivation of infected cells and another is that the breakdown of the cell cytoskeleton induced by CrV1 expression may cause the inactivation of the gene expression machinery of the PDV-infected cells. CrV1 does not bind to hemocytes in default of hemolymph plasma, which suggested that CrV1 may interact with hemolymph proteins (Asgari and Schmidt 2002). One coiled-coil region has been reported, which may be essential for CrV1 uptake or function (Asgari and Schmidt 2002, Kumar and Kim 2014).

In this study, GST pull-down was performed, which aimed to investigate the interacted proteins with CrV1 protein. The results showed that CrV1 protein was disappeared during the pull-down process (Figure 33) and a number of small size protein bands were observed in SDS-PAGE gel, which indicated that some kinds of materials existed in *Pieris rapae* larvae lysate may digest CrV1 protein. Different incubating time of pull-down assay was also carried out and the same results were obtained (Figure 35). Western blot results with GST antibody shown in Figure 36 illustrated that the small size protein bands were from the digestion of GST-CrV1 fusion protein,

which confirmed that GST-CrV1 fusion protein was digested during the course of pull-down assay. The pull-down assay was also carried out in another insect (*Spodoptera exigua*) and the similar results were obtained (Figure 38). The results above indicated that the material which can digest CrV1 protein did not only exist in the original host *Pieris rapae*. What are the components of the material? This question is far to be answered. The protease inhibitor and RNase A were added into insect lysis buffer, which was used to identify whether the material was protease. The interesting discovery was that some kinds of RNA or proteases which consist of RNA can cause the digestion of GST-CrV1 fusion protein. Why GST-CrV1 fusion protein was digested during pull-down assay. Several possibilities will be discussed subsequently.

Previous works showed that glycosylated CrV1 protein expressed from infected Sf21 cells was incubated with cell-free hemolymph and analyzed on a western blot probed with anti-CrV1 antiserum, and the degradation of CrV1 protein was not observed (Asgari, Schmidt et al. 1997). Compare with our pull-down assay, some conditions are different, such as protein glycosylation, GST tag, lysate (not only hemolymph) and cell line.

In this study, fusion protein GST-CrV1 was expressed under polyhedrin promoter which started in the very late phase of baculovirus gene expression. Therefore glycoprotein CrV1 may not obtain enough post-modification. Another report showed that non-glycosylated CrV1 protein can be taken up by hemocytes which indicated that the binding and uptake of CrV1 protein don't depend on the sugar modification (Asgari and Schmidt 2002). In addition, it means that nonglycosylated CrV1 protein can interact with the proteins in the hemolymph plasma. The binding of bacterial- expressed CrV1 protein to hemolymph proteins was visualized by ligand blot experiment with anti-CrV1 antibodies and no degradation was observed (Asgari and Schmidt 2002). Hence, glycosylation is not the reason of CrV1 degradation. The function of glycosylation may involve in the activity inside the hemocytes. Another difference compare with previous work is that our protein has a GST tag which facilitates the purification of CrV1 protein. GST tag is a 26 kDa protein. Some report showed that GST tag can cause misfolding of target protein which may lead to the false positive GST pull-down result (Wissmueller, Font et al. 2011). Proteins with misfolding can be recognized and selectively degraded in eukaryotic cells (Goldberg 2003). Regardless of the fact that there is no information that GST fusion misfolded target protein will result in the degradation in the course of pull-down assay, this still is a possibility that misfolded CrV1 protein is easily be digested by the proteins from Pieris rapae larvae lysate. Next different condition is the lysate we used for pull-down assay. In the previous work, only hemocytes and hemolymph were reported to use to incubate with CrV1 protein. However, in our study, the whole Pieris rapae larvae lysate was used to incubate with GST-CrV1 fusion protein for pull-assay. The degradation was not observed when CrV1 protein incubated with hemocytes or hemolymph. Therefore, the degradation of our fusion protein may due to the lysate except the hemocytes and hemolymph. In this study, due to the fact that it is hard to get enough hemolymph for pull-down assay, so we chose the whole lysate of the larvae, which may result in the degradation of our fusion protein. The last difference is the cell line used for protein expression, in the previous work above, Sf21 cell line was used to express the CrV1 protein and in our study Sf9 cell line was chosen to express GST-CrV1 protein. However Sf9 is a substrain of these cells that isolated from Sf21, so these two cell lines have no significant difference. Therefore there is scarce possibility that the different cell line cause the degradation of GST-CrV1 protein during pull-down assay.

The expression of CrV1 was detected in haemocytes and fat body (Asgari, Hellers et al. 1996). From our pull-down assay results, in the event that the degradation of CrV1 was due to the lysate, it means that, besides the haemobytes and fat body, the other tissue of *Pieris rapae* larvae exist materials, such as protease, which can digest CrV1 protein.

## 6.4 Bioassay

The present study focused on the construction and evaluation of a recombinant baculoviruses expressing an immunosuppressor gene from *Cotesia rubecula* PDV, CrV1 protein (pAcUW21-CrV1). In Sf9 insect cell culture, infection showed clear differences between infected and healthy Sf9 cells. The cells inoculated with the baculoviruses had infection-like phenomena as described in the section or results. Increased of nuclear volume was observed in *Spodoptera exigua* and *S. frugiperda* cells 72 h pi with *A. californica* and *Spodoptera exigua* wild-type (AcMNPV and SeMNPV) baculoviruses similarly to that reported by(Yanase, Hashimoto et al. 1998). We also noticed that the infection with wild-type baculoviruses stopped the growth of 84% of cells cultured in phase G2 / M 18 within 24 hpi (Braunagel, Parr et al. 1998). The infection with wild-type baculoviruses also resulted in cell lysis and death 5-6 dpi as demonstrated elsewhere (Clem 2001, Hu 2005). Confirmation of infected Sf9 cells with the CrV1 gene in AcMNPV was performed by PCR indicating that the *in vitro* production process of the pAcUW21-CrV1 recombinant baculovirus was successful.

Although the production of recombinant baculoviruses may be more expensive, this could be overcome with a higher biological product demand to control the insect pests *Spodoptera exigua* and *Pieris rapae*, which represent a significant threat to the agriculture and greenhouse crops. For example, tomato growing in greenhouse or tunneling is most susceptible to the damage by *Spodoptera exigua* as compared with open field crop, especially near to fruit maturity in North America (south of USA, in addition to Mexico and Central America) (Zalom, Wilson et al. 1986).

Furthermore, *Pieris rapae* is one of the most abundant butterflies in Northern and Central Europe, and it has recently also become a pest in North America (Wittstock, Agerbirk et al. 2004), where it damages several crucifer crops (Chen, Zhao et al. 2008, Zhang, Cheng et al. 2012).

It has been reported that LC<sub>50</sub> of AcMNPV against Spodoptera exigua was of 9,141 polyhedra/cm<sup>2</sup> (Shapiro 2000), which is consistent with our findings of 10,000 polyhedra/cm<sup>2</sup> for the same species. In the same study, a  $LT_{50}$  of 151 h using 4,300 polyhedra/cm<sup>2</sup> was determined. Here, we used 5,882 polyhedra/cm<sup>2</sup>, resulting in a  $LT_{50}$  of 214 h (Table 4). Previous studies have shown that AcMNPV can infect Spodoptera exigua larvae providing a decent control of this beet armyworm (Bianchi, Joosten et al. 2000, Bianchi, Snoeijing et al. 2000); however, pAcUW21-CrV1 resulted in a lower LC<sub>50</sub> (10 fold reduction) and LT<sub>50</sub> (24 h faster) compared with the wildtype AcMNPV to control Spodoptera exigua under insectary conditions. Previously, the effect of one recombinant virus expressing the immunosuppressive CsIV gene P-vank-1 against fourthinstar S. littoralis larvae injected budded virus was reported, where the recombinant virus showed a 10-fold lower LD<sub>50</sub> compared with the wild-type AcMNPV (Rivkin, Kroemer et al. 2006). The baculovirus life cycle implicates the entrance of virus particles through the digestive track (Cory and Myers 2003), and their subsequent spread through insect tracheal system (Engelhard, Kam-Morgan et al. 1994, Flipsen, Martens et al. 1995). In several hosts, such as Spodoptera exigua, Trichoplusia ni and Heliothis virescens, just one tracheolar cell infection is enough to give rise to a nonreversible and mortal infection. In our bioassays, the CrV1 protein likely contributed to produce the 10 fold decrease in virus concentration because the CrV1 protein effect on the Spodoptera exigua actin cytoskeleton, as previously reported by Pieris rapae (Asgari, Hellers et al. 1996).

Equal slopes from Probit analysis indicated that the mortality rate is similar along changes in concentration units (Software 1987). In our bioassay, dose-mortality relationship showed similar slopes between AcMNPV and pAcUW21-CrV1, suggesting that the insertion of CrV1 in the AcMNPV genome did not interfere with the usual pathogenic infection process, but it has added a new pathogenic factor, the CrV1 protein. To the best of our knowledge, there are not reports about the *Pieris rapae* susceptibility to AcMNPV. Some authors concur that *Pieris rapae* are not susceptible to AcMNPV infection (Chen, Leisy et al. 1996) but some studies on Pieris rapae cell lines indicate that AcMNPV cause cell lysis within 24 h, since the virus do not replicate after the primary infection (Dwyer, Webb et al. 1988). It has also been shown that lower AcMNPV virus titers are produced from Pieris rapae cell line infection; therefore, those cell lines were considered semi-permissive (Mcintosh, Grasela et al. 2005). In our bioassays using Pieris rapae, the  $LC_{50}$  of pAcUW21-CrV1 was seven fold lower compared with the  $LC_{50}$  of the wild-type while the LT<sub>50</sub> was reduced two fold. In Pieris rapae, the LC<sub>50</sub> of pAcUW21-CrV1 was similar to that showed by wild-type against the highly susceptible Spodoptera exigua indicating the improvement of the recombinant within the host range.

The approach for producing a more effective recombinant baculovirus than wild-type was because we used an immune-suppressor gene (CrV1) of PDV. The CrV1 protein suppresses the insect innate immune cellular response of *Pieris rapae* larvae (Asgari, Hellers et al. 1996). In both pests, this recombinant showed higher toxicity to the insect host because the synergism between CrV1 and others AcMNPV proteins. It has been shown that *Manduca sexta* larvae infected with both *C. congregata* PDV and AcMNPV die faster than larvae injected orally with baculovirus alone; hence, the PDV acts synergistically with baculoviruses to cause rapid insect death (Washburn, Haas-Stapleton et al. 2000).
Different attempts have been made to improve the baculovirus speed of kill using hormone and toxin genes inserted into the baculovirus genome (Inceoglu, Kamita et al. 2001). The foreign protein and the recombinant virus became more toxic and reduced the speed of kill, hence, the recombinant virus had the original virulence factors from the wild-type baculovirus and the new feature. This effect has also been noted in our experiments, the CrV1 gene inserted in the AcMNPV genome had resulted in a more toxic virus for the two economically important pests. CrV1 effects on *Pieris rapae* haemolymph included lower viscosity and changes in cell surface composition, adhesive properties of hemocytes, and cell spreading due to the destabilization of the cell cytoskeleton (Asgari, Schmidt et al. 1997, Asgari and Schmidt 2001). Hence, the highest toxicity and speed of kill noted were likely due to the expression of the CrV1 protein that destabilized the actin cytoskeleton.

In addition, we observed that *Spodoptera exigua* larvae stopped feeding the diet contaminated with the recombinants and there was a decreasing activity of the larvae after infection with both the recombinant and wild-type viruses. The larvae infected with recombinant viruses also produced only few feeding marks on the diet (data not shown). These features are similar to those documented as polyhedrosis disease (Inceoglu, Kamita et al. 2001), which results in liquefaction of the insect tissues and release of millions of bodies of occlusion for those polyhedrin-positive baculoviruses that may be transmitted to new hosts (Washburn, Trudeau et al. 2003, Haas-Stapleton, Washburn et al. 2005). However, this does not happen in a polyhedron-negative baculovirus unless it is co-occluded in a wild-type baculovirus.

A review of *pros* and *cons* of wild-type and recombinant baculoviruses as biopesticides was given by Rodriguez et al. (2012). This includes the safety of genetically modified baculoviruses which showed no side effects on non-target organisms as well as their superior advantages over

the wild-type. The study concluded that bioinsectides based on both types of viruses are environmentally friendly with much lower risk than conventional chemical insecticides. Herein, we presented a PDV-baculovirus construct with enhanced virulence for two Lepidopteran larval pests which increased the speed of action and extended the host range. However, its safety to non-target organisms has not been evaluated. A recent work reported a recombinant baculovirus which was highly effective and environmentally friendly (Shim, Choi et al. 2013). Bioassays with the developed recombinant and other constructions are currently underway on Sesamia nonagrioides, a polyphagous species with a fairly wide range of host plants, the pink bollworm Pectinophora gossypiella (pest of cotton), Heliothis virescens (pest of a variety of crops), and H. zea (pest of maize), which is normally a non-permissive host of AcMNPV due to mobilization of a cellular immune response (Simón, Williams et al. 2004). The enhanced virulence of the recombinant baculovirus may result in an expansion of the host range of the virus as well as facilitate rapid death of those insects treated with the virus. Hence, they could become potential agents for their use in biological control programs. Further research on PDV will also lead to the identification of new genes and specific PDVs promoters which could be expressed in baculovirus as demonstrated in the present work or using such PDV genes and promoters in other biological expression systems in order to evaluate its efficiency as biopesticides.

# 7 Conclusion

In this study, two recombinant baculoviruses were constructed. One of them was used to expression and purification of CrV1 protein and another was used to do bioassay. The GST-CrV1 protein was successfully expressed and purified from the infected Sf9 cells for pull-down assay. During the course of pull-down assay, the GST-CrV1 protein was degraded, suggesting that the lysate may contain some materials which cause the degradation. The contents of the materials are still unknown and another experiment showed that protease consisting of RNA may involve in the degradation. In the bioassay study, the recombinant virus was then tested against the insect pests *Spodoptera exigua* and *Pieris rapae*. The recombinant virus expressing CrV1 protein showed significantly lower  $LC_{50}$  and  $LT_{50}$  as compared with the wild-type virus, which indicated that the recombinant baculoviruses expressing only CrV1 gene improve their virulence.

# Glossary

### Affinity chromatography

A method of separating biochemical components based on specific interactions between the components of the biochemical mixture and other molecules (e.g., antigen-antibody or receptor-ligand).

# **Cell culture**

The treatment of cells removed from an organism, and sustained in an artificial environment that simulates the condition of the tissue the cells came from; the proces of maintaining or multiplying cells in a nutrient solution, and at an optimal temperature, under incubation.

### Electrophoresis

Electrophoresis is a technique for separating macromolecules (proteins, RNA, DNA) on a gel using an electric field.

### **Expression vector**

Cloning vector containing DNA sequences such as a promoter, a ribosome-binding site, and transcription initiation and termination sites that allow DNA fragments inserted into the vector to be transcribed and translated.

#### **Gel electrophoresis**

Gel electrophoresis is a laboratory method used to separate mixtures of DNA, RNA, or proteins according to their sizes

### **Homologous recombination**

When a manipulated gene is introduced into a cell, it can be incorporated into the genome either randomly or at a specific locus. By incorporating sequences that normally flank the desired locus, a manipulated gene can be specifically (albeit rarely) introduced into the genome. Selection for

this unlikely event can be enhanced by introduction of the herpes thymidine kinase (TK) gene into the original targeting construct. Should the construct be randomly incorporated into the genome, the TK gene will also be introduced, rendering the cell sensitive to gancyclovir. If homologous recombination occurs, the TK gene will be eliminated, as there are no homologous sequences at the specific genetic locus of interest and the resultant cell will be resistant to the antibiotic.

### PCR (polymerase chain reaction)

This technique finds use in several arenas of recombinant DNA technology. It is based on the ability of sense and antisense DNA primers to hybridize to a cDNA of interest. Following extension from the primers on the cDNA template by DNA polymerase, the reaction is heat-denatured and allowed to anneal with the primers once again. Another round of extension leads to a multiplicative increase in DNA products. Therefore, a minute amount of cDNA can be efficiently amplified in an exponential fashion to result in easily manipulable amounts of cDNA.

### Promoter

DNA sequence to which the transcription apparatus binds so as to initiate transcription; indicates the direction of transcription, which of the two DNA strands is to be read as the template, and the starting point of transcription.

### **Provirus**

DNA copy of viral DNA or viral RNA; integrated into the host chromosome and replicated along with the host chromosome.

#### **Restriction endonuclease**

Technical term for a restriction enzyme, which recognizes particular base sequences in DNA and makes double-stranded cuts nearby

### **Reverse transcriptase PCR**

A polymerase chain reaction that produces multiple copies of a selected RNA sequence rather than a DNA sequence; compare to polymerase chain reaction.

# **Taq polymerase**

DNA polymerase commonly used in PCR reactions. Isolated from the bacterium Thermus aquaticus, the enzyme is stable at high temperatures, and so it is not denatured during the strand-separation step of the cycle.

# Vector

A piece of DNA that ferries a foreign sequence of DNA into a cell or organism; together with the foreign DNA, the vector forms recombinant DNA. In disease transmission, the organism that carries an infectious agent (virus, parasite) from one host to another.

### Western blotting

This technique is designed to detect specific protein present in a heterogenous sample. Proteins are denatured and size-fractionated by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, transferred to nitrocellulose or other synthetic membranes, and then probed with an antibody to the protein of interest. The immune complexes present on the blot are then detected using a labeled second antibody (for example, a 125I-labeled or biotinylated goat anti-rabbit IgG). As the original gel electrophoresis was done under denaturing and reducing conditions, the precise size of the target protein can be determined.

# References

Aebersold, R. and M. Mann (2003). "Mass spectrometry-based proteomics." Nature **422**(6928): 198-207.

Agathos, S. N. (2010). "Insect cell culture." Manual of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology: 212-222.

Ahrens, C. H. and G. F. Rohrmann (1995). "Replication of Orgyia pseudotsugata baculovirus DNA: lef-2 and ie-1 are essential and ie-2, p34, and Op-iap are stimulatory genes." Virology **212**(2): 650-662.

Albrecht, U., T. Wyler, R. Pfister-Wilhelm, A. Gruber, P. Stettler, P. Heiniger, E. Kurt, D. Schümperli and B. Lanzrein (1994). "Polydnavirus of the parasitic wasp Chelonus inanitus (Braconidae): characterization, genome organization and time point of replication." The Journal of general virology **75**: 3353-3363.

Arnau, J., C. Lauritzen, G. E. Petersen and J. Pedersen (2006). "Current strategies for the use of affinity tags and tag removal for the purification of recombinant proteins." Protein expression and purification **48**(1): 1-13.

Asgari, S., M. Hellers and O. Schmidt (1996). "Host haemocyte inactivation by an insect parasitoid: transient expression of a polydnavirus gene." Journal of General Virology **77**(10): 2653-2662.

Asgari, S. and O. Schmidt (2001). "Promoter studies of a polydnavirus gene from *Cotesia rubecula* (Hym: Braconidae)." Archives of virology **146**(10): 1979-1989.

Asgari, S. and O. Schmidt (2002). "A coiled-coil region of an insect immune suppressor protein is involved in binding and uptake by hemocytes." Insect biochemistry and molecular biology **32**(5): 497-504.

Asgari, S., O. Schmidt and U. Theopold (1997). "A polydnavirus-encoded protein of an endoparasitoid wasp is an immune suppressor." Journal of General Virology **78**(11): 3061-3070.

Aumiller, J. J., J. R. Hollister and D. L. Jarvis (2003). "A transgenic insect cell line engineered to produce CMP–sialic acid and sialylated glycoproteins." Glycobiology **13**(6): 497-507.

Aumiller, J. J., H. Mabashi-Asazuma, A. Hillar, X. Shi and D. L. Jarvis (2012). "A new glycoengineered insect cell line with an inducibly mammalianized protein N-glycosylation pathway." Glycobiology **22**(3): 417-428.

Baltz, R. H., A. L. Demain and J. E. Davies (2010). Manual of industrial microbiology and biotechnology, American Society for Microbiology Press.

Beas-Catena, A., A. Sánchez-Mirón, F. García-Camacho, A. Contreras-Gómez and E. Molina-Grima (2013). "Adaptation of the Spodoptera exigua Se301 insect cell line to grow in serum-free suspended culture. Comparison of SeMNPV productivity in serum-free and serum-containing media." Applied microbiology and biotechnology **97**(8): 3373-3381.

Beas-Catena, A., A. Sánchez-Mirón, F. García-Camacho and E. Molina-Grima (2011). "Adaptation of the Se301 insect cell line to suspension culture. Effect of turbulence on growth and on production of nucleopolyhedrovius (SeMNPV)." Cytotechnology **63**(6): 543-552.

Beck, M. and M. R. Strand (2003). "RNA interference silences Microplitis demolitor bracovirus genes and implicates glc1. 8 in disruption of adhesion in infected host cells." Virology **314**(2): 521-535.

Beck, M. and M. R. Strand (2005). "Glc1. 8 from Microplitis demolitor bracovirus induces a loss of adhesion and phagocytosis in insect high five and S2 cells." Journal of virology **79**(3): 1861-1870.

Beck, M. H., R. B. Inman and M. R. Strand (2007). "Microplitis demolitor bracovirus genome segments vary in abundance and are individually packaged in virions." Virology **359**(1): 179-189. Beck, M. H. and M. R. Strand (2007). "A novel polydnavirus protein inhibits the insect prophenoloxidase activation pathway." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **104**(49): 19267-19272.

Beck, M. H., S. Zhang, K. Bitra, G. R. Burke and M. R. Strand (2011). "The encapsidated genome of Microplitis demolitor bracovirus integrates into the host Pseudoplusia includens." Journal of virology **85**(22): 11685-11696.

Beckage, N. E. and J.-M. Drezen (2011). Parasitoid viruses: symbionts and pathogens, Academic Press.

Bell, M. R., M. J. Engleka, A. Malik and J. E. Strickler (2013). "To fuse or not to fuse: What is your purpose?" Protein Science **22**(11): 1466-1477.

Belle, E., N. E. Beckage, J. Rousselet, M. Poirié, F. Lemeunier and J.-M. Drezen (2002).
"Visualization of polydnavirus sequences in a parasitoid wasp chromosome." Journal of virology 76(11): 5793-5796.

Berggård, T., S. Linse and P. James (2007). "Methods for the detection and analysis of protein– protein interactions." Proteomics **7**(16): 2833-2842.

Bézier, A., M. Annaheim, J. Herbinière, C. Wetterwald, G. Gyapay, S. Bernard-Samain, P.
Wincker, I. Roditi, M. Heller and M. Belghazi (2009). "Polydnaviruses of braconid wasps derive from an ancestral nudivirus." Science 323(5916): 926-930.

Bianchi, F. J., N. N. Joosten, J. M. Vlak and W. van der Werf (2000). "Greenhouse Evaluation of Dose–and Time–Mortality Relationships of Two Nucleopolyhedroviruses for the Control of Beet Armyworm, *Spodoptera exigua*, on Chrysanthemum." Biological Control **19**(3): 252-258.

Bianchi, F. J., I. Snoeijing, W. van der Werf, R. M. Mans, P. H. Smits and J. M. Vlak (2000). "Biological Activity of SeMNPV, AcMNPV, and Three AcMNPV Deletion Mutants against *Spodoptera exigua* Larvae (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae)." Journal of Invertebrate Pathology **75**(1): 28-35.

Bigot, Y., S. Samain, C. Augé-Gouillou and B. A. Federici (2008). "Molecular evidence for the evolution of ichnoviruses from ascoviruses by symbiogenesis." BMC evolutionary biology **8**(1): 253.

Blackwood, E. M. and R. N. Eisenman (1991). "Max: a helix-loop-helix zipper protein that forms a sequence-specific DNA-binding complex with Myc." Science **251**(4998): 1211-1217.

Blissard, G., J. Fleming, S. Vinson and M. Summers (1986). "Campoletis sonorensis virus: expression in Heliothis virescens and identification of expressed sequences." Journal of insect physiology **32**(4): 351-359.

Blissard, G., O. Smith and M. Summers (1987). "Two related viral genes are located on a single superhelical DNA segment of the multipartite Campoletis sonorensis virus genome." Virology **160**(1): 120-134.

Bouma, A., A. De Smit, E. De Kluijver, C. Terpstra and R. Moormann (1999). "Efficacy and stability of a subunit vaccine based on glycoprotein E2 of classical swine fever virus." Veterinary microbiology **66**(2): 101-114.

Braun, P. and A. C. Gingras (2012). "History of protein–protein interactions: From egg-white to complex networks." Proteomics **12**(10): 1478-1498.

Braunagel, S., R. Parr, M. Belyavskyi and M. Summers (1998). "*Autographa californica* nucleopolyhedrovirus infection results in Sf9 cell cycle arrest at G2/M phase." Virology (USA).

Brymora, A., V. A. Valova and P. J. Robinson (2004). "Protein-Protein Interactions Identified by Pull-Down Experiments and Mass Spectrometry." Current protocols in cell biology: 17.15. 11-17.15. 51.

Burgess, R. R. and M. P. Deutscher (2009). Guide to protein purification, Academic Press.

Burke, G. R. and M. R. Strand (2012). "Deep sequencing identifies viral and wasp genes with potential roles in replication of Microplitis demolitor bracovirus." Journal of virology: JVI. 06434-06411.

Burke, G. R. and M. R. Strand (2012). "Polydnaviruses of parasitic wasps: domestication of viruses to act as gene delivery vectors." Insects **3**(1): 91-119.

Burke, G. R. and M. R. Strand (2014). "Systematic analysis of a wasp parasitism arsenal." Molecular ecology **23**(4): 890-901.

Burke, G. R., S. A. Thomas, J. H. Eum and M. R. Strand (2013). "Mutualistic polydnaviruses share essential replication gene functions with pathogenic ancestors." PLoS pathogens **9**(5): e1003348.

Caballero, P., R. Murillo, D. Muñoz and T. Williams (2009). "The nucleopolyhedrovirus of *Spodoptera exigua* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) as a biopesticide: analysis of recent advances in Spain." Revista Colombiana de Entomología **35**(2): 105-115.

Candiano, G., M. Bruschi, L. Musante, L. Santucci, G. M. Ghiggeri, B. Carnemolla, P. Orecchia, L. Zardi and P. G. Righetti (2004). "Blue silver: a very sensitive colloidal Coomassie G-250 staining for proteome analysis." Electrophoresis **25**(9): 1327-1333.

Carinhas, N., V. Bernal, A. Y. Yokomizo, M. J. Carrondo, R. Oliveira and P. M. Alves (2009). "Baculovirus production for gene therapy: the role of cell density, multiplicity of infection and medium exchange." Applied microbiology and biotechnology **81**(6): 1041-1049. Carpentier, D. C., C. M. Griffiths and L. A. King (2008). "The baculovirus P10 protein of Autographa californica nucleopolyhedrovirus forms two distinct cytoskeletal-like structures and associates with polyhedral occlusion bodies during infection." Virology **371**(2): 278-291.

Carpentier, D. C. and L. A. King (2009). "The long road to understanding the baculovirus P10 protein." Virologica Sinica **24**(4): 227-242.

Carson, M., D. H. Johnson, H. McDonald, C. Brouillette and L. J. DeLucas (2007). "His-tag impact on structure." Acta Crystallographica Section D: Biological Crystallography **63**(3): 295-301.

Carstens, E. and L. Ball (2009). "Ratification vote on taxonomic proposals to the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (2008)." Archives of virology **154**(7): 1181-1188.

Chen, C.-J., D. J. Leisy and S. M. Thiem (1996). "Physical map of *Anagrapha falcifera* multinucleocapsid nuclear polyhedrosis virus." Journal of general virology **77**(2): 167-171.

Chen, M., J.-z. Zhao, A. M. Shelton, J. Cao and E. D. Earle (2008). "Impact of single-gene and dual-gene Bt broccoli on the herbivore *Pieris rapae* (Lepidoptera: Pieridae) and its pupal endoparasitoid *Pteromalus puparum* (Hymenoptera: Pteromalidae)." Transgenic research **17**(4): 545-555.

Chen, Y.-f., F. Gao, X.-q. Ye, S.-j. Wei, M. Shi, H.-j. Zheng and X.-x. Chen (2011). "Deep sequencing of Cotesia vestalis bracovirus reveals the complexity of a polydnavirus genome." Virology **414**(1): 42-50.

Chen, Y., P. Taylor, M. Shapiro and D. Gundersen-Rindal (2003). "Quantitative expression analysis of a Glyptapanteles indiensis polydnavirus protein tyrosine phosphatase gene in its natural lepidopteran host, Lymantria dispar." Insect molecular biology **12**(3): 271-280.

Chevignon, G., S. Cambier, C. Da Silva, J. Poulain, J.-M. Drezen, E. Huguet and S. Moreau (2015). "Transcriptomic response of Manduca sexta immune tissues to parasitization by the bracovirus associated wasp Cotesia congregata." Insect biochemistry and molecular biology.

Chevignon, G., J. Thézé, S. Cambier, J. Poulain, C. Da Silva, A. Bezier, K. Musset, S. J. Moreau, J.-M. Drezen and E. Huguet (2014). "Functional annotation of Cotesia congregata bracovirus: identification of the viral genes expressed in parasitized host immune tissues." Journal of virology: JVI. 00209-00214.

Clem, R. (2001). "Baculoviruses and apoptosis: the good, the bad, and the ugly." Cell death and differentiation **8(2)**(2): 137-143.

Clem, R. J. (2007). "Baculoviruses and apoptosis: a diversity of genes and responses." Current drug targets **8**(10): 1069-1074.

Conner, M., C. Zarley, B. Hu, S. Parsons, D. Drabinski, S. Greiner, R. Smith, B. Jiang, B. Corsaro and H. Madore (1996). "Virus-like particles as a rotavirus subunit vaccine." Journal of Infectious Diseases **174**(Supplement 1): S88-S92.

Contreras-Gómez, A., A. Sánchez-Mirón, F. García-Camacho, E. Molina-Grima and Y. Chisti (2014). "Protein production using the baculovirus-insect cell expression system." Biotechnology progress **30**(1): 1-18.

Cooper, T. H., K. Bailey-Hill, W. R. Leifert, E. J. McMurchie, S. Asgari and R. V. Glatz (2011). "Identification of an in vitro interaction between an insect immune suppressor protein (CrV2) and Gα proteins." Journal of Biological Chemistry **286**(12): 10466-10475.

Cory, J. S. and J. H. Myers (2003). "The ecology and evolution of insect baculoviruses." Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics: 239-272.

Cruz, P. E., C. C. Peixoto, J. L. Moreira and M. J. Carrondo (1998). "Production and quality analysis of Pr55gag particles produced in baculovirus-infected insect cells." Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology **72**(2): 149-158.

Cui, L., A. Soldevila and B. A. Webb (1997). "Expression and hemocyte-targeting of a Campoletis sonorensis polydnavirus cysteine-rich gene in Heliothis virescens larvae." Archives of insect biochemistry and physiology **36**(4): 251-271.

Cui, L. and B. A. Webb (1996). "Isolation and characterization of a member of the cysteine-rich gene family from Campoletis sonorensis polydnavirus." Journal of General Virology **77**(4): 797-809.

Dahlman, D., R. Rana, E. Schepers, T. Schepers, F. DiLuna and B. Webb (2003). "A teratocyte gene from a parasitic wasp that is associated with inhibition of insect growth and development inhibits host protein synthesis." Insect molecular biology **12**(5): 527-534.

Dalbøge, H., H.-H. M. Dahl, J. Pedersen, J. W. Hansen and T. Christensen (1987). "A novel enzymatic method for production of authentic hGH from an Escherichia coli produced hGH– precursor." Nature Biotechnology **5**(2): 161-164.

Dang, C., J. Barrett, M. Villa-Garcia, L. Resar, G. Kato and E. Fearon (1991). "Intracellular leucine zipper interactions suggest c-Myc hetero-oligomerization." Molecular and cellular biology **11**(2): 954-962.

Darst, R. P., C. E. Pardo, L. Ai, K. D. Brown and M. P. Kladde (2010). "Bisulfite sequencing of DNA." Current Protocols in Molecular Biology: 7.9. 1-7.9. 17.

De Marco, V., G. Stier, S. Blandin and A. De Marco (2004). "The solubility and stability of recombinant proteins are increased by their fusion to NusA." Biochemical and biophysical research communications **322**(3): 766-771.

Deane, C. M., Ł. Salwiński, I. Xenarios and D. Eisenberg (2002). "Protein interactions two methods for assessment of the reliability of high throughput observations." Molecular & Cellular Proteomics **1**(5): 349-356.

Deparis, V., C. Durrieu, M. Schweizer, I. Marc, J. Goergen, I. Chevalot and A. Marc (2003). "Promoting effect of rapeseed proteins and peptides on Sf9 insect cell growth." Cytotechnology **42**(2): 75-85.

Desjardins, C. A., D. E. Gundersen-Rindal, J. B. Hostetler, L. J. Tallon, D. W. Fadrosh, R. W. Fuester, M. J. Pedroni, B. J. Haas, M. C. Schatz and K. M. Jones (2008). "Comparative genomics of mutualistic viruses of Glyptapanteles parasitic wasps." Genome Biol **9**(12): R183.

Di Tullio, A., S. Reale and F. De Angelis (2005). "Molecular recognition by mass spectrometry." Journal of mass spectrometry **40**(7): 845-865.

Dimitrova, M., G. Younes-Cauet, P. Oertel-Buchheit, D. Porte, M. Schnarr and M. Granger-Schnarr (1998). "A new LexA-based genetic system for monitoring and analyzing protein heterodimerization in Escherichia coli." Molecular and General Genetics MGG **257**(2): 205-212.

Donaldson, M., H. A. Wood, P. C. Kulakosky and M. L. Shuler (1999). "Glycosylation of a recombinant protein in the Tn5B1-4 insect cell line: Influence of ammonia, time of harvest, temperature, and dissolved oxygen." Biotechnology and bioengineering **63**(3): 255-262.

Dong, Y., H. E. Taylor and G. Dimopoulos (2006). "AgDscam, a hypervariable immunoglobulin domain-containing receptor of the Anopheles gambiae innate immune system." PLoS biology **4**(7): e229.

Dove, S. L., J. K. Joung and A. Hochschild (1997). "Activation of prokaryotic transcription through arbitrary protein-protein contacts." Nature **386**(6625): 627-630.

Dwyer, K. G., S. E. Webb, A. M. Shelton and R. R. Granados (1988). "Establishment of cell lines from *Pieris rapae* embryos: Characterization and susceptibility to baculoviruses." Journal of Invertebrate Pathology **52**(2): 268-274.

DYKES, C. W., A. B. BOOKLESS, B. A. COOMBER, S. A. NOBLE, D. C. HUMBER and A. N. HOBDEN (1988). "Expression of atrial natriuretic factor as a cleavable fusion protein with chloramphenicol acetyltransferase in Escherichia coli." European Journal of Biochemistry **174**(2): 411-416.

Dyson, M. R., S. P. Shadbolt, K. J. Vincent, R. L. Perera and J. McCafferty (2004). "Production of soluble mammalian proteins in Escherichia coli: identification of protein features that correlate with successful expression." BMC biotechnology **4**(1): 32.

Edson, K. M., S. B. Vinson, D. B. Stoltz and M. D. Summers (1981). "Virus in a parasitoid wasp: suppression of the cellular immune response in the parasitoid's host." Science **211**(4482): 582-583.

Einhauer, A. and A. Jungbauer (2001). "The FLAG<sup>TM</sup> peptide, a versatile fusion tag for the purification of recombinant proteins." Journal of biochemical and biophysical methods 49(1): 455-465.

Elvira, S., T. Williams and P. Caballero (2010). "Juvenile hormone analog technology: effects on larval cannibalism and the production of *Spodoptera exigua* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) nucleopolyhedrovirus." Journal of economic entomology **103**(3): 577-582.

Emery, V. C. and D. H. Bishop (1987). "The development of multiple expression vectors for high level synthesis of eukaryotic proteins: expression of LCMV-N and AcNPV polyhedrin protein by a recombinant baculovirus." Protein Engineering **1**(4): 359-366.

Engelhard, E., L. Kam-Morgan, J. Washburn and L. Volkman (1994). "The insect tracheal system: a conduit for the systemic spread of *Autographa californica* M nuclear polyhedrosis virus." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **91**(8): 3224-3227.

Ernst, W., R. Grabherr, D. Wegner, N. Borth, A. Grassauer and H. Katinger (1998). "Baculovirus surface display: construction and screening of a eukaryotic epitope library." Nucleic acids research **26**(7): 1718-1723.

Espagne, E., C. Dupuy, E. Huguet, L. Cattolico, B. Provost, N. Martins, M. Poirié, G. Periquet and J. M. Drezen (2004). "Genome sequence of a polydnavirus: insights into symbiotic virus evolution." Science **306**(5694): 286-289.

Eum, J.-H., R. C. Bottjen, A. J. Pruijssers, K. D. Clark and M. R. Strand (2010). "Characterization and kinetic analysis of protein tyrosine phosphatase-H2 from Microplitis demolitor bracovirus." Insect biochemistry and molecular biology **40**(9): 690-698.

Evan, G. I., G. K. Lewis, G. Ramsay and J. M. Bishop (1985). "Isolation of monoclonal antibodies specific for human c-myc proto-oncogene product." Molecular and Cellular Biology **5**(12): 3610-3616.

Fath-Goodin, A., J. Kroemer and B. Webb (2009). "The Campoletis sonorensis ichnovirus vankyrin protein P-vank-1 inhibits apoptosis in insect Sf9 cells." Insect molecular biology **18**(4): 497-506.

Federici, B. and Y. Bigot (2003). "Origin and evolution of polydnaviruses by symbiogenesis of insect DNA viruses in endoparasitic wasps." Journal of Insect Physiology **49**(5): 419-432.

Feldman, M., T. Zusman, S. Hagag and G. Segal (2005). "Coevolution between nonhomologous but functionally similar proteins and their conserved partners in the Legionella pathogenesis

system." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **102**(34): 12206-12211.

Fields, S. and O.-k. Song (1989). "A novel genetic system to detect protein-protein interactions." Nature(340): 245-246.

Finney, D. J. (1971). Probit Analysis: 3d Ed, Cambridge University Press.

Fleming, J.-A. G. (1992). "Polydnaviruses: mutualists and pathogens." Annual review of entomology **37**(1): 401-425.

Fleming, J.-A. G., G. W. Blissard, M. D. Summers and S. B. Vinson (1983). "Expression of Campoletis sonorensis virus in the parasitized host, Heliothis virescens." Journal of virology **48**(1): 74-78.

Fleming, J. and M. D. Summers (1991). "Polydnavirus DNA is integrated in the DNA of its parasitoid wasp host." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **88**(21): 9770-9774.

Flipsen, J., J. Martens, M. Van Oers, J. Vlak and J. Van Lent (1995). "Passage of *Autographa californica* nuclear polyhedrosis virus through the midgut epithelium of Spodoptera exigua larvae." Virology **208**(1): 328-335.

Flynn, J. M., S. B. Neher, Y.-I. Kim, R. T. Sauer and T. A. Baker (2003). "Proteomic discovery of cellular substrates of the ClpXP protease reveals five classes of ClpX-recognition signals." Molecular cell **11**(3): 671-683.

Francki, R. I. B., C. Fauquet, D. Knudson and F. Brown (1991). Classification and nomenclature of viruses. Fifth report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses.

G Aucoin, M., J. A Mena and A. A Kamen (2010). "Bioprocessing of baculovirus vectors: a review." Current gene therapy **10**(3): 174-186.

Gaberc-Porekar, V. and V. Menart (2001). "Perspectives of immobilized-metal affinity chromatography." Journal of biochemical and biophysical methods **49**(1): 335-360.

Gad, W. and Y. Kim (2008). "A viral histone H4 encoded by Cotesia plutellae bracovirus inhibits haemocyte-spreading behaviour of the diamondback moth, Plutella xylostella." Journal of general virology **89**(4): 931-938.

Gallagher, S. R. (2006). "One-dimensional SDS gel electrophoresis of proteins." Current protocols in molecular biology: 10.12 A. 11-10.12 A. 44.

Gay, N. J., V. Tybulewicz and J. Walker (1986). "Insertion of transposon Tn7 into the Escherichia coli glmS transcriptional terminator." Biochem. J **234**: 111-117.

Geisler, C. and D. L. Jarvis (2012). "Innovative use of a bacterial enzyme involved in sialic acid degradation to initiate sialic acid biosynthesis in glycoengineered insect cells." Metabolic engineering **14**(6): 642-652.

Gillespie and, J. P., M. R. Kanost and T. Trenczek (1997). "Biological mediators of insect immunity." Annual review of entomology **42**(1): 611-643.

Glatz, R., O. Schmidt and S. Asgari (2004). "Isolation and characterization of a Cotesia rubecula bracovirus gene expressed in the lepidopteran Pieris rapae." Journal of general virology **85**(10): 2873-2882.

Glatz, R. V., S. Asgari and O. Schmidt (2004). "Evolution of polydnaviruses as insect immune suppressors." Trends in microbiology **12**(12): 545-554.

Goldberg, A. L. (2003). "Protein degradation and protection against misfolded or damaged proteins." Nature **426**(6968): 895-899.

Golemis, E. A. and V. Khazak (1997). Alternative yeast two-hybrid systems. Recombinant Protein Protocols, Springer: 197-218.

Goley, E. D., T. Ohkawa, J. Mancuso, J. B. Woodruff, J. A. D'Alessio, W. Z. Cande, L. E. Volkman and M. D. Welch (2006). "Dynamic nuclear actin assembly by Arp2/3 complex and a baculovirus WASP-like protein." Science **314**(5798): 464-467.

Grabherr, R. and W. Ernst (2001). "The baculovirus expression system as a tool for generating diversity by viral surface display." Combinatorial chemistry & high throughput screening **4**(2): 185-192.

Grace, T. (1962). "Establishment of four strains of cells from insect tissues grown in vitro."

Grace, T. (1967). "Establishment of a line of cells from the silkworm Bombyx mori." Nature **216**: 613.

Gramkow, A. W., S. Perecmanis, R. L. Sousa, E. F. Noronha, C. R. Felix, T. Nagata and B. M. Ribeiro (2010). "Insecticidal activity of two proteases against *Spodoptera frugiperda* larvae infected with recombinant baculoviruses." Virology Journal **7**(1): 143.

Granados, R. and M. Naughton (1976). Replication of Amsacta moorei entomopoxvirus and Autographa californica nuclear polyhedrosis virus in hemocyte cell lines from Estigmene acrea. Int Conf on Invertebrate Tissue Culture; Applications in Medicine, Biology, and Agriculture.

Gruber, A., P. Stettler, P. Heiniger, D. Schümperli and B. Lanzrein (1996). "Polydnavirus DNA of the braconid wasp Chelonus inanitus is integrated in the wasp's genome and excised only in later pupal and adult stages of the female." Journal of General Virology **77**(11): 2873-2879.

Guan, H. and E. Kiss-Toth (2008). Advanced technologies for studies on protein interactomes. Protein–Protein Interaction, Springer: 1-24.

Guarino, L. (2011). "Baculoviruses." eLS.

Guarino, L. A., B. Xu, J. Jin and W. Dong (1998). "A virus-encoded RNA polymerase purified from baculovirus-infected cells." Journal of Virology **72**(10): 7985-7991.

Gundersen-Rindal, D., C. Dupuy, E. Huguet and J.-M. Drezen (2013). "Parasitoid polydnaviruses: evolution, pathology and applications: Dedicated to the memory of Nancy E. Beckage." Biocontrol Science and Technology **23**(1): 1-61.

Gundersen-Rindal, D. and D. Lynn (2003). "Polydnavirus integration in lepidopteran host cells in vitro." Journal of insect physiology **49**(5): 453-462.

Gupta, R., S. Sharma, J. A. Sommers, M. K. Kenny, S. B. Cantor and R. M. Brosh Jr (2007). "FANCJ (BACH1) helicase forms DNA damage inducible foci with replication protein A and interacts physically and functionally with the single-stranded DNA-binding protein." Blood **110**(7): 2390-2398.

Haas-Stapleton, E. J., J. O. Washburn and L. E. Volkman (2005). "*Spodoptera frugiperda* resistance to oral infection by *Autographa californica* multiple nucleopolyhedrovirus linked to aberrant occlusion-derived virus binding in the midgut." Journal of general virology **86**(5): 1349-1355.

Habig, W. H., M. J. Pabst and W. B. Jakoby (1974). "Glutathione S-transferases the first enzymatic step in mercapturic acid formation." Journal of biological Chemistry **249**(22): 7130-7139.

Harcourt, D. (1963). Biology of cabbage caterpillars in eastern Ontario. Proceedings of the Entomological Society of Ontario.

Harper, D. M., E. L. Franco, C. M. Wheeler, A.-B. Moscicki, B. Romanowski, C. M. Roteli-Martins, D. Jenkins, A. Schuind, S. A. C. Clemens and G. Dubin (2006). "Sustained efficacy up to  $4 \cdot 5$  years of a bivalent L1 virus-like particle vaccine against human papillomavirus types 16 and 18: follow-up from a randomised control trial." The Lancet **367**(9518): 1247-1255. Harrison, R. L. and D. L. Jarvis (2006). "Protein N-Glycosylation in the Baculovirus–Insect Cell Expression System and Engineering of Insect Cells to Produce "Mammalianized" Recombinant Glycoproteins." Advances in virus research **68**: 159-191.

Hawtin, R. E., K. Arnold, M. D. Ayres, P. M. de A. Zanotto, S. C. Howard, G. W. Gooday, L. H. Chappell, P. A. Kitts, L. A. King and R. D. Possee (1995). "Identification and preliminary characterization of a chitinase gene in the Autographa californica nuclear polyhedrosis virus genome." Virology **212**(2): 673-685.

Hayes, C. S., B. Bose and R. T. Sauer (2002). "Proline residues at the C terminus of nascent chains induce SsrA tagging during translation termination." Journal of Biological Chemistry **277**(37): 33825-33832.

Heraty, J., F. Ronquist, J. M. Carpenter, D. Hawks, S. Schulmeister, A. P. Dowling, D. Murray, J. Munro, W. C. Wheeler and N. Schiff (2011). "Evolution of the hymenopteran megaradiation." Molecular phylogenetics and evolution **60**(1): 73-88.

Herniou, E. A. and J. A. Jehle (2007). "Baculovirus phylogeny and evolution." Current drug targets **8**(10): 1043-1050.

Hess, R. T., G. S. Benham and G. O. Poinar (1975). "The ultrastructure of microorganisms in the tissues of Casinaria infesta (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae)." Journal of Invertebrate Pathology **26**(2): 181-191.

Hill-Perkins, M. S. and R. D. Possee (1990). "A baculovirus expression vector derived from the basic protein promoter of Autographa californica nuclear polyhedrosis virus." Journal of general virology **71**(4): 971-976.

Hink, W. (1970). "Established insect cell line from the cabbage looper, Trichoplusia ni."

Hitchman, R. B., R. D. Possee, A. T. Crombie, A. Chambers, K. Ho, E. Siaterli, O. Lissina, H. Sternard, R. Novy and K. Loomis (2010). "Genetic modification of a baculovirus vector for increased expression in insect cells." Cell biology and toxicology **26**(1): 57-68.

Hochuli, E., W. Bannwarth, H. Döbeli, R. Gentz and D. Stüber (1988). "Genetic approach to facilitate purification of recombinant proteins with a novel metal chelate adsorbent." Nature Biotechnology(6): 1321-1325.

Hollister, J., E. Grabenhorst, M. Nimtz, H. Conradt and D. L. Jarvis (2002). "Engineering the protein N-glycosylation pathway in insect cells for production of biantennary, complex N-glycans." Biochemistry **41**(50): 15093-15104.

Hollister, J. R. and D. L. Jarvis (2001). "Engineering lepidopteran insect cells for sialoglycoprotein production by genetic transformation with mammalian  $\beta$ 1, 4-galactosyltransferase and  $\alpha$ 2, 6-sialyltransferase genes." Glycobiology **11**(1): 1-9.

Hollister, J. R., J. H. Shaper and D. L. Jarvis (1998). "Stable expression of mammalian  $\beta$ 1, 4-galactosyltransferase extends the N-glycosylation pathway in insect cells." Glycobiology **8**(5): 473-480.

Hu, Y.-C., J. T.-A. Hsu, J.-H. Huang, M.-S. Ho and Y.-C. Ho (2003). "Formation of enteroviruslike particle aggregates by recombinant baculoviruses co-expressing P1 and 3CD in insect cells." Biotechnology letters **25**(12): 919-925.

Hu, Y. C. (2005). "Baculovirus as a highly efficient expression vector in insect and mammalian cells." Acta Pharmacologica Sinica **26**(4): 405-416.

Hu, Y. C., W. E. Bentley, G. H. Edwards and V. N. Vakharia (1999). "Chimeric infectious bursal disease virus-like particles expressed in insect cells and purified by immobilized metal affinity chromatography." Biotechnology and bioengineering **63**(6): 721-729.

Hunt, D. F., J. R. Yates, J. Shabanowitz, S. Winston and C. R. Hauer (1986). "Protein sequencing by tandem mass spectrometry." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **83**(17): 6233-6237.

Hunter-Fujita, F. R., P. F. Entwistle, H. F. Evans and N. E. Crook (1998). Insect viruses and pest management, John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

IJkel, W. F., M. Westenberg, R. W. Goldbach, G. W. Blissard, J. M. Vlak and D. Zuidema (2000). "A novel baculovirus envelope fusion protein with a proprotein convertase cleavage site." Virology **275**(1): 30-41.

Ikononou, L., G. Bastin, Y.-J. Schneider and S. N. Agathos (2001). "Design of an efficient medium for insect cell growth and recombinant protein production." In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Animal **37**(9): 549-559.

Inceoglu, A. B., S. G. Kamita, A. C. Hinton, Q. Huang, T. F. Severson, K. D. Kang and B. D. Hammock (2001). "Recombinant baculoviruses for insect control." Pest Management Science **57**(10): 981-987.

Irving, P., J. M. Ubeda, D. Doucet, L. Troxler, M. Lagueux, D. Zachary, J. A. Hoffmann, C. Hetru and M. Meister (2005). "New insights into Drosophila larval haemocyte functions through genome-wide analysis." Cellular microbiology **7**(3): 335-350.

Jacobson, A., R. Foster, C. Krupke, W. Hutchison, B. Pittendrigh and R. Weinzierl (2009). "Resistance to pyrethroid insecticides in *Helicoverpa zea* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) in Indiana and Illinois." Journal of economic entomology **102**(6): 2289-2295.

Jares-Erijman, E. A. and T. M. Jovin (2003). "FRET imaging." Nature biotechnology **21**(11): 1387-1395.

Jarvis, D. L. (1997). Baculovirus expression vectors. The baculoviruses, Springer: 389-431.

Jarvis, D. L., Z. S. Kawar and J. R. Hollister (1998). "Engineering N-glycosylation pathways in the baculovirus-insect cell system." Current opinion in biotechnology **9**(5): 528-533.

Jarvis, D. L., C. Weinkauf and L. A. Guarino (1996). "Immediate-early baculovirus vectors for foreign gene expression in transformed or infected insect cells." Protein expression and purification **8**(2): 191-203.

Jehle, J. A., G. Blissard, B. Bonning, J. Cory, E. Herniou, G. Rohrmann, D. Theilmann, S. Thiem and J. Vlak (2006). "On the classification and nomenclature of baculoviruses: a proposal for revision." Archives of virology **151**(7): 1257-1266.

Jenny, R. J., K. G. Mann and R. L. Lundblad (2003). "A critical review of the methods for cleavage of fusion proteins with thrombin and factor Xa." Protein expression and purification **31**(1): 1-11.

Johnson, J. A., K. Bitra, S. Zhang, L. Wang, D. E. Lynn and M. R. Strand (2010). "The UGA-CiE1 cell line from Chrysodeixis includens exhibits characteristics of granulocytes and is permissive to infection by two viruses." Insect biochemistry and molecular biology **40**(5): 394-404.

Joosten, C. E. and M. L. Shuler (2003). "Production of a Sialylated N-Linked Glycoprotein in Insect Cells: Role of Glycosidases and Effect of Harvest Time on Glycosylation." Biotechnology progress **19**(1): 193-201.

Kaba, S. A., J. C. Hemmes, J. W. van Lent, J. M. Vlak, V. Nene, A. J. Musoke and M. M. van Oers (2003). "Baculovirus surface display of Theileria parva p67 antigen preserves the conformation of sporozoite-neutralizing epitopes." Protein engineering **16**(1): 73-78.

Kaba, S. A., A. M. Salcedo, P. O. Wafula, J. M. Vlak and M. M. van Oers (2004). "Development of a chitinase and v-cathepsin negative bacmid for improved integrity of secreted recombinant proteins." Journal of virological methods **122**(1): 113-118.

Kaelin, W. G., W. Krek, W. R. Sellers, J. A. DeCaprio, F. Ajchenbaum, C. S. Fuchs, T. Chittenden, Y. Li, P. J. Farnham and M. A. Blanar (1992). "Expression cloning of a cDNA encoding a retinoblastoma-binding protein with E2F-like properties." Cell **70**(2): 351-364.

Kaelin, W. G., D. C. Pallas, J. A. DeCaprio, F. J. Kaye and D. M. Livingston (1991). "Identification of cellular proteins that can interact specifically with the T/EIA-binding region of the retinoblastoma gene product." Cell **64**(3): 521-532.

Kaido, M., Y. Inoue, Y. Takeda, K. Sugiyama, A. Takeda, M. Mori, A. Tamai, T. Meshi, T. Okuno and K. Mise (2007). "Downregulation of the NbNACa1 gene encoding a movement-protein-interacting protein reduces cell-to-cell movement of Brome mosaic virus in Nicotiana benthamiana." Molecular plant-microbe interactions **20**(6): 671-681.

Kamen, A. A., C. Bedard, R. Tom, S. Perret and B. Jardin (1996). "On-line monitoring of respiration in recombinant-baculovirus infected and uninfected insect cell bioreactor cultures." Biotechnology and bioengineering **50**(1): 36-48.

Kanost, M. R., M. J. Gorman and N. Beckage (2008). "Phenoloxidases in insect immunity." Insect immunology 1: 69-96.

Kaplan, W., J. Erhardt, N. Sluis-Cremer, H. Dirr, P. Hüsler and H. Klump (1997)."Conformational stability of pGEX-expressed Schistosoma japonicum glutathione S-transferase:A detoxification enzyme and fusion-protein affinity tag." Protein Science 6(2): 399-406.

Kapust, R. B. and D. S. Waugh (1999). "Escherichia coli maltose-binding protein is uncommonly effective at promoting the solubility of polypeptides to which it is fused." Protein Science **8**(08): 1668-1674.

Karas, M. and F. Hillenkamp (1988). "Laser desorption ionization of proteins with molecular masses exceeding 10,000 daltons." Analytical chemistry **60**(20): 2299-2301.

Karimova, G., J. Pidoux, A. Ullmann and D. Ladant (1998). "A bacterial two-hybrid system based on a reconstituted signal transduction pathway." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **95**(10): 5752-5756.

Karlsson, R., A. Michaelsson and L. Mattsson (1991). "Kinetic analysis of monoclonal antibodyantigen interactions with a new biosensor based analytical system." Journal of immunological methods **145**(1): 229-240.

Katti, S. K., D. M. LeMaster and H. Eklund (1990). "Crystal structure of thioredoxin from Escherichia coli at 1.68 Å resolution." Journal of molecular biology **212**(1): 167-184.

Keil, K. M. and M. Tilkins (2013). "Screening yeastolate raw material used in insect cell culture media." Bioprocess Int **11**: 44-51.

Kim, J. and Y. Kim (2010). "A viral histone H4 suppresses expression of a transferrin that plays a role in the immune response of the diamondback moth, Plutella xylostella." Insect molecular biology **19**(4): 567-574.

King, A. M., M. J. Adams and E. J. Lefkowitz (2012). Virus taxonomy: ninth report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses, Elsevier.

Kitts, P. A., M. D. Ayres and R. D. Possee (1990). "Linearization of baculovirus DNA enhances the recovery of recombinant virus expression vectors." Nucleic Acids Research **18**(19): 5667-5672.

Kitts, P. A. and R. Possee (1993). "A method for producing recombinant baculovirus expression vectors at high frequency." Biotechniques **14**(5): 810-817.

Kocks, C., J. H. Cho, N. Nehme, J. Ulvila, A. M. Pearson, M. Meister, C. Strom, S. L. Conto, C. Hetru and L. M. Stuart (2005). "Eater, a transmembrane protein mediating phagocytosis of bacterial pathogens in Drosophila." Cell **123**(2): 335-346.

Kolmar, H., F. Hennecke, K. Götze, B. Janzer, B. Vogt, F. Mayer and H. Fritz (1995). "Membrane insertion of the bacterial signal transduction protein ToxR and requirements of transcription activation studied by modular replacement of different protein substructures." The EMBO journal **14**(16): 3895.

Kong, L., N. C. Sheppard, G. B. Stewart-Jones, C. L. Robson, H. Chen, X. Xu, G. Krashias, C. Bonomelli, C. N. Scanlan and P. D. Kwong (2010). "Expression-system-dependent modulation of HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein antigenicity and immunogenicity." Journal of molecular biology **403**(1): 131-147.

Konz, J. O., J. King and C. L. Cooney (1998). "Effects of oxygen on recombinant protein expression." Biotechnology progress **14**(3): 393-409.

Kool, M., C. H. Ahrens, J. M. Vlak and G. F. Rohrmann (1995). "Replication of baculovirus DNA." Journal of General Virology **76**(9): 2103-2118.

Kornacker, M., B. Remsburg and R. Menzel (1998). "Gene activation by the AraC protein can be inhibited by DNA looping between AraC and a LexA repressor that interacts with AraC: possible applications as a two-hybrid system." Molecular microbiology **30**(3): 615-624.

Kost, T. A., J. P. Condreay and D. L. Jarvis (2005). "Baculovirus as versatile vectors for protein expression in insect and mammalian cells." Nature biotechnology **23**(5): 567-575.

Krell, P. J. and D. B. Stoltz (1979). "Unusual baculovirus of the parasitoid wasp Apanteles melanoscelus: isolation and preliminary characterization." Journal of virology 29(3): 1118-1130.
Krell, P. J. and D. B. Stoltz (1980). "Virus-like particles in the ovary of an ichneumonid wasp: purification and preliminary characterization." Virology 101(2): 408-418.

Kumar, S. and Y. Kim (2014). "Point mutagenesis reveals that a coiled-coil motif of CrV1 is required for entry to hemocytes to suppress cellular immune responses." Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology **177**: 27-34.

Kuroda, K., M. Kato, J. Mima and M. Ueda (2006). "Systems for the detection and analysis of protein–protein interactions." Applied microbiology and biotechnology **71**(2): 127-136.

Kwon, B. and Y. Kim (2008). "Transient expression of an EP1-like gene encoded in Cotesia plutellae bracovirus suppresses the hemocyte population in the diamondback moth, Plutella xylostella." Developmental & Comparative Immunology **32**(8): 932-942.

Labropoulou, V., V. Douris, D. Stefanou, C. Magrioti, L. Swevers and K. Iatrou (2008). "Endoparasitoid wasp bracovirus-mediated inhibition of hemolin function and lepidopteran host immunosuppression." Cellular microbiology **10**(10): 2118-2128.

Lapointe, R., K. Tanaka, W. E. Barney, J. B. Whitfield, J. C. Banks, C. Béliveau, D. Stoltz, B. A. Webb and M. Cusson (2007). "Genomic and morphological features of a banchine polydnavirus: comparison with bracoviruses and ichnoviruses." Journal of virology **81**(12): 6491-6501.

LaVallie, E. R., Z. Lu, E. A. Diblasio-Smith, L. A. Collins-Racie and J. M. McCoy (2000). "Thioredoxin as a fusion partner for production of soluble recombinant proteins in Escherichia coli." Methods in enzymology **326**: 322.

Lavine, M. and N. Beckage (1995). "Polydnaviruses: potent mediators of host insect immune dysfunction." Parasitology Today **11**(10): 368-378.

Le, N., S. Asgari, K. Amaya, F. Tan and N. E. Beckage (2003). "Persistence and expression of *Cotesia congregata* polydnavirus in host larvae of the tobacco hornworm, *Manduca sexta*." Journal of Insect Physiology **49**(5): 533-543.

Lee, S., M. Nalini and Y. Kim (2008). "A viral lectin encoded in Cotesia plutellae bracovirus and its immunosuppressive effect on host hemocytes." Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology **149**(4): 351-361.

Levashina, E. A., L. F. Moita, S. Blandin, G. Vriend, M. Lagueux and F. C. Kafatos (2001). "Conserved role of a complement-like protein in phagocytosis revealed by dsRNA knockout in cultured cells of the mosquito, Anopheles gambiae." Cell **104**(5): 709-718.

Li, X. and B. A. Webb (1994). "Apparent functional role for a cysteine-rich polydnavirus protein in suppression of the insect cellular immune response." Journal of Virology **68**(11): 7482-7489.

Licari, P. and J. Bailey (1992). "Modeling the population dynamics of baculovirus-infected insect cells: Optimizing infection strategies for enhanced recombinant protein yields." Biotechnology and bioengineering **39**(4): 432-441.

LILIUS, G., M. PERSSON, L. BÜLOW and K. MOSBACH (1991). "Metal affinity precipitation of proteins carrying genetically attached polyhistidine affinity tails." European Journal of Biochemistry **198**(2): 499-504.

Ling, E. and X.-Q. Yu (2006). "Cellular encapsulation and melanization are enhanced by immulectins, pattern recognition receptors from the tobacco hornworm Manduca sexta." Developmental & Comparative Immunology **30**(3): 289-299.

Liu, K. and M. M. Hanna (1995). "NusA contacts nascent RNA in Escherichia coli transcription complexes." Journal of molecular biology **247**(4): 547-558.

Lu, Z., M. H. Beck and M. R. Strand (2010). "Egf1. 5 is a second phenoloxidase cascade inhibitor encoded by Microplitis demolitor bracovirus." Insect biochemistry and molecular biology **40**(7): 497-505.

Lu, Z., M. H. Beck, Y. Wang, H. Jiang and M. R. Strand (2008). "The viral protein Egf1. 0 is a dual activity inhibitor of prophenoloxidase-activating proteinases 1 and 3 from Manduca sexta." Journal of Biological Chemistry **283**(31): 21325-21333.

Luckow, V. A., S. Lee, G. Barry and P. Olins (1993). "Efficient generation of infectious recombinant baculoviruses by site-specific transposon-mediated insertion of foreign genes into a baculovirus genome propagated in Escherichia coli." Journal of Virology **67**(8): 4566-4579.

Luckow, V. A. and M. D. Summers (1988). "Trends in the development of baculovirus expression vectors." Nature Biotechnology **6**(1): 47-55.

Luojing, C., C. Ford and Z. Nikolov (1991). "Adsorption to starch of a  $\beta$ -galactosidase fusion protein containing the starch-binding region of Aspergillus glucoamylase." Gene **99**(1): 121-126. Machesky, L. M. and R. H. Insall (2001). "WASP homology sequences in baculoviruses." Trends in cell biology **11**(7): 286-287.

Makela, A. R. and C. Oker-Blom (2008). "The baculovirus display technology-an evolving instrument for molecular screening and drug delivery." Combinatorial chemistry & high throughput screening **11**(2): 86-98.

Mans, R. M. and D. Knebel-Mörsdorf (1998). "In vitro transcription of pe38/polyhedrin hybrid promoters reveals sequences essential for recognition by the baculovirus-induced RNA polymerase and for the strength of very late viral promoters." Journal of virology **72**(4): 2991-2998.

Maranga, L., P. E. Cruz, J. G. Aunins and M. J. Carrondo (2002). Production of core and viruslike particles with baculovirus infected insect cells. Tools and Applications of Biochemical Engineering Science, Springer: 183-206.

Marblestone, J. G., S. C. Edavettal, Y. Lim, P. Lim, X. Zuo and T. R. Butt (2006). "Comparison of SUMO fusion technology with traditional gene fusion systems: enhanced expression and solubility with SUMO." Protein Science **15**(1): 182-189.

Marichal-Gallardo, P. and M. Alvarez (2012). "State-of-the-art in downstream processing of monoclonal antibodies: Process trends in design and validation." Biotechnology progress **28**(4): 899-916.

Martens, J. W., M. M. van Oers, B. D. van de Bilt, P. Oudshoorn and J. M. Vlak (1995). "Development of a baculovirus vector that facilitates the generation of p10-based recombinants." Journal of virological methods **52**(1): 15-19.

Masters, S. C. (2004). Co-immunoprecipitation from transfected cells. Protein-Protein Interactions, Springer: 337-348.

Mcintosh, A. H., J. J. Grasela and H. J. Popham (2005). "AcMNPV in permissive, semipermissive, and nonpermissive cell lines from Arthropoda." In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Animal **41**(8-9): 298-304.

Metz, S. W. and G. P. Pijlman (2011). "Arbovirus vaccines; opportunities for the baculovirusinsect cell expression system." Journal of Invertebrate Pathology **107**: S16-S30.

Miele, S. A. B., M. J. Garavaglia, M. N. Belaich and P. D. Ghiringhelli (2011). "Baculovirus: molecular insights on their diversity and conservation." International journal of evolutionary biology **2011**.

Mihm, J. A. (1984). "Técnicas eficientes para la crianza masiva e infestación de insectos, en la selection de las plantas hospedantes para resistencia al gusano cogollero, *Spodoptera frugiperda*." Centro Internacional de Mejoramiento de Maiz y Trigo (CIMMYT), El Batán, Mexico.

Miller, L. K., R. E. Trimarchi, D. Browne and G. D. Pennock (1983). "A temperature-sensitive mutant of the baculovirus Autographa californica nuclear polyhedrosis virus defective in an early function required for further gene expression." Virology **126**(1): 376-380.

Mitra, R., G. J. McKenzie, L. Yi, C. A. Lee and N. L. Craig (2010). "Characterization of the TnsD-attTn7 complex that promotes site-specific insertion of Tn7." Mob DNA **1**(1): 18.

Mlambo, G., N. Kumar and S. Yoshida (2010). "Functional immunogenicity of baculovirus expressing Pfs25, a human malaria transmission-blocking vaccine candidate antigen." Vaccine **28**(43): 7025-7029.

Moita, L. F., R. Wang-Sattler, K. Michel, T. Zimmermann, S. Blandin, E. A. Levashina and F. C. Kafatos (2005). "In vivo identification of novel regulators and conserved pathways of phagocytosis in A. gambiae." Immunity **23**(1): 65-73.

Monsma, S. A., A. Oomens and G. W. Blissard (1996). "The GP64 envelope fusion protein is an essential baculovirus protein required for cell-to-cell transmission of infection." Journal of virology **70**(7): 4607-4616.

Mortola, E. and P. Roy (2004). "Efficient assembly and release of SARS coronavirus-like particles by a heterologous expression system." FEBS letters **576**(1): 174-178.

Moscardi, F. (1999). "Assessment of the application of baculoviruses for control of Lepidoptera." Annual review of entomology **44**(1): 257-289.

Moscardi, F., M. L. de Souza, M. E. B. de Castro, M. L. Moscardi and B. Szewczyk (2011). Baculovirus pesticides: present state and future perspectives. Microbes and Microbial Technology, Springer: 415-445.

Nakahara, Y., S. Shimura, C. Ueno, Y. Kanamori, K. Mita, M. Kiuchi and M. Kamimura (2009). "Purification and characterization of silkworm hemocytes by flow cytometry." Developmental & Comparative Immunology **33**(4): 439-448.

Nalini, M. and Y. Kim (2009). "Transient expression of a polydnaviral gene, CpBV15β, induces immune and developmental alterations of the diamondback moth, Plutella xylostella." Journal of invertebrate pathology **100**(1): 22-28.

Nikaido, H. (1994). "Maltose transport system of Escherichia coli: an ABC-type transporter." FEBS letters **346**(1): 55-58.

Nilsson, B. and L. Abrahmsén (1990). "[13] Fusions to staphylococcal protein A." Methods in enzymology **185**: 144-161.

Norton, W., S. Vinson and D. Stoltz (1975). "Nuclear secretory particles associated with the calyx cells of the ichneumonid parasitoid Campoletis sonorensis (Cameron)." Cell and tissue research **162**(2): 195-208.

O'Reilly, D. R., L. K. Miller and V. A. Luckow (1994). Baculovirus expression vectors: a laboratory manual, Oxford University Press.

Ohkawa, T., L. E. Volkman and M. D. Welch (2010). "Actin-based motility drives baculovirus transit to the nucleus and cell surface." The Journal of cell biology **190**(2): 187-195.

Ong, E., J. M. Greenwood, N. R. Gilkes, D. G. Kilburn, R. C. Miller and R. A. J. Warren (1989). "The cellulose-binding domains of cellulases: tools for biotechnology." Trends in biotechnology **7**(9): 239-243. Opler, P. A. and G. O. Krizek (1984). Butterflies east of the Great Plains: an illustrated natural history, Johns Hopkins University Press.

Osborne, M. A., S. Dalton and J. P. Kochan (1995). "The yeast tribrid system—genetic detection of trans-phosphorylated ITAM-SH2-interactions." Nature Biotechnology **13**(12): 1474-1478.

Palomares, L. A., J. C. Pedroza and O. T. Ramírez (2001). "Cell size as a tool to predict the production of recombinant protein by the insect-cell baculovirus expression system." Biotechnology letters **23**(5): 359-364.

Palomares, L. A. and O. T. Ramirez (1996). "The effect of dissolved oxygen tension and the utility of oxygen uptake rate in insect cell culture." Cytotechnology **22**(1-3): 225-237.

Pasquier-Barre, F., C. Dupuy, E. Huguet, F. Monteiro, A. Moreau, M. Poirie and J.-M. Drezen (2002). "Polydnavirus replication: the EP1 segment of the parasitoid wasp Cotesia congregata is amplified within a larger precursor molecule." Journal of General Virology **83**(8): 2035-2045.

Passarelli, A. L. and L. A. Guarino (2007). "Baculovirus late and very late gene regulation." Current drug targets **8**(10): 1103-1115.

Pattenden, L. K. and W. G. Thomas (2008). Amylose Affinity Chromatography of Maltose-Binding Protein. Affinity Chromatography, Springer: 169-190.

Pearson, M. N., C. Groten and G. F. Rohrmann (2000). "Identification of the Lymantria disparNucleopolyhedrovirus Envelope Fusion Protein Provides Evidence for a Phylogenetic Division of the Baculoviridae." Journal of virology **74**(13): 6126-6131.

Pelletier, J. N., F.-X. Campbell-Valois and S. W. Michnick (1998). "Oligomerization domaindirected reassembly of active dihydrofolate reductase from rationally designed fragments." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **95**(21): 12141-12146. Pennock, G., C. Shoemaker and L. Miller (1984). "Strong and regulated expression of Escherichia coli beta-galactosidase in insect cells with a baculovirus vector." Molecular and Cellular Biology **4**(3): 399-406.

Pieles, U., W. Zürcher, M. Schär and H. Moser (1993). "Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry: a powerful tool for the mass and sequence analysis of natural and modified oligonucleotides." Nucleic Acids Research **21**(14): 3191-3196.

Pijlman, G. P., J. E. van Schijndel and J. M. Vlak (2003). "Spontaneous excision of BAC vector sequences from bacmid-derived baculovirus expression vectors upon passage in insect cells." Journal of General Virology **84**(10): 2669-2678.

Pina, A. S., Í. L. Batalha and A. C. A. Roque (2014). Affinity Tags in Protein Purification and Peptide Enrichment: An Overview. Protein Downstream Processing, Springer: 147-168.

Possee, R. D., R. B. Hitchman, K. S. Richards, S. G. Mann, E. Siaterli, C. P. Nixon, H. Irving, R. Assenberg, D. Alderton and R. J. Owens (2008). "Generation of baculovirus vectors for the high-throughput production of proteins in insect cells." Biotechnology and bioengineering **101**(6): 1115-1122.

Prasad, S. V., R. Hepat and Y. Kim (2014). "Selectivity of a translation-inhibitory factor, CpBV15 $\beta$ , in host mRNAs and subsequent alterations in host development and immunity." Developmental & Comparative Immunology **44**(1): 152-162.

Provost, B., P. Varricchio, E. Arana, E. Espagne, P. Falabella, E. Huguet, R. La Scaleia, L. Cattolico, M. Poirié and C. Malva (2004). "Bracoviruses contain a large multigene family coding for protein tyrosine phosphatases." Journal of virology **78**(23): 13090-13103.
Pruijssers, A. J. and M. R. Strand (2007). "PTP-H2 and PTP-H3 from Microplitis demolitor bracovirus localize to focal adhesions and are antiphagocytic in insect immune cells." Journal of virology **81**(3): 1209-1219.

Puig, O., F. Caspary, G. Rigaut, B. Rutz, E. Bouveret, E. Bragado-Nilsson, M. Wilm and B. Séraphin (2001). "The tandem affinity purification (TAP) method: a general procedure of protein complex purification." Methods **24**(3): 218-229.

Quiocho, F. A., J. C. Spurlino and L. E. Rodseth (1997). "Extensive features of tight oligosaccharide binding revealed in high-resolution structures of the maltodextrin transport/chemosensory receptor." Structure **5**(8): 997-1015.

RAWLINGS, N. D., L. H. PEARL and D. J. BUTTLE (1992). "The baculovirus Autographa californica nuclear polyhedrosis virus genome includes a papain-like sequence." Biological Chemistry Hoppe-Seyler **373**(2): 1211-1216.

Reed, L. J. and H. Muench (1938). "A simple method of estimating fifty per cent endpoints." American journal of epidemiology **27**(3): 493-497.

Reuveny, S., Y. Kim, C. Kemp and J. Shiloach (1993). "Effect of temperature and oxygen on cell growth and recombinant protein production in insect cell cultures." Applied microbiology and biotechnology **38**(5): 619-623.

Rigaut, G., A. Shevchenko, B. Rutz, M. Wilm, M. Mann and B. Séraphin (1999). "A generic protein purification method for protein complex characterization and proteome exploration." Nature biotechnology **17**(10): 1030-1032.

Riggs, P. (2000). "Expression and purification of recombinant proteins by fusion to maltosebinding protein." Molecular biotechnology **15**(1): 51-63. Rivkin, H., J. A. Kroemer, A. Bronshtein, E. Belausov, B. A. Webb and N. Chejanovsky (2006). "Response of immunocompetent and immunosuppressed *Spodoptera littoralis* larvae to baculovirus infection." Journal of general virology **87**(8): 2217-2225.

Rodriguez, V. A., M. N. Belaich and P. D. Ghiringhelli (2012). "Baculoviruses: Members of Integrated Pest Management Strategies." Integrated Pest Management and Pest Control-Current and Future Tactics.

Rohrmann, G. (1986). "Polyhedrin structure." Journal of General Virology **67**(8): 1499-1513. Rohrmann, G. F. (2014). "Baculovirus molecular biology."

Roossinck, M. J. (2011). "The good viruses: viral mutualistic symbioses." Nature Reviews Microbiology **9**(2): 99-108.

Routzahn, K. M. and D. S. Waugh (2002). "Differential effects of supplementary affinity tags on the solubility of MBP fusion proteins." Journal of structural and functional genomics **2**(2): 83-92. Russell, R. M., J. L. Robertson and N. Savin (1977). "POLO: a new computer program for probit analysis." Bulletin of the ESA **23**(3): 209-213.

Rychlowska, M., B. Gromadzka, K. Bienkowska-Szewczyk and B. Szewczyk (2011). "Application of baculovirus-insect cell expression system for human therapy." Current pharmaceutical biotechnology **12**(11): 1840-1849.

Sachdev, D. and J. M. Chirgwin (1998). "Order of Fusions between Bacterial and Mammalian Proteins Can Determine Solubility inEscherichia coli." Biochemical and biophysical research communications **244**(3): 933-937.

Salt, G. (1965). "Experimental studies in insect parasitism. XIII. The haemocytic reaction of a caterpillar to eggs of its habitual parasite." Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B. Biological Sciences **162**(988): 303-318.

Sander, L. and A. Harrysson (2007). "Using cell size kinetics to determine optimal harvest time for Spodoptera frugiperda and Trichoplusia ni BTI-TN-5B1-4 cells infected with a baculovirus expression vector system expressing enhanced green fluorescent protein." Cytotechnology **54**(1): 35-48.

Sassenfeld, H. M. and S. J. Brewer (1984). "A polypeptide fusion designed for the purification of recombinant proteins." Nature Biotechnology **2**(1): 76-81.

Schatz, P. J. (1993). "Use of peptide libraries to map the substrate specificity of a peptidemodifying enzyme: a 13 residue consensus peptide specifies biotinylation in Escherichia coli." Nature Biotechnology **11**(10): 1138-1143.

Schmidt, O., R. V. Glatz, S. Asgari and H. L. Roberts (2005). "Are insect immune suppressors driving cellular uptake reactions?" Archives of insect biochemistry and physiology **60**(4): 153-158.

Schmidt, O., U. Theopold and M. Strand (2001). "Innate immunity and its evasion and suppression by hymenopteran endoparasitoids." Bioessays **23**(4): 344-351.

Scott, R. I., J. H. Blanchard and C. H. Ferguson (1992). "Effects of oxygen on recombinant protein production by suspension cultures of Spodoptera frugiperda (Sf-9) insect cells." Enzyme and microbial technology **14**(10): 798-804.

Seidman, C. E., K. Struhl, J. Sheen and T. Jessen (1997). "Introduction of plasmid DNA into cells." Current protocols in molecular biology: 1.8. 1-1.8. 10.

Serbielle, C., S. Moreau, F. Veillard, E. Voldoire, A. Bezier, M.-A. Mannucci, A.-N. Volkoff, J.-M. Drezen, G. Lalmanach and E. Huguet (2009). "Identification of parasite-responsive cysteine proteases in Manduca sexta." Biological chemistry **390**(5/6): 493-502. Shao-Hua, C., S. Hong-Liang and L. Zuo-Hu (1998). "Effect of temperature oscillation on insect cell growth and baculovirus replication." Applied and environmental microbiology **64**(6): 2237-2239.

Shapiro, M. (2000). "Enhancement in activity of homologous and heterologous baculoviruses infectious to beet armyworm (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) by an optical brightener." Journal of economic entomology **93**(3): 572-576.

Sharff, A. J., L. E. Rodseth, J. C. Spurlino and F. A. Quiocho (1992). "Crystallographic evidence of a large ligand-induced hinge-twist motion between the two domains of the maltodextrin binding protein involved in active transport and chemotaxis." Biochemistry **31**(44): 10657-10663. Shen, C. F., T. Kiyota, B. Jardin, Y. Konishi and A. Kamen (2007). "Characterization of yeastolate fractions that promote insect cell growth and recombinant protein production." Cytotechnology **54**(1): 25-34.

Shendure, J. and E. L. Aiden (2012). "The expanding scope of DNA sequencing." Nature biotechnology **30**(11): 1084-1094.

Shi, X. and D. L. Jarvis (2007). "Protein N-glycosylation in the baculovirus-insect cell system." Current drug targets **8**(10): 1116.

Shim, H. J., J. Y. Choi, Y. Wang, X. Y. Tao, Q. Liu, J. Y. Roh, J. S. Kim, W. J. Kim, S. D. Woo and B. R. Jin (2013). "NeuroBactrus, a Novel, Highly Effective, and Environmentally Friendly Recombinant Baculovirus Insecticide." Applied and environmental microbiology **79**(1): 141-149. Simón, O., T. Williams, M. López-Ferber and P. Caballero (2004). "Virus entry or the primary infection cycle are not the principal determinants of host specificity of *Spodoptera spp*. nucleopolyhedroviruses." Journal of general virology **85**(10): 2845-2855. Singh, C. R. and K. Asano (2007). "Chapter Seven-Localization and Characterization of Protein– Protein Interaction Sites." Methods in enzymology **429**: 139-161.

Sjöquist, J., B. Meloun and H. Hjelm (1972). "Protein A isolated from Staphylococcus aureus after digestion with lysostaphin." European Journal of Biochemistry **29**(3): 572-578.

Skerra, A. and T. G. Schmidt (2000). "[18] Use of the Strep-tag and streptavidin for detection and purification of recombinant proteins." Methods in enzymology **326**: 271-304.

Smith, D. B. and K. S. Johnson (1988). "Single-step purification of polypeptides expressed in Escherichia coli as fusions with glutathione S-transferase." Gene **67**(1): 31-40.

Smith, G. E., M. Summers and M. Fraser (1983). "Production of human beta interferon in insect cells infected with a baculovirus expression vector." Molecular and cellular biology **3**(12): 2156-2165.

Smits, S. H., A. Mueller, M. K. Grieshaber and L. Schmitt (2008). "Coenzyme-and His-taginduced crystallization of octopine dehydrogenase." Acta Crystallographica Section F: Structural Biology and Crystallization Communications **64**(9): 836-839.

Software, L. (1987). POLO-PC: a user's guide to probit or logit analysis, LeOra Software Berkeley, CA.

Somogyi, K., B. Sipos, Z. Pénzes, É. Kurucz, J. Zsámboki, D. Hultmark and I. Andó (2008). "Evolution of genes and repeats in the Nimrod superfamily." Molecular biology and evolution **25**(11): 2337-2347.

Spurlino, J. C., G.-Y. Lu and F. Quiocho (1991). "The 2.3-A resolution structure of the maltoseor maltodextrin-binding protein, a primary receptor of bacterial active transport and chemotaxis." Journal of Biological Chemistry **266**(8): 5202-5219. Srinivasa, M., C. J. Babu, C. Anitha and G. Girish (2008). "Laboratory evaluation of available commercial formulations of HaNPV against *Helicoverpa armigera* (Hub.)." Journal of Biopesticides **1**(2): 138-139.

Stoltz, D., P. Krell, M. Summers and S. Vinson (1984). "Polydnaviridae–a proposed family of insect viruses with segmented, double-stranded, circular DNA genomes." Intervirology 21(1): 1-4.

Stoltz, D. B. (1990). "Evidence for chromosomal transmission of polydnavirus DNA." Journal of General Virology **71**(5): 1051-1056.

Stoltz, D. B. and S. B. Vinson (1977). "Baculovirus-like particles in the reproductive tracts of female parasitoid wasps II: the genus Apanteles." Canadian Journal of Microbiology 23(1): 28-37.

Stoltz, D. B. and S. B. Vinson (1979). "Penetration into caterpillar cells of virus-like particles injected during oviposition by parasitoid ichneumonid wasps." Canadian journal of microbiology **25**(2): 207-216.

Stoltz, D. B., S. B. Vinson and E. A. MacKinnon (1976). "Baculovirus-like particles in the reproductive tracts of female parasitoid wasps." Canadian journal of microbiology **22**(7): 1013-1023.

Strand, M. (1994). "Microplitis demolitor polydnavirus infects and expresses in specific morphotypes of Pseudoplusia includens haemocytes." The Journal of general virology **75**: 3007-3020.

Strand, M., D. McKenzie, V. Grassl, B. Dover and J. Aiken (1992). "Persistence and expression of Microplitis demolitor polydnavirus in Pseudoplusia includens." The Journal of general virology **73**: 1627-1635.

161

Strand, M. and T. Noda (1991). "Alterations in the haemocytes of Pseudoplusia includens after parasitism by Microplitis demolitor." Journal of Insect Physiology **37**(11): 839-850.

Strand, M. R. (2008). "Insect hemocytes and their role in immunity." Insect immunology: 25-47.

Strand, M. R. and G. R. Burke (2013). "Polydnavirus-wasp associations: evolution, genome organization, and function." Current opinion in virology **3**(5): 587-594.

Strand, M. R. and G. R. Burke (2014). "Polydnaviruses: Nature's Genetic Engineers." Annual Review of Virology 1: 333-354.

Strand, M. R. and G. R. Burke (2015). "Polydnaviruses: From discovery to current insights." Virology.

Strand, M. R. and L. L. Pech (1995). "Immunological basis for compatibility in parasitoid-host relationships." Annual review of entomology **40**(1): 31-56.

Stubenrauch, K., A. Bachmann, R. Rudolph and H. Lilie (2000). "Purification of a viral coat protein by an engineered polyionic sequence." Journal of Chromatography B: Biomedical Sciences and Applications **737**(1): 77-84.

Suderman, R. J., A. J. Pruijssers and M. R. Strand (2008). "Protein tyrosine phosphatase-H2 from a polydnavirus induces apoptosis of insect cells." Journal of general virology **89**(6): 1411-1420.

Summers, M. D. and G. E. Smith (1987). "A manual of methods for baculovirus vectors and insect cell culture procedures."

Szewczyk, B., L. Hoyos-Carvajal, M. Paluszek, I. Skrzecz and M. L. De Souza (2006). "Baculoviruses—re-emerging biopesticides." Biotechnology advances **24**(2): 143-160.

Szewczyk, B., L. Hoyos-Carvajal, M. Paluszek, I. Skrzecz and M. Lobo de Souza (2006). "Baculoviruses: re-emerging biopesticides." Biotechnology Advances **24**(2): 143-160. Szewczyk, B., L. Rabalski, E. Krol, W. Sihler and M. d. Souza (2009). "Baculovirus biopesticides–a safe alternative to chemical protection of plants." Journal of Biopesticides **2**(2): 209-216.

Tanaka, K., R. Lapointe, W. E. Barney, A. M. Makkay, D. Stoltz, M. Cusson and B. A. Webb (2007). "Shared and species-specific features among ichnovirus genomes." Virology 363(1): 26-35.

Tanaka, K., H. Matsumoto and Y. Hayakawa (2002). "Detailed characterization of polydnavirus immunoevasive proteins in an endoparasitoid wasp." European Journal of Biochemistry **269**(10): 2557-2566.

Tanaka, T. (1988). "Morphological changes in haemocytes of the host, Pseudaletiaseparata, parasitized by Microplitismediator or Apanteleskariyai." Developmental & Comparative Immunology **11**(1): 57-67.

Tang, X.-C., H.-R. Lu and T. M. Ross (2010). "Hemagglutinin displayed baculovirus protects against highly pathogenic influenza." Vaccine **28**(42): 6821-6831.

Terenius, O., R. Bettencourt, S. Y. Lee, W. Li, K. Söderhäll and I. Faye (2007). "RNA interference of Hemolin causes depletion of phenoloxidase activity in Hyalophora cecropia." Developmental & Comparative Immunology **31**(6): 571-575.

Tessier, D. C., D. Y. Thomas, H. E. Khouri, F. Laliberié and T. Vernet (1991). "Enhanced secretion from insect cells of a foreign protein fused to the honeybee melittin signal peptide." Gene **98**(2): 177-183.

Theilmann, D. A. and M. D. Summers (1986). "Molecular analysis of Campoletis sonorensis virus DNA in the lepidopteran host Heliothis virescens." Journal of General Virology **67**(9): 1961-1969.

163

Thézé, J., A. Bézier, G. Periquet, J.-M. Drezen and E. A. Herniou (2011). "Paleozoic origin of insect large dsDNA viruses." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **108**(38): 15931-15935.

Tirode, F., C. Malaguti, F. Romero, R. Attar, J. Camonis and J. M. Egly (1997). "A conditionally expressed third partner stabilizes or prevents the formation of a transcriptional activator in a three-hybrid system." Journal of Biological Chemistry **272**(37): 22995-22999.

Todd, J. W., A. L. Passarelli and L. K. Miller (1995). "Eighteen baculovirus genes, including lef-11, p35, 39K, and p47, support late gene expression." Journal of virology **69**(2): 968-974.

Tomashek, J. J., J. L. Sonnenburg, J. M. Artimovich and D. J. Klionsky (1996). "Resolution of subunit interactions and cytoplasmic subcomplexes of the yeast vacuolar proton-translocating ATPase." Journal of Biological Chemistry **271**(17): 10397-10404.

Tomme, P., A. Boraston, B. McLean, J. Kormos, A. L. Creagh, K. Sturch, N. R. Gilkes, C. A. Haynes, R. A. J. Warren and D. G. Kilburn (1998). "Characterization and affinity applications of cellulose-binding domains." Journal of Chromatography B: Biomedical Sciences and Applications **715**(1): 283-296.

Turnbull, M. and B. Webb (2002). "Perspectives on polydnavirus origins and evolution." Advances in virus research **58**: 203-254.

Turnbull, M. W., A.-N. Volkoff, B. A. Webb and P. Phelan (2005). "Functional gap junction genes are encoded by insect viruses." Current biology **15**(13): R491-R492.

Uetz, P., B. Titz and G. Cagney (2008). Experimental methods for protein interaction identification and characterization. Protein-protein interactions and networks, Springer: 1-32.

Ullmann, A. (1984). "One-step purification of hybrid proteins which have  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity." Gene **29**(1): 27-31.

Unger, T. and Y. Peleg (2012). Recombinant protein expression in the baculovirus-infected insect cell system. Chemical Genomics and Proteomics, Springer: 187-199.

Urabe, M., C. Ding and R. M. Kotin (2002). "Insect cells as a factory to produce adenoassociated virus type 2 vectors." Human gene therapy **13**(16): 1935-1943.

Valadez-Lira, J., J. Alcocer-Gonzalez, G. Damas, G. Nuñez-Mejía, B. Oppert, C. Rodriguez-Padilla and P. Tamez-Guerra (2012). "Comparative Evaluation of Phenoloxidase Activity in Different Larval Stages of Four Lepidopteran Pests After Exposure to *Bacillus thuringiensis*." Journal of Insect Science **12**(80): 1-11.

van Oers, M. and D. Lynn (2010). "Insect cell culture." Encyclopedia of Life Sciences (ELS). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., Chichester.

Van Oers, M. M. (2006). "Vaccines for viral and parasitic diseases produced with baculovirus vectors." Advances in virus research **68**: 193-253.

van Oers, M. M. (2011). "Opportunities and challenges for the baculovirus expression system." Journal of invertebrate pathology **107**: S3-S15.

van Oers, M. M., J. Flipsen, C. Reusken, E. L. Sliwinsky, R. W. Goldbach and J. M. Vlak (1993). "Functional domains of the p10 protein of Autographa californica nuclear polyhedrosis virus." The Journal of general virology **74**: 563-574.

van Oers, M. M., G. P. Pijlman and J. M. Vlak (2015). "Thirty years of baculovirus-insect cell protein expression: from dark horse to mainstream technology." Journal of General Virology **96**(Pt 1): 6-23.

Van Oers, M. M. and J. M. Vlak (1997). "The baculovirus 10-kDa protein." Journal of invertebrate pathology **70**(1): 1-17.

Varshavsky, A. (1997). "The N-end rule pathway of protein degradation." Genes to Cells **2**(1): 13-28.

Vasavada, H. A., S. Ganguly, F. J. Germino, Z. X. Wang and S. M. Weissman (1991). "A contingent replication assay for the detection of protein-protein interactions in animal cells." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **88**(23): 10686-10690.

Vaughn, J., R. Goodwin, G. Tompkins and P. McCawley (1977). "The establishment of two cell lines from the insectSpodoptera frugiperda (Lepidoptera; Noctuidae)." In vitro **13**(4): 213-217.

Vinson, S. and J. Scott (1975). "Particles containing DNA associated with the oocyte of an insect parasitoid." Journal of invertebrate Pathology **25**(3): 375-378.

Volkoff, A.-N., V. Jouan, S. Urbach, S. Samain, M. Bergoin, P. Wincker, E. Demettre, F. Cousserans, B. Provost and F. Coulibaly (2010). "Analysis of virion structural components reveals vestiges of the ancestral ichnovirus genome." PLoS pathogens **6**(5): e1000923.

Walls, D. and S. T. Loughran (2011). Tagging recombinant proteins to enhance solubility and aid purification. Protein Chromatography, Springer: 151-175.

Wang, Q., C. Liang, J. Song and X. Chen (2007). "HA2 from the Helicoverpa armigera nucleopolyhedrovirus: a WASP-related protein that activates Arp2/3-induced actin filament formation." Virus research **127**(1): 81-87.

Wang, Y. and J. A. Jehle (2009). "Nudiviruses and other large, double-stranded circular DNA viruses of invertebrates: new insights on an old topic." Journal of invertebrate pathology **101**(3): 187-193.

Washburn, J., E. Haas-Stapleton, F. Tan, N. Beckage and L. Volkman (2000). "Co-infection of *Manduca sexta* larvae with polydnavirus from *Cotesia congregata* increases susceptibility to

fatal infection by *Autographa californica* M Nucleopolyhedrovirus." Journal of Insect Physiology **46**(2): 179-190.

Washburn, J. O., D. Trudeau, J. F. Wong and L. E. Volkman (2003). "Early pathogenesis of *Autographa californica* multiple nucleopolyhedrovirus and *Helicoverpa zea* single nucleopolyhedrovirus in *Heliothis virescens:* a comparison of the 'M'and 'S'strategies for establishing fatal infection." Journal of General Virology **84**(2): 343-351.

Waugh, D. S. (2005). "Making the most of affinity tags." TRENDS in Biotechnology **23**(6): 316-320.

Webb, B. and M. Strand (2005). "The biology and genomics of polydnaviruses." Comprehensive molecular insect science **6**: 323-360.

Webb, B. A., M. R. Strand, S. E. Dickey, M. H. Beck, R. S. Hilgarth, W. E. Barney, K. Kadash, J. A. Kroemer, K. G. Lindstrom and W. Rattanadechakul (2006). "Polydnavirus genomes reflect their dual roles as mutualists and pathogens." Virology **347**(1): 160-174.

Wertheim, B., A. R. Kraaijeveld, E. Schuster, E. Blanc, M. Hopkins, S. D. Pletcher, M. R. Strand, L. Partridge and H. C. J. Godfray (2005). "Genome-wide gene expression in response to parasitoid attack in Drosophila." Genome biology **6**(11): R94.

Whitehouse, C. M., R. N. Dreyer, M. Yamashita and J. B. Fenn (1985). "Electrospray interface for liquid chromatographs and mass spectrometers." Analytical chemistry **57**(3): 675-679.

Whitfield, J. B. (2002). "Estimating the age of the polydnavirus/braconid wasp symbiosis." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **99**(11): 7508-7513.

Whitfield, J. B. and S. Asgari (2003). "Virus or not? Phylogenetics of polydnaviruses and their wasp carriers." Journal of Insect Physiology **49**(5): 397-405.

Wickham, T., T. Davis, R. Granados, M. Shuler and H. Wood (1992). "Screening of insect cell lines for the production of recombinant proteins and infectious virus in the baculovirus expression system." Biotechnology progress **8**(5): 391-396.

Wissmueller, S., J. Font, C. W. Liew, E. Cram, T. Schroeder, J. Turner, M. Crossley, J. P. Mackay and J. M. Matthews (2011). "Protein–protein interactions: Analysis of a false positive GST pulldown result." Proteins: Structure, Function, and Bioinformatics **79**(8): 2365-2371.

Wittstock, U., N. Agerbirk, E. J. Stauber, C. E. Olsen, M. Hippler, T. Mitchell-Olds, J. Gershenzon and H. Vogel (2004). "Successful herbivore attack due to metabolic diversion of a plant chemical defense." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **101**(14): 4859-4864.

Wong, K. T., C. H. Peter, P. F. Greenfield, S. Reid and L. K. Nielsen (1996). "Low multiplicity infection of insect cells with a recombinant baculovirus: the cell yield concept." Biotechnology and bioengineering **49**(6): 659-666.

Wyatt, S. S. (1956). "Culture in vitro of tissue from the silkworm, Bombyx mori L." The Journal of general physiology **39**(6): 841-852.

Xu, D. and D. Stoltz (1991). "Evidence for a chromosomal location of polydnavirus DNA in the ichneumonid parasitoid Hyposoter fugitivus." Journal of virology **65**(12): 6693-6704.

Xu, D. and D. Stoltz (1993). "Polydnavirus genome segment families in the ichneumonid parasitoid Hyposoter fugitivus." Journal of virology **67**(3): 1340-1349.

Xu, M.-Q., H. Paulus and S. Chong (2000). "[24] Fusions to self-splicing inteins for protein purification." Methods in enzymology **326**: 376-418.

Yamanaka, A., Y. Hayakawa, H. Noda, N. Nakashima and H. Watanabe (1996). "Characterization of polydnavirus-encoded mRNA in parasitized armyworm larvae." Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology **26**(6): 529-536.

Yanase, T., Y. Hashimoto and T. Matsumoto (1998). "Analysis of defective genomes of *Bombyx mori* nucleopolyhedrovirus generated by serial undiluted passage in cell culture." Acta virologica
42: 65-70.

Yang, Z. and C. Zhang (2012). "Advances on BmNPV functional genomics." J Biotechnol Biomaterial S 9: 2.

Zalom, F. G., L. Wilson and M. P. Hoffmann (1986). "Impact of feeding by tomato fruitworm, *Heliothis zea* (Boddie)(Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), and beet armyworm, *Spodoptera exigua* (Huebner)(Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), on processing tomato fruit quality." Journal of economic entomology **79**(3): 822-826.

Zhang, B., R. Cheng, X. Wang and C. Zhang (2012). "The Genome of *Pieris rapae* Granulovirus." Journal of virology **86**(17): 9544.

Zhang, F., M. A. Saarinen, L. J. Itle, S. C. Lang, D. W. Murhammer and R. J. Linhardt (2002). "The effect of dissolved oxygen (DO) concentration on the glycosylation of recombinant protein produced by the insect cell–baculovirus expression system." Biotechnology and bioengineering **77**(2): 219-224.

Zhang, G., X. Sun, Z. Zhang, Z. Zhang and F. Wan (1995). "Production and effectiveness of the new formulation of heliothis virus(NPV) pesticide- Emulsifiable suspension." Virologica Sinica **10**(3): 242-247.

Zhao, J., C. F. Ford, C. E. Glatz, M. A. Rougvie and S. M. Gendel (1990). "Polyelectrolyte precipitation of  $\beta$ -galactosidase fusions containing poly-aspartic acid tails." Journal of biotechnology **14**(3): 273-283.

Zheng, X.-L., X.-P. Cong, X.-P. Wang and C.-L. Lei (2011). "Pupation behaviour, depth, and site of *Spodoptera exigua*." Bull Insectol **64**: 209-214.

### Appendix A

#### Protocols

### **Gel Extraction Kit protocol**

- 1. Excise the DNA fragment from the agarose gel with a clean, sharp scalpel.
- 2. Weigh the gel slice in a colorless tube. Add 3 volumes of Buffer QG to 1 volume of gel  $(100 \text{ mg} \sim 100 \text{ }\mu\text{L}).$
- 3. Incubate at 50 °C for 10 min (or until the gel slice has completely dissolved). To help dissolve gel, mix by vortexing the tube every 2-3 min during the incubation.
- 4. After the gel slice has dissolved completely, check that the color of the mixture is yellow (similar to Buffer QG without dissolved agarose).
- 5. Add 1 gel volume of isopropanol to the sample and mix.
- 6. Place a QIAquick spin column in a provided 2 mL collection tube.
- 7. To bind DNA, apply the sample to the QIAquick column, and centrifuge for 1 min.
- 8. Discard flow-through and place QIAquick column back in the same collection tube.
- 9. Add 0.5 mL of Buffer QG to QIAquick column and centrifuge for 1 min.
- 10. Add 0.75 mL of Buffer PE to QIAquick column and centrifuge for 1 min.
- 11. Discard the flow-through and centrifuge the QIAquick column for an additional 1 min at >  $10,000 \times g$  (~13,000 rpm).
- 12. Place QIAquick column into a clean 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube.
- 13. To elute DNA, add 50 µL of Buffer EB (10 mM Tris·Cl, pH 8.5) or H<sub>2</sub>O to the center of the QIAquick membrane and centrifuge the column for 1 min at maximum speed. Alternatively, for increased DNA concentration, add 30 µL elution buffer to the center of the QIAquick membrane, let the column stand for 1 min, and then centrifuge for 1 min.

## QIAprep® Spin Miniprep Kit protocol

- Pellet 1-5 mL bacterial overnight culture by centrifugation at > 8000 rpm (6800 × g) for 3 min at room temperature (15-25°C).
- Resuspend pelleted bacterial cells in 250 µL Buffer P1 and transfer to a microcentrifuge tube.
- 3. Add 250 μL Buffer P2 and mix thoroughly by inverting the tube 4-6 times until the solution becomes clear. Do not allow the lysis reaction to proceed for more than 5 min.
- Add 350 μL Buffer N3 and mix immediately and thoroughly by inverting the tube 4-6 times.
- 5. Centrifuge for 10 min at 13,000 rpm (~17,900  $\times$  g) in a table-top microcentrifuge.
- 6. Apply the supernatant from step 5 to the QIAprep spin column by decanting or pipetting.
- 7. Wash the QIAprep spin column by adding 0.5 mL Buffer PB.
- 8. Centrifuge for 30-60 s and discard the flow-through.
- 9. Wash the QIAprep spin column by adding 0.75 mL Buffer PE. Centrifuge for 30-60 s and discard the flow-through.
- 10. Centrifuge for 1 min to remove residual wash buffer.
- 11. Place the QIAprep column in a clean 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube. To elute DNA, add 50 μL Buffer EB (10 mM Tris·Cl, pH 8.5) or water to the center of the QIAprep spin column, let stand for 1 min, and centrifuge for 1 min.

### **QIAquick® PCR Purification Kit protocol**

- 1. Add 5 volumes Buffer PB to 1 volume of the PCR reaction and mix.
- 2. Place a QIAquick column in a provided 2 mL collection tube.
- To bind DNA, apply the sample to the QIAquick column and centrifuge for 30-60 s.
   Discard flow-through and place the QIAquick column back in the same tube.
- 4. To wash, add 0.75 mL Buffer PE to the QIAquick column centrifuge for 30-60 s. Discard flow-through and place the QIAquick column back in the same tube.
- 5. Centrifuge the QIAquick column once more in the provided 2 mL collection tube for 1 min to remove residual wash buffer.
- 6. Place each QIAquick column in a clean 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube.
- 7. To elute DNA, add 50 μL Buffer EB (10 mM Tris·Cl, pH 8.5) or water (pH 7.0-8.5) to the center of the QIAquick membrane and centrifuge the column for 1 min. For increased DNA concentration, add 30 μL elution buffer to the center of the QIAquick membrane, let the column stand for 1 min, and then centrifuge.

# Appendix B

# **Buffers and solutions**

50×TAE	2 M Tris base
5×SDS-PAGE loading buffer	1 M acetic acid
	100 mM EDTA
	pH 8.2-8.4
	250 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8
	10% SDS
	0.5% bromophenol blue
	50% glycerol
	500 mM DTT
1×SDS electrophoresis buffer	25 mM Tris base
	250 mM glycine
	0.1% SDS
Blue silver staining dye	10% phosphoric acid
	10% ammonium sulfate
	0.12% coomassie blue G-250

	20% methanol
Fixing solution	60% methanol
	10% acetic acid
1×PBS buffer	137 mM NaCl
	2.7 mM KCl
	10 mM NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>
	2 mM KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>
	рН 7.4
Cell lysis buffer	20 mM Tris-HCl
	300 mM NaCl
	5 mM EDTA, 10mM DTT
	0.1% IGEPAL CA-630
	protease inhibitor cocktail
	рН 7.5
Washing buffer of purification	20 mM Tris-HCl
	150 mM NaCl
	5 mM EDTA

	10 mM DTT
	0.1% IGEPAL® CA-630
	5% glycerol
	рН 7.5
Elution buffer	20 mM Tris-HCl
	150 mM NaCl
	5 mM EDTA
	10 mM DTT
	5% glycerol
	10 mM reduced glutathione
	pH 8.0
Insect lysis buffer	20 mM Tris-HCl
	150 mM NaCl
	5 mM EDTA
	10 mM DTT
	5% glycerol
	0.1% IGEPAL® CA-630

# pH 7.5

Washing buffer of pull-down	20 mM Tris-HCl
	150 mM NaCl
	5 mM EDTA
	10 mM DTT
	5% glycerol
	0.5% IGEPAL® CA-630
	рН 7.5
Transfer buffer	25 mM Tris base
	190 mM glycine
	20% methanol
Blocking buffer	3% BSA, dissolved in TBS
TBS buffer	20 mM Tris
	500 mM NaCl
	рН 7.5
Antibody dilution buffer	3% BSA, dissolved in TBST
Washing buffer of Western blot	0.05% Tween 20 in TBS

DAB solution	30 mg DAB
	60 µL 30% H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>
	50 mL TBS
Lysis buffer for getting	50 mM Tris-HCL pH 8.0
polyhedral	0.4% SDS
	10 mM EDTA pH 8.0